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PART |
Item 1. Business
Introduction
Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealtré United States. Through 53 retail location&iizona, California, Delaware, Florida,
Georgia, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, North @arpoDhio, South Carolina, Texas, and Utah, wersell and used recreational boats,
including pleasure boats (such as sport boatst spgisers, sport yachts, and yachts), ski boais fishing boats with a focus on premium
brands in each segment. We also sell related mproticts, including engines, trailers, parts, aockssories. In addition, we arrange related
boat financing, insurance, and extended servicegacis; provide repair and maintenance servicaspéfier boat and yacht brokerage
services.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sagt Bnd Boston Whaler recreational boats and Hattéaahts. Sales of new Brunswick boats
accounted for 58% of our revenue in fiscal 2001lictvlwe believe represented in excess of 30% ofeall Sea Ray boat sales and
approximately 9% of all Brunswick marine produdesaduring the period. Brunswick Corporation is weld’s largest manufacturer of
recreational boats and engines, including Sea Baston Whaler, and Mercury. Sales of new Hatterashts accounted for 12% of our
revenue in fiscal 2001. In November 2001, Brunsvaiokpleted the acquisition of Hatteras Yachts f@@ammar Industries, Inc. Each of our
principal operating subsidiaries is a party toraytear dealer agreement with Brunswick covering Bapa products and is the exclusive dealer
of Sea Ray boats in its geographic market. Welas@ had the right to sell Hatteras Yachts througtiee state of Florida (excluding the
Florida Panhandle) and the U.S. distribution rightsHatteras products over 82 feet since OctoB8B8land the right to sell Hatteras Yachi
the state of Texas since October 2001.

We commenced operations as a combined comgmayresult of the March 1, 1998 acquisition oé foreviously independent recreational
boat dealers and have acquired 11 additional puslsiandependent recreational boat dealers, two lnadkerage operations, and a fsdirvice
yacht repair operation since that time. We aretatiping on the experience and success of eadhecdtquired companies in order to estal
a new national standard of customer service arqgbresveness in the highly fragmented retail boaitmayistry. While we believe the average
new boat retailer generates less than $3.0 miitieannual sales, our retail locations, which opesgatt least 12 months, averaged $12 million
in annual sales in fiscal 2001. As a result of @mphasis on premium brand boats, our averageggltine for a new boat in fiscal 2001 was
approximately $87,000 compared to the estimatedsitnd average selling price of approximately $20,dbor the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2001, we had revenue of approxim@&dy¢ million, operating income of approximately7$2million, and net income of
approximately $15.3 million. Our sanstere sales increased an average of 15% for thédeas/ears, including a decline of 9% in fisca.

We are adopting the best practices of outiaed dealers as appropriate to enhance our ahilifftract more customers, foster an overall
enjoyable boating experience, and offer boat manufars stable and professional retail distribuiod a broad geographic presence. We
believe that our full range of services, one ydacheduled maintenance on many models, which WéMarineMax Care,” MarineMax
Value-Price sales approach, prime retail locatiergensive facilities, strong management and gabess, and emphasis on customer service
and satisfaction before and after a boat sale@rpetitive advantages that enable us to be mopanss/e to the needs of existing and
prospective customers.

The recreational boating industry generapgat@imately $25.6 billion in retail sales in cadlam 2000, including sales of new and used
boats; marine products, such as engines, tragdgrgpment, and accessories; and related expersliguweh as fuel, insurance, docking,
storage, and repairs. Retail sales of new boatgnes, and trailers, and accessories accounteapfmoximately $11.2 billion of these sales in
2000. We estimate that the boat retailing industcjudes more than 5,000 boat retailers, most a€lvare small retailers that operate in a
single market and provide varying degrees of mardising, professional management, and customeicgeve believe that many dealers
are finding it increasingly difficult to make
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the managerial and capital commitments necessagti@ve higher customer service levels and upggstems and facilities as required by
boat manufacturers, particularly during a periogtafjnant industry growth. We also believe thatyraealers lack an exit strategy for their
owners.

We maintain our executive offices at 1816%..9 North, Suite 499, Clearwater, Florida 33@w our telephone number is (727) 531-
1700. We were incorporated in the state of Delawadanuary 1998. Unless the context otherwiseiresjuall references to “MarineMax”
mean MarineMayx, Inc. prior to its acquisition ofdipreviously independent recreational boat deatekéarch 1998 (including their related
real estate companies) and all references to tbenfany,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean, as a combirm@mpany, MarineMax, Inc. and the 16
recreational boat dealers, two boat brokerage tipasa and one full-service yacht repair operatioquired to date (the “acquired dealers,”
and together with the brokerage and repair opersitimperating subsidiaries” or the “acquired conipg”).

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as th®n'a leading retailer of recreational boats. Kdgments of our operating and growth
strategies include the following:

* emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyalty l@ating an overall enjoyable boating experiencerbegg with the negotiation-free
purchase process, one year of scheduled mainteanoany models, superior service, and premielitiasi

« implementing the “best practices” of each of ouguared dealers as appropriate throughout our deifes;

« achieving operating efficiencies and synergies agraur dealerships to enhance internal growth aaofitability;
* emphasizing employee training and development;

 opening additional retail facilities in our exigiand new territories;

« offering additional product lines and services;

* pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalize upgfansignificant consolidation opportunities in thighly fragmented recreational boat
dealer industry by acquiring additional dealers ealdted operations and improving their performaeuue profitability through the
implementation of our operating strategi

« expanding our Internet retail operations and manget
 promoting national brand name recognition and oconttNSouth connection;
* operating with a decentralized approach to theaifmsral management of our dealerships; and
« utilizing technology throughout operations.
Development of the Company; Acquisitions

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. Maviar itself, however, conducted no operations wth#l acquisition of five independent
recreational boat dealers on March 1, 1998. Weissdja Sixth recreational boat dealer on April B898. Since our initial public offering in
June 1998, we have acquired 11 additional recrealtivoat dealers, two boat brokerage operatiortsadnll-service yacht repair operation.
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Each of our acquired dealers is continuisgierations under the MarineMax name as a whallyeal operating subsidiary of our
company. The following table sets forth informati@garding the acquired companies and their gebgrapgions.

Acquired Companies Acquisition Date Geographic Reghn

Bassett Boat Company of Flori March 199i Southeast, Florid
Louis Del[Homme Marini March 199i Dallas and Houston, Tex
Gulfwind USA, Inc. March 199i West Central, Florid
Gulfwind South, Inc March 199i Southwest, Florid
Harrisor's Boat Center, Inc March 199i Northern Californie
Harrisor's Marine Centers ¢

Arizona, Inc. March 199i Arizona
Stovall Marine, Inc April 1998 Georgia
Cochral's Marine, Inc.and C & I

Marine Corporatior July 199¢ Minnesots
Sea Ray of North Carolina, In July 199¢ North and South Carolir
Brevard Boat Compan September 19¢ East Central Florid
Sea Ray of Las Veg: September 19¢ Nevada
Treasure Cove Marina, In September 19¢ Northern Ohic
Woods & Oviatt, Inc October 199 Southeast Florid
Boating World February 199 Dallas, Texa:
Merit Marine, Inc. March 199! Southern New Jerse
Suburban Boatworks, In April 199¢ Central New Jerse
Hansen Marine, Inc August 199 Northeast Florid:
Duce Marine, Inc December 19¢ Utah
Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey Northern New Jerse

locations and operation April 200C
Associated Marine Technologies, I January 20C Southeast Florid

In October 1998, we received the Hatterash¥adealership for the state of Florida, excludiegain portions of the Florida Panhandle,
and became the U.S. distributor for Hatteras prtedoecer 82 feet. In October 2001, we received thtddas Yachts dealership for the state of
Texas.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, weyfrently engage in discussions with various reaveatiboat dealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these distrss we and each potential acquisition candidatba@nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence indgesdr, and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agids discuss a potential acquisition with artyeotparty for a specific period of time,
grants us an option to purchase the prospectiierdies a designated price during a specific tiared agrees to take other actions designed to
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, suchraparing audited financial information and cotivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussioeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managemeo¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreements@e not consummated.

Business
General

We are the largest recreational boat deal#teé United States. Through 53 retail locationdrizona, California, Delaware, Florida,
Georgia, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, North @&roDhio, South Carolina, Texas, and Utah, wersell and used recreational boats,
including pleasure boats (such as sport boatst spgisers, sport yachts, and yachts) ski boat figshing boats, with a focus on premium
brands in each segment. We also sell related mprothicts, including engines, trailers, parts, aockssories. In
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addition, we arrange related boat and yacht fimaydhsurance, and extended service contractsjgeaepair and maintenance services; and
offer boat and yacht brokerage services.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sagt Bnd Boston Whaler recreational boats and Hattéaahts. Sales of new Brunswick boats
accounted for 58% of our revenue in fiscal 2001lictvhve believe represented in excess of 30% ofeall Sea Ray boat sales and
approximately 9% of all Brunswick marine produdesaduring the period. Brunswick Corporation is warld’s largest manufacturer of
recreational boats and engines, including Sea Baston Whaler, and Mercury. Sales of new Hatterashts accounted for 12% of our
revenue in fiscal 2001. In November 2001, Brunsvaiokipleted the acquisition of Hatteras Yachts f@emmar Industries, Inc. Each of our
principal operating subsidiaries is a party torayear dealer agreement with Brunswick covering Ba&aproducts and is the exclusive dealer
of Sea Ray boats in its geographic market. Welsds@ had the right to sell Hatteras Yachts throughte state of Florida (excluding the
Florida Panhandle) and the U.S. distribution rightsHatteras products over 82 feet since OctoB8B8land the right to sell Hatteras Yachi
the state of Texas since October 2001.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

We believe that total U.S. recreational bugatales generated $25.6 billion in revenue innckde 2000, including retail sales of new and
used recreational boats; marine products, suchgines, trailers, parts, and accessories; ancecklaiating expenditures, such as fuel,
insurance, docking, storage, and repairs. We belieat retail sales of new boats, engines, traitard accessories accounted for
approximately $11.2 billion of such sales in 20R@tail recreational boating sales were $17.9 billiothe late 1980s, but declined to a lov
$10.3 billion in 1992. We believe this decline d@nattributed to several factors, including a reimes the Gulf War, and the imposition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boals at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurytas repealed in 1993, and retail
recreational boating sales have increased eachtyeaafter through 2000.

Sales in the recreational boat industry amesicted significantly by other recreational oppeoitias; economic factors, including general
economic conditions, consumer income and wealtbl$evax law changes, and fuel prices; and dembgrapThe share of recreational
dollars that U.S. consumers spend on boating detlirom 3.1% in 1988, the boating industry’s peakiryto 2.0% in 1996. We believe that
the decline in boating is attributable to poor oustr service throughout the industry, lack of bpatkication, and the perception that boating
is time consuming, costly, and difficult.

Most of our consumers are in the 35 to 54grgep. Although this age group accounts for apipnaxely 30% of the U.S. population over
age 16, they account for over 50% of discretioracpme and represent the fastest growing segmehedf.S. population.

The recreational boat retail market remaigslly fragmented with little consolidation havingaurred to date. We estimate that the boat
retailing industry includes more than 5,000 botditers, most of which are small companies ownethbividuals that operate in a single
market, have annual sales of less than $3 milhod, provide varying degrees of merchandising, gsifmal management, and customer
service. We believe that many such retailers acewntering increased pressure from boat manufasttweémprove their levels of service ¢
systems, increased competition from larger natiogtalilers in certain product lines, and, in cerzases, business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as th®n'a leading operator of recreational boat destigrs. Key elements of our strategies include
the following:

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and LoyaMg. seek to achieve a high level of customer satisfaand establish long-term customer
loyalty by creating an overall enjoyable boatingesience beginning with the negotiation-free pusehprocess. We further enhance and
simplify the purchase process by offering financamgl insurance at our retail locations with comtjetiterms and streamlined turnaround.
We offer the customer a thorough in-water orientatif boat operation, where available, as wellragoing
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boat safety, maintenance, and use seminars andndénaitions for the customer’s entire family. Weoadsntinue our customer service after
the sale by leading and sponsoring MarineNE&tawaysgroup boating trips to various destinations, rerdeas gatherings, and on-the-water
organized events to provide our customers withgosranged opportunities to enjoy the pleasuresebtiating lifestyle. We also endeavor to
provide superior maintenance and repair servidésn through mobile service at the custorsavet slip and with extended service departt
hours and emergency service availability, that mirné the hassles of boat maintenance.

Implementing Best Practiced/e implement the “best practices” of each of ouquiied dealers as appropriate throughout our deafes.
As an example, we have implemented the MarineMdé&/Brice sales approach at each of our dealerdbipter the MarineMax Value-
Price approach, we sell our boats at posted prigagerally representing a discount from the manufacs suggested retail price, thereby
eliminating the anxieties of price negotiationstthecur in most boat purchases. In addition, wepgdehere beneficial, the best practices of
each acquired dealer in terms of location desighlayout, product purchases, maintenance and regaiices (including extended service
hours and mobile or dockside services), product eixployee training, and customer education andcses.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergi&'e strive to increase the operating efficienciearaf achieve certain synergies amonc
dealerships in order to enhance internal growthpandtability. We centralize at the corporate Iewertain administrative functions such as
accounting, finance, insurance coverage, emplogeeflis, marketing, strategic planning, legal suppmurchasing and distribution, and
management information systems. Centralizatiomes$e¢ functions reduces duplicative expenses amdisehe dealerships to benefit from a
level of scale and expertise that would otherwiseibavailable to each dealership individually. Wé® @eek to realize cost savings from
reduced inventory carrying costs as a result oflpaging boat inventories on a national level anelcting boats to dealership locations that
can more readily sell such boats; lower financiogtg through our credit facilities; and volume pa®e discounts and rebates for certain
marine products, supplies, and advertising. Thitybi each of our retail locations to offer coreplentary services of our other retail
locations, such as offering customer excursion dppdies, providing maintenance and repair ses/aethe customer’s boat location, and
giving access to a larger inventory, increasestmpetitiveness of each retail location. By ceitiad these types of activities, our store
managers have more time to focus on the custonteth@development of their teams.

Emphasizing Employee Training and DevelopmEotpromote continued internal growth, we devotessaiftial efforts to train our
employees to understand our core retail philosgplvigich focus on making the purchase of a boaftarslibsequent use as hassle free and
enjoyable as possible. Our Clearwater, Florida-tbasarineMax University, or “MMU,” teaches our rdtphilosophies to existing employees
and employees added through acquisitions. MMUn®dularized and instructor led educational progtiaat focuses on our retailing
philosophies and provides instruction on such matse the sales process, customer service, F&uatiang, leadership, and human
resources.

Opening New Facilities/Ve intend to continue to establish additional tdtaiilities in our existing and new territories.fbelieve that th
demographics of our existing geographic territogiegport the opening of additional facilities, amel have opened 10 new retail facilities,
excluding those opened on a temporary basis fpeaific purpose, since our formation in January8l9%e also plan to reach new customers
by expanding various innovative retail formats deped by us such as mall stores and floating rédailities. Our mall store concept is
unique to the boating industry and is designed&evdnall traffic, thereby providing exposure to bing for the non-boating public as well as
displaying our new product offerings to boatinghersiasts. Floating retail facilities place the sdbeility, with a customer reception area and
sales offices, on or anchored to a dock in a maithuse adjacent boat slips to display our newuard boats in areas of high boating
activity. We continually monitor the performancecofr retail locations and close retail locatiorat ttho not meet our expectations or that v
opened for a specific purpose that is no longevesit. Since March 1998, we have closed five rigadtions, excluding those opened on a
temporary basis for a specific purpose.

Offering Additional Product Lines and Servicege plan to continue to offer additional producebrand services throughout our
dealerships or, when appropriate, in selected deafes. We are offering
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throughout our existing and acquired dealershipsiyet lines that previously have been offered atlgertain of our locations. We also may
obtain additional product lines through the acqjaisiof distribution rights directly from manufacéurs and the acquisition of dealerships with
distribution rights. For example, we added Baja Bent, and Sea Pro product lines in fiscal 199865t8n Whaler product lines in fiscal
1997; Hatteras, Supra, and Azimut product linefssital 1999; Sport-Craft product lines in fiscaldBQ and Sea Hunt and MB Sports product
lines in 2001. In October 2001, we added Hatterash¥s to our Texas operations. In addition, we pdancrease our used boat sales and
yacht brokerage services through an increased esigphia these activities, cooperative efforts ammngdealerships, and the use of

Internet. We also plan to offer enhanced finaneing insurance packages and programs designedt¢o fetve customers and thereby
increase sales and improve profitability.

Pursuing Strategic Acquisitiong/e capitalize upon the significant consolidatiopofunities available in the highly fragmented
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring petelent dealers and improving their performancepaofitability through the
implementation of our operating strategies. Thenpry acquisition focus is on well-established, hagid recreational boat dealers in
geographic markets not currently served by usjqaatly geographic markets with strong boating dgnaphics, such as areas within the
coastal states and the Great Lakes region. Wenredgoseek to acquire boat dealers that, while lociatattractive geographic markets, have
not been able to realize favorable market shapaditability and that can benefit substantiallgrir our systems and operating strategies. We
may expand our range of product lines and our nigreetration by acquiring dealers that distribvetereational boat product lines different
from those we currently offer. As a result of tlemsiderable industry experience and relationshiggiomanagement team, we believe we
well positioned to identify and evaluate acquisittandidates and assess their growth prospectqudigy of their management teams, their
local reputation with customers, and the suitabdit their locations. We believe we are regardedraattractive acquiror by boat dealers
because of (1) the historical performance and tperence and reputation of our management teahiniie industry; (2) our decentralized
operating strategy, which generally enables theagars of an acquired dealer to continue their wemolent in dealership operations; (3) the
ability of management and employees of an acquiesder to participate in our growth and expansiwough potential stock ownership and
career advancement opportunities; and (4) thetybdlioffer liquidity to the owners of acquired di&a through the receipt of common stoc
cash. Brunswick has agreed to cooperate in gotidviaih us and not to unreasonably withhold itssmnt to the acquisition by us each year
of Sea Ray boat dealers with aggregate total reapuexceeding 20% of our revenue in our priardiiyear to the extent such Sea Ray
dealers desire to be acquired by us. See “BusineBsunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions.”

Utilization of the InternetOur web initiative, MarineMax.com, provides custamwith the ability to learn more about our compang
our products. Our website generates direct salépeovides our stores leads to potential custorimensew and used boats and brokerage
services. We also conduct auctions of used boatgaipwebsite. This initiative is the first knownddion format to focus on boats in the
marine industry. We also plan to expand our abibtgffer financing and insurance products on oabsite and enhance the marketing of our
website.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and North-Southr@ation.We are promoting our brand name recognition to takeantage of our
status as the nation’s only coast-to-coast mastegler. This strategy also recognizes that maistieg and potential customers who reside in
Northern markets and vacation for substantial gisria Southern markets will prefer to purchase serdice their boats from the same -
known company. As a result, our signage emphastizesarineMax name at each of our locations, andhawe increased our national
advertising in various print and other media.

Operating with Decentralized Managemeie maintain a generally decentralized approacheamperational management of our
dealerships. The decentralized management apptakes advantage of the extensive experience of hoaaagers, enabling them to
implement policies and make decisions, includireyappropriate product mix, based on the needsedbttal market. Local management
authority also fosters responsive customer seicepromotes long-term community and customeriogisghips. In addition, the
centralization of certain administrative functiatshe corporate level enhances the ability ofllat@nagers to focus their efforts on day-to-
day dealership operations and the customers.
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Utilizing Technology Throughout OperatioWe believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized by
each operating subsidiary and was developed omander of years through cooperative efforts wittbemmon vendor, enhances our ability
to integrate successfully the operations of ouraipgg subsidiaries and future acquired dealers. Siistem facilitates the interchange of
information and enhances cross-selling opportuitieoughout our company. The system integratds keael of operations on a company-
wide basis, including purchasing, inventory, reabies, financial reporting, budgeting, and salesagament. The system also provides sales
representatives with prospect and customer infdomdhat aids them in tracking the status of tieeimtacts with prospects, automatically
generates follow-up correspondence to such prospecilitates the availability of a particular be@@mpany-wide, locates boats needed to
satisfy a particular customer request, and monttesnaintenance and service needs of customeaits Our representatives also utilize the
computer system to assist in arranging customaniimg and insurance packages. In fiscal 2000,epéogled a web-based tool that allows
our managers to access essentially all financidlogrerational data from anywhere at anytime. Tdas has increased the efficiency of our
managers, and we expect it to lead to greater tipgrianprovements.

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boatsralaed marine products, including engines, trajlparts, and accessories. While we sell a
broad range of new and used boats, we focus onipmebrand products. In addition, we arrange reldteat financing, insurance, and
extended service contracts; provide boat maintemnand repair services; and offer boat brokeragecsss.

New Boat Sales

We primarily sell recreational boats, inchglipleasure boats (such as sport boats, sporecsusport yachts, and yachts) and fishing
boats. The principal products we offer are manufaet by Brunswick, the leading worldwide manufaetwf recreational boats, including
Sea Ray pleasure boats and Boston Whaler offsksri@d boats. In fiscal 2001, approximately 58%oof revenue was derived from the sale
of new boats manufactured by Brunswick. We belignag we exceed 30% of Sea Ray’s new boat saleagmximately 9% of all of
Brunswick’s marine product sales during that per®ales of new Hatteras Yachts, which was acquiyeBrunswick in November 2001,
accounted for 12% of our revenue during fiscal 2@Artain of our dealerships also sell luxury yacfishing boats, ski boats, and pontoon
boats provided by other manufacturers. During fi2681, new boat sales accounted for approximat@®p of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most markegnsents, but have a particular focus on premiumityualleasure boats and yachts as reflected
by our fiscal 2001 average new boat sales pri@ppfoximately $87,000 compared with our estimateldistry average selling price of
approximately $21,000. Given our locations in sahthe more affluent, offshore boating areas inWinéed States and emphasis on high
levels of customer service, we sell a relativelyhieir percentage of large recreational boats, ssighehts and sport cruisers. We believe that
the product lines we offer are among the higheatityuwithin their respective market segments, withll-established trade-name recognition
and reputations for quality, performance, and styli
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The following table is illustrative of thenge of new boats that we offer but is not all isohe:

Number Manufacturer Suggested
Product Line and Trade Name of Models Overall Length Retail Price Range

Motor Yachts and Convertibles

Hatteras Motor Yacht 10 63 to 10C+ $1,000,000 to $8,000,0+

Hatteras Convertibles 8 50 to 9C 1,000,000 to 6,000,0+
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray Yachts 7 51'to 6¢ 950,000 to 3,100,0t

Sea Ray Sport Yachts 9 38 to 4¢ 360,000 to  950,0(

Sea Ray Sport Cruisers 9 26 to 37 65,000 to  230,0(

Sea Ray Sport Boats 15 18 to 2¢€ 18,000to  81,5(
Fishing Boats

Boston Whaler 17  12to 3¢ 5,000 to  360,0(

Motor Yachts and Convertibleldatteras Yachts is one of the world’s premier ydmhilders. The Hatteras fleet is one of the most
extensive serving the luxury megayacht segmertiefarket, with configurations for cruising and gfishing. All Hatteras models include
state-of-the-art designs with live-aboard luxurizgeTmotor yacht series, ranging from 63 feet to @) feet, offers a flybridge with extensive
guest seating, covered aft deck, which may be fullgartially enclosed, providing the boater witld@ional living space, an elegant salon,
and up to four staterooms for accommodations. Bmeertibles are primarily fishing vessels, whick arell equipped to meet the needs of
even the most serious tournament-class compdRtorging from 50 feet to 90 feet, Hatteras convkasilieature interiors that offer luxurious
salon/galley arrangements, up to four stateroomis private heads, and a cockpit that includes taval tackle center, fishbox, and freezer.

Pleasure BoatsSea Ray pleasure boats target both the luxurytenthmily recreational boating markets. Sea Raytgfaehts and yachts
serve the luxury segment of the recreational bgatiarket and include top-of-the-line living accomdations with a salon, a fully equipped
galley, and up to three staterooms. The sport gaatd yachts come in a variety of configurationsluding aft cabin, bridge cockpit, and
express cruiser models, to suit each customerticpbar recreational boating style. Sea Ray spoat land sport cruiser models are designed
for performance and dependability to meet familyreational needs and include many of the featurdsasacommodations of Sea Ray’s sport
yacht and yacht models. All Sea Ray pleasure Heatare custom instrumentation that may includelantronics package; various hull, de
and cockpit designs that can include a swim platfdyow pulpit, and raised bridge; and various aties)isuch as swivel bucket helm seats,
lounge seats, sun pads, wet bars, built-in icetshesulated in-floor fish boxes, fight chairsdroolders, and bait prep and refreshment
centers. Most Sea Ray pleasure boats feature MeociMerCruiser engines.

Fishing BoatsThe fishing boats we offer range from entry leveldels to advanced models designed for fishing aatgmsports in lakes,
bays, and off-shore waters, with cabins with limitiee-aboard capability. The fishing boats typigdéature livewells, in-deck fishboxes,
splash-well gates with rodholders, rigging statjamkpit coaming pads, and fresh and saltwatehd@asns.

Used Boat Sales

We sell used versions of the new makes andkeiaave offer and, to a lesser extent, used bdatther makes and models generally taken
as trade-ins. Approximately 64% of the used bo&seld in fiscal 2001 were Brunswick models.

Our used boat sales depend on our abilisptoce a supply of high-quality used boats atetitra prices. We acquire substantially all of
our used boats through customer trade-ins. Wednigincrease our used boat business as a reghk agfcreased availability of quality used
boats generated from our acquisition of used bioatsr expanding sales efforts, the increasing remalb used boats that are well-maintained

9




Table of Contents

through our boat maintenance plans, our abiliarket used boats throughout our combined deafersdtivork to match used boat demand,
and the experience of our yacht brokerage opematiddditionally, substantially all of our used baatentory has been posted on our web
site, www.MarineMax.com, which expands the awarsesl availability of our products to a large and&of boating enthusiasts.

At most of our retail locations we offer tBea Ray Legaci™ warranty plan available for used Sea Ray boatsthesssix years old. The
Legacy plan applies to each qualifying used Seali®ay, which has passed a 48-point inspection amMdes protection against failure of
most mechanical parts for up to three years. Wiewethat the Sea Ray Legacy warranty plan, whianly available for used Sea Ray boats
purchased from a Sea Ray dealer, will enhanceales sf used Sea Ray boats by motivating purchaersed Sea Ray boats to purchase
only from a Sea Ray dealer and motivating selléSea Ray boats to sell through a Sea Ray dealer.

Marine Engines and Related Marine Equipment

We offer marine engines and propellers, suttilly all of which are manufactured by Mercunaihe, a division of Brunswick. We sell
marine engines and propellers primarily to retagtomers as replacements for their existing engingsopellers. Mercury Marine has
introduced various new engine models that redugseremissions to comply with current EnvironmeReadtection Agency requirements,
including our OPTIMAX® 200korsepower outboard engine, featuring a directifyettion technology that also increases fuekédficy. Se
“Business — Environmental and Other RegulatorydssuAn industry leader for almost six decades,ddey Marine specializes in state-of-
the-art marine propulsion systems and accessdfiest of our operating subsidiaries have been reizegrby Mercury Marine as “Platinum
Dealers.” This designation is generally awardethéotop 5% of Mercury Marine dealers.

We also sell related marine parts and accessaniading oils, lubricants, steering and contradtgyns, corrosion control products, eng
care and service products (primarily Mercury Mawsn@uicksilver line); Kiekhaefer high-performancecassories (such as propellers) and
instruments; and a complete line of boating aceéssdncluding life jackets, inflatables, and wh&ards. We also offer novelty items, such
as shirts, caps, and floormats bearing the manuferst or dealer’s logo.

Maintenance and Repair Services

Providing customers with professional, prommgintenance and repair services is critical tosales efforts and contributes to our
profitability. We provide maintenance and repaivames at most of our retail locations, with exteddervice hours at certain of our locatic
In addition, in many of our markets, we provide n®inaintenance and repair services at the locatidche customer’s boat. We believe that
this service commitment is a competitive advaniagbhe markets in which we compete and is criticabur efforts to provide a trouble-free
boating experience. We also believe that our maariee and repair services contribute to strongpoust relationships and that our emphasis
on preventative maintenance and quality serviceeages the potential supply of well-maintained $déat our used boat sales.

Our MarineMax Care Program provides for hafide boating by covering certain of the manufamta scheduled maintenance generally
for one year. Our dealerships generally includeMagineMax Care Program as part of the MarineMalu¥Price of the boat on many
models. Our technicians provide maintenance ogalady scheduled basis at either our retail laoagior dockside, thereby encouraging
preventative maintenance.

We perform both warranty and non-warrantyaiepervices, with the cost of warranty work reimgmd by the manufacturer in accordance
with the manufacturer’'s warranty reimbursement paiog For warranty work, Brunswick reimburses a petage of the dealer’s posted
service labor rates, with the percentage varyimedding on the dealer’s customer satisfaction indérg and attendance at service training
courses. We derive the majority of our warrantyeraxe from Brunswick products, as Brunswick prodaotsprise the majority of products
sold. Certain other manufacturers reimburse wayrantk at a fixed amount per repair. Because baatufacturers permit warranty work to
be performed only at authorized dealerships, weivecsubstantially all of the warranted maintenagoa repair work required for the new
boats we sell. Our third-
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party extended warranty contracts also result inrggoing demand for our maintenance and repaiicasor the duration of the term of the
extended warranty contract.

Our maintenance and repair services are peei by manufacturer-trained and certified sertéahnicians. In charging for our
mechanics’ labor, many of our dealerships use abigrrate structure designed to reflect the difficand sophistication of different types of
repairs. The percentage markups on parts are siyrilased on market conditions for different parts.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer @uistomers the ability to finance new or used Ipoathases and to purchase extended service
contracts and insurance coverage, including ciddjtaccident disability coverage, and boat propand casualty coverage (collectively,
“F&I products”). During fiscal 2001, fee income geated from F&I products accounted for approximaBe6% of our revenue. We believe
that our customers’ ability to obtain competitiueaincing quickly and easily at our dealerships clemgnts our ability to sell new and used
boats. We also believe our ability to provide costo-tailored financing on a “same- day” basis givesin advantage over many of our
competitors, particularly smaller competitors tlzak the resources to arrange boat financing ét dealerships or that do not generate
sufficient volume to attract the diversity of firdng sources that are available to us.

We have relationships with various nationakime product lenders under which the lenders @gehetail installment contracts
evidencing retail sales of boats and other marindyts that are originated by us in accordanck iisting pre-sale agreements between us
and the lenders. These arrangements permit useo/esa portion of the finance charges expectdmbtearned on the retail installment
contract based on a variety of factors, includhng ¢redit standing of the buyer, the annual peaggntate of the contract charged to the bt
and the lender’s then current minimum required ahparcentage rate charged to the buyer on theaminThis participation is subject to
repayment by us if the buyer prepays the contradetaults within a designated time period, usu@yto 180 days. To the extent required by
applicable state law, our dealerships are licets@diginate and sell retail installment contrdotancing the sale of boats and other marine
products.

We also are able to offer our customers fhEoctunity to purchase credit life insurance, dradcident and disability insurance, as well as
property and casualty insurance coverage. Crdéiirisurance policies provide for repayment oftibat financing contract if the purchaser
dies while the contract is outstanding. Accidert disability insurance policies provide for paymefthe monthly contract obligation during
any period in which the buyer is disabled. Propartgt casualty insurance covers loss or damage todaht. Some buyers choose to include
their insurance premiums in their financing contréée do not act as an insurance broker or ageissae insurance policies on behalf of
insurers. We, however, provide marketing activided other related services to insurance compamnié$rokers for which we receive
marketing fees. One of our strategies is to geaeénateased marketing fees by offering more cortipetinsurance products.

We also offer extended service contracts undhéch, for a predetermined price, we providedaisignated services pursuant to the service
contract guidelines during the contract term aadditional charge above a deductible. While weakhew boats with the boat
manufacturer’s standard hull warranty of generfilly years and standard engine warranty of geneoaié year, extended service contracts
provide additional coverage beyond the time framgcope of the manufacturer’'s warranty. Purchasused boats generally are able to
purchase an extended service contract, even gdleeted boat is no longer covered by the manuicsuvarranty. Generally, we receive a
fee, for arranging an extended service contractnVdeage the service obligations that we sell andige the parts and service (or pay the
cost of others that may provide such parts andas)/for claims made under the contracts. Mostired services under the contracts are
provided by us and paid for by the third-party caat holder.

Brokerage Services

Through employees or subsidiaries that aenBed boat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or tfaiikerage services at most of our retail
locations. For a commission, we offer for sale lerekl boats or yachts,
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listing them on the “BUC” system, and advising othier retail locations of their availability thrdugur integrated computer system and
posting them on our web site, www.MarineMax.come BUC system, which is similar to a real estatetiplel listing service, is a national
boat or yacht listing service of approximately 306kers maintained by BUC International. Often sa@lee co-brokered, with the commission
split between the buying and selling brokers. Wieslse that our access to potential used boat custeend methods of listing and adverti
customers’ brokered boats or yachts is more extertban is typical among brokers. In addition taerating revenue from brokerage
commissions, our brokerage services also enatite affer a broad array of used boats or yachtsawitliincreasing related inventory costs.

Our brokerage customers generally receivesdnee high level of customer service as our newusrd boat customers. Our waterfront
retail locations enable in-water demonstrationarobn-site brokered boat. Our maintenance andrrseaiices, including mobile service, also
is generally available to our brokerage customns. purchaser of a Sea Ray boat brokered througlsasan take advantage of MarineMax
GetawaysWweekend and day trips and other rendezvous gatseaind in-water events, as well as boat operatidrsafety seminars. We
believe that the array of services we offer argueiin the brokerage business.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other megproducts and offer our related boat servicemittr 53 retail locations in Arizona,
California, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Minnesdiayvada, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Southoltsr, Texas, and Utah. Each retail
location generally includes an indoor showrooml(iding some of the industry’s largest indoor bdaiverooms) and an outside area for
displaying boat inventories, a business officedsist customers in arranging financing and inswaand maintenance and repair facilities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfronberties on some of the nation’s most popularihgdocations, including the Delta Basin in
northern California; the Intracoastal Waterway, Atlantic Ocean, Naples Bay (next to the Gulf ofdit®), Tampa Bay, and the
Caloosahatchee River in Florida; Lake Lanier in @&g Leech Lake and the St. Croix River in Minnes®arnegat Bay, the Delaware Ri\
the Hudson River, Lake Hopatcong, Little Egg Harlaord the Manasquan River in New Jersey; Lakei&r@hio; and Clear Lake, Lake
Canroe, and Lake Lewisville in Texas. Our waterfn@tail locations, most of which include maringéyfacilities and docks at which we
display our boats, are easily accessible to thérmppopulace, serve as in-water showrooms, anblertiae sales force to give the customer
immediate in-water demonstrations of various boatlels. Most of our other locations are in closexjnity to water.

We plan to reach new customers by expandimgew locations through various innovative retaihfiats, such as mall stores and floating
retail facilities. Our mall store concept is unigoahe boating industry and is designed to draw tredfic, thereby providing exposure to
boating to the non-boating public as well as digiplg our new product offerings to boating enthusiaBloating retail facilities place the sales
facility, with a customer reception area and saféises, on or anchored to a dock in a marina aseladjacent boat slips to display new and
used boats in areas of high boating activity. Wieenily have three floating retail facilities. S&roperties.”

Operations
Dealership Operations and Management

We have adopted a generally decentralizedoaph to the operational management of our deaperstWhile certain administrative
functions are centralized at the corporate leweial management is primarily responsible for theg-tdaday operations of the retail locations.
Each retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees the day-to-day operations, persoanélfinancial performance of the
individual store, subject to the direction of atded manager, who generally has responsibilitytfar retail locations within a specified
geographic region. Typically, each retail locataso has a staff consisting of a sales managdt&hmanager, a parts and service manager,
sales representatives, maintenance and repairitéstngy and various support personnel.
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We attempt to attract and retain quality esgpes at our retail locations by providing themtwahgoing training to enhance sales
professionalism and product knowledge, career athragnt opportunities within a larger company, anabfable benefit packages. We
maintain a formal training program, called MarineManiversity or “MMU,” which provides training foemployees in all aspects of our
operations. Extensive training sessions are heaiddieally throughout the year covering a varietyapics. Highly trained, professional sales
representatives are an important factor to ouresigfal sales efforts. These sales representatigdsagned at MMU to recognize the
importance of fostering an enjoyable sales prodessjucate customers on the operation and use dfdats, and to assist customers in
making technical and design decisions in boat paseb. The overall focus of MMU is to teach our aetailing values, which focus on
customer service.

Sales representatives receive compensatioraply on a commission basis. Each store managearsalaried employee with incentive
bonuses based on the performance of the managkisiéa. Maintenance and repair service manageeswe compensation primarily on a
salary basis with commission incentives. Our mansage information system provides each store managgisales representative with daily
sales information, enabling them to monitor therfprmance on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis. Wdve a uniform, fully integrated
management information system serving each of ealetships. See “Business — Operations — Managemfemmation System.”

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling thasures of the boating lifestyle. We believe thatcritical elements of our sales philosophy
include our appealing retail locations, hassle-iegineMax ValuePrice approach, highly trained sales representathigh level of custom
service, emphasis on educating the customer anclidtemer’s family on boat usage, and providingaustomers with opportunities for
boating. We strive to provide superior customeviserand support before, during, and after the.sale

Each retail location offers the customerdpportunity to evaluate a large variety of new asdd boats in a comfortable and convenient
setting. Our full-service retail locations facitiéea turn-key purchasing process that includeadiwe lender financing packages, extended
service agreements, and insurance. Many of ouit letations are located on waterfronts and marimdsch attract boating enthusiasts and
enable customers to operate various boats prioraking a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted value pricesghatrally represent a discount from the manufactisuggested retail price, including one
year of scheduled maintenance on many models. Tdx@®Max Valu-Price sales approach focuses on customer seryieéinating
customer anxiety associated with price negotiagiot the ongoing hassles of maintaining the boat.

As a part of our sales and marketing effores also participate in boat shows and in-the-wsddgs events at area boating locations,
typically held in January and February, in eacbwfmarkets and in certain locations in close priti to our markets. These shows and
events are normally held at convention centersamimas, with area dealers renting space. Boat shod®ther offsite promotions are an
important venue for generating sales orders fomewv boats. The boat shows also generate a sigmifaamount of interest in our products
resulting in boat sales after the show.

We emphasize customer education through orene education by our sales representatives asdnge locations, our delivery captains,
before and after a sale, and through in-house semfor the entire family on boat safety, the usa @peration of boats, and product
demonstrations. Typically, one of our delivery eaps$ or the sales representative delivers the oweste boat to an area boating location and
thoroughly instructs the customer about the opemati the boat, including hands-on instructionsdocking and trailering the boat. To
enhance our customer relationships after the sedead and sponsor MarineM&etawaysigroup boating trips to various destinations,
rendezvous gatherings, and on-the-water organizedt® that promote the pleasures of the boatiegtlife. Each company-sponsored event,
planned and led by a company employee, also preadavorable medium for acclimating new custoni@tsoating and enables us to
actively promote new product offerings to boatimgheisiasts.
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As a result of our relative size, we beligxehave a competitive advantage within the indusyripeing able to conduct an organized and
systematic advertising and marketing effort. Paduwr marketing effort includes an integrated pexpnanagement system that tracks the
status of each sales representative’s contactsajtiospect, automatically generates follow-upespondence, facilitates company-wide
availability of a particular boat or other marin@guct desired by a customer, and tracks the meant and service needs for the customer’s
boat.

Suppliers and Inventory Management

We purchase substantially all of our new bieatntory directly from manufacturers, which atke new boats to dealerships based on the
amount of boats sold by the dealership. We alsbaxge new boats with other dealers to accommodaterner demand and to balance
inventory.

We purchase new boats and other marine depateducts from Brunswick, which is the world’sdast manufacturer of recreational boats,
including Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baja, and, sihoeember 2001, Hatteras. We also purchase new haodtsther marine related products
from other manufacturers, including Century, MB BpoMisty Harbor, Sea Hunt, Sea Pro, and Trackarihé. In fiscal 2001, sales of new
Brunswick boats accounted for 58% of our revenuksates of new Hatteras Yachts accounted for 128tiofevenue. We believe our Sea
Ray boat purchases exceeded 30% of Sea Ray’sdleaf and approximately 9% of all Brunswick marpneduct sales during fiscal 2001.

No other manufacturer accounted for a significamtipn of our net purchases in fiscal 2001. Brumdwias entered into a t-year dealer
agreement with each of our principal operating ®liises covering Sea Ray products. See “Busineddealer Agreements With
Brunswick.”

We typically deal with each of our manufaens; other than the Sea Ray division of Brunswickder an annually renewable, non-
exclusive dealer agreement. Manufacturers genegathblish prices on an annual basis, but may ehpriges in their sole discretion.
Manufacturers typically discount the cost of imagtand offer inventory financing assistance dutimg manufacturers’ slow seasons,
generally October through March. To obtain lowestaaf inventory, we strive to capitalize on thesennfacturer incentives to take product
delivery during the manufacturers’ slow seasonss plrmits us to gain pricing advantages and bpttetuct availability during the selling
season.

The dealer agreements with the Sea Ray divisf Brunswick do not restrict our right to satlyagSea Ray product lines or competing
products. See “Business — Dealer Agreements Witn8wrick.” Arrangements with certain other manufacturers neayrict our right to offe
some product lines in certain markets. We do nli¢be that these restrictions will have a matdrigbact on our business, financial conditi
or results of operations. See “Special Considematie- Boat manufacturers exercise substantial coower our business.”

We transfer individual boats among our rdtahtions to fill customer orders that otherwisigim take three to four weeks to fill from the
manufacturer. This reduces delays in delivery, figpmaximize inventory turnover, and assists immizing potential overstock or out-of-
stock situations. We actively monitor our inventteyels to maintain the appropriate inventory Iswtel meet current market demands. We
not bound by contractual agreements governing ii@uat of inventory that we must purchase in any y®en any manufacturer. We
participate in numerous end-stimmer manufacturer boat shows, which manufactspssor to sell off their remaining inventory educec
costs before the introduction of new model yeadpats, typically beginning in July.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide iegt assistance programs to retailers. The intagssstance varies by manufacturer and may
include periods of free financing or reduced ingeérate programs. The interest assistance mayibelpactly to the retailer or the financial
institution depending on the arrangements the naatuifer has established. We believe that our fimgnarrangements with manufacturers
are standard within the industry. As of Septemier2B01, we owed an aggregate of approximatelyrii®n under our revolving lines of
credit. As of September 30, 2001, the lines of iti@@vided us with
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an additional available borrowing capacity of apjmmately $62 million. Advances on the lines accrirgdrest at a weighted average rate of
5.1% as of September 30, 2001.

We have obtained commitments from four separanfiial institutions for a combined revolving crefditility. The commitment provid:
for a working capital borrowing facility of $220 Hidn. Interest will accrue at a rate equal to time-month London Interbank Offered Rate
plus 175 to 260 basis points, which will be detewaliin accordance with the performance pricing gedforth in the agreement. The
availability of loan advances from time to time Mié based upon the value of new and used boattores, parts, and accounts receivabl
our direct and indirect subsidiaries. Advances imaysed for acquisition of inventories, workingitalpand other purposes satisfactory to
lenders. We will pledge all of our assets, othantheal estate, as collateral for the obligatiamden the credit agreement. We expect the ¢
facility to close on or before January 31, 200loi8th we be unable to close on the credit facilitg, believe there would be adequate
alternative funding services available.

Management Information System

We believe that our management informaticsiesy, which currently is being utilized by eacloaf operating subsidiaries and was
developed by certain of the acquired dealers ovemaber of years through cooperative efforts witbemmon vendor, enhances our ability to
integrate successfully the operations of our opegatubsidiaries and future acquisitions, faciéitathe interchange of information, and
enhances cross-selling opportunities throughoutomrpany. The system integrates each level of tipasaon a company-wide basis,
including purchasing, inventory, receivables, ficiahreporting and budgeting, and sales manageriietsystem enables us to monitor each
dealership’s operations in order to identify qujclfeas requiring additional focus and to manageritory. The system also provides sales
representatives with prospect and customer infdomdhat aids them in tracking the status of tieeimtacts with prospects, automatically
generates follow-up correspondence to such prospradilitates the availability of a particular bea@ampany-wide, locates boats needed to
satisfy a particular customer request, and montte@snaintenance and service needs of custorbeats. Company representatives also u
the system to assist in arranging financing andrarsce packages.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and Brunswick entered into an agreementiging for Brunswick to cooperate in good faithdarot to unreasonably withhold its
consent to the acquisitions each year by us ofR&gaboat dealers with aggregate total revenuexuaezling 20% of our revenue in our prior
fiscal year. Any acquisitions in excess of the 208achmark will be at Brunswick’s discretion. In #anent that our sales of Sea Ray boats
exceed 49% of the sales of Sea Ray boats by alR8gdoat dealers, including us, in any fiscal ye#aBrunswick, the agreement provides
that we and Brunswick will negotiate in good fditie standards for acquisitions of Sea Ray boaedealy us during Brunswick’s next
succeeding fiscal year but that Brunswick may goauwithhold its consent to any such acquisitioitsrsole discretion for as long as our Sea
Ray boat sales exceed the 49% benchmark.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, ar&l through our principal operating subsidiaries, fzarties to Sales and Service Agreements
relating to Sea Ray products. These dealer agrésrappoint one of our operating subsidiaries agragxclusive dealer for the retail sale,
display, and servicing of designated Sea Ray pitscured repair parts currently or in the future dnjdSea Ray. Each dealer agreement
designates a non-exclusive area of primary respiitgifor the dealer, which is a geographical airearoximity to the deales’ retail location
based on such areas that are customarily desighgt8da Ray and applicable to its domestic dedirsh dealer agreement also specifies
retail locations, which the dealer may not clo$mrge, or add to without the prior written cons#rbea Ray, provided that Sea Ray may not
unreasonably withhold its consent. Upon at leasty@ar’s prior notice and the failure by the detdeture, Sea Ray may remove the dealer’s
right to operate any particular retail locatioth& dealer fails to meet its material obligatigres;formance standards, or terms, conditions,
representations, warranties, and covenants apjgitaltthat
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location. Each dealer agreement also restrictsi¢lader from selling, advertising, soliciting follesaor offering for resale any Sea Ray prod
outside its area of primary responsibility witholué prior written consent of Sea Ray as long adaimestrictions also apply to all domestic
Sea Ray dealers selling comparable Sea Ray prodimth dealer agreement provides for the lowestymioprices charged by the Sea Ray
division of Brunswick from time to time to othermestic Sea Ray dealers, subject to the dealer mgeattithe requirements and condition:
Sea Ray'’s applicable programs and the right of Bmick in good faith to charge lesser prices to otlealers to meet existing competitive
circumstances, for unusual and non-ordinary busingsumstances, or for limited duration promotigmagrams.

Each dealer agreement requires the dealer to
 promote, display, advertise, and sell Sea Ray kaiaach of its retail locations in accordance whthagreement and applicable laws;

« purchase and maintain sufficient inventory of coti®ea Ray boats to meet the reasonable demandtoiers at each of its locations
and to meet the minimum inventory requirementsiagble to all Sea Ray deale

* maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptable location, a service department to servizeRay boats promptly and
professionally and to maintain parts and suppbesetvice Sea Ray boats properly on a timely b

« perform all necessary installation and inspectienvises prior to delivery to purchasers and perfpost-sale services of all Sea Ray
products sold by the dealer or brought to the ddateservice;

« furnish purchasers with Sea Rayimited warranty on new products and with infotima and training as to the sale and proper opmr
and maintenance of Sea Ray bo

* assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns;
» maintain complete product sales and service regords

« achieve annual sales performance in accordancefaiitand reasonable sales levels established ayRag, after consultation with the
dealer, based on factors such as population, patestial, local economic conditions, competitipast sales history, number of retail
locations, and other special circumstances thataiffagt the sale of products or the dealer, in eade consistent with standards
established for all domestic Sea Ray dealers gatiimparable product

« provide designated financial information;

« conduct its business in a manner that preservesrmmahces the reputation of Sea Ray and the dealgroviding quality products and
services

» maintain the financial ability to purchase and n@imon hand required inventory levels;
« indemnify Sea Ray against any claims or lossedthegdrom the dealer’s failure to meet its obligais to Sea Ray;
* maintain customer service ratings sufficient tomsin Sea Ray’s image in the marketplace; and

« achieve within designated time periods and thegeafiaintain master dealer status (which is SeaRaghest performance status) for
the locations designated by Sea Ray and the di

Each dealer agreement has an initial terterofyears. Each dealer agreement, however, magriminated

by Sea Ray if the dealer fails or refuses to plo@nimum stocking order of the next model yearsdoicts in accordance with
requirements applicable to all Sea Ray dealersrglyer fails to meet its financial obligations ey become due to Sea Ray or to the
deale’s lenders

by Sea Ray or the dealer where good cause existsding the material breach, default, or noncoere with any material term,
provision, warranty, or obligation under the agreethanc
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has not been cured within 60 days of prior writtetice of the claimed deficiency or at the endhaf 60-day period without the
opportunity to cure where the cause constitutesfaittat

« by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the other;
* by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theeagent by the dealer without the prior writtensemt of Sea Ray;

* by Sea Ray upon at least 10 days’ prior writtericedn the event of the failure to pay any sums aog owing to Sea Ray that are not
disputed in good faitt

« by Sea Ray if a majority of our Board of Directdies not consist of specified senior executives@ther Designated Members (as
defined in the Stockholde’ Agreement); o

« upon the mutual consent of the dealer and Sea Ray.

Employees

As of September 30, 2001, we had 986 empky@48 of whom were in store-level operations a®df3vhom were in corporate
administration and management. This includes 7ie dtvel employees that were added in conjunctiith the January 2001 acquisition of
Associated Marine Technologies, Inc. We are naréyffo any collective bargaining agreements aechat aware of any efforts to unionize
our employees. We consider our relations with eopleyees to be excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademéitkshe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for @asinames, including “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Getaways,” “MarineMax Care,” “Deliverinfpje Dream,” and “MarineMax and Design.” We hawgistered the name
“MarineMax” in the European community. We havead@rmark application pending with the U.S. PatedtEmademark Office for “New
Coast Financial Services.” We have trade nameradémark applications pending in Canada for vari@ames, including “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Value Price,” “Value Price,” “Deliverinthe Dream,” “Delivering and Selling the Dream,”étaways,” and “The Water Gene.”
There can be no assurance that any of these agiplisavill be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recnealtiboating industry, is highly seasonal. Overttiree-year period ended September 30, 2001,
the average net sales for the quarters ended Dece8thbMarch 31, June 30, and September 30 refesb&iA%, 26%, 33%, and 24%,
respectively, of our average annual net sales. Wetexception of Florida, our geographic terrggsrgenerally realize significantly lower se
in the quarterly period ending December 31, withttsales generally improving in January with theetrof the public boat and recreation
shows, and continue through July.

Our business is also subject to weather ipettevhich may adversely affect our results of afiens. For example, drought conditions (or
merely reduced rainfall levels) or excessive raiay close area boating locations or render boa#mgerous or inconvenient, thereby
curtailing customer demand for our products. Initaitl unseasonably cool weather and prolongederiodnditions may lead to a shorter
selling season in certain locations. Hurricanesathdr storms could result in disruptions of oueigions or damage to our boat inventories
and facilities. Although our geographic diversiylikely to reduce the overall impact to us of adeeweather conditions in any one market
area, these conditions will continue to represeittial, material adverse risks to us and ourrtufinancial performance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasiopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and local statutes, ordinances,
regulations. While we believe that we maintairredjuisite licenses and permits and are in compdiavith all applicable federal, state, and
local regulations, there can be no
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assurance that we will be able to maintain all igitpilicenses and permits. The failure to satibfyse and other regulatory requirements c
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition, and results of operations. Thepéidn of additional laws, rules, and
regulations could also have a material adversetedie our business. Various federal, state, anal iegulatory agencies, including the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSMH the United States Environmental Protection Age (the “EPA”), and similar

federal and local agencies, have jurisdiction alkieroperation of our dealerships, repair facilitersd other operations with respect to matters
such as consumer protection, workers’ safety, amg regarding protection of the environment, intigdair, water, and soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulatfonsutboard marine engines that impose striat@issions standards for two-cycle, gasoline
outboard marine engines. Emissions from such esgimnest be reduced by approximately 75% over a ydae-period beginning with the
1998 model year. Costs of comparable new engihesterially more expensive than previous engineshe inability of our manufacturers
to comply with EPA requirements, could have a makadverse effect on our business, financial ciowli and results of operations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate emglound storage tanks, or “USTs,” for the storaigearious petroleum products. The USTs
are generally subject to federal, state, and, @alllaws and regulations that require testing gpgtading of USTs and remediation of
contaminated soils and groundwater resulting freaking USTs. In addition, if leakage from compamyned or operated USTs migrates «
the property of others, we may be subject to ti@ilility to third parties for remediation costsather damages. Based on historical
experience, we believe that our liabilities assmedavith UST testing, upgrades, and remediatioruali&ely to have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and pamt$ service operations in particular, our busim@aslves the use, handling, storage, and
contracting for recycling or disposal of hazardousoxic substances or wastes, including envirortaignsensitive materials, such as motor
oil, waste motor oil and filters, transmission fluantifreeze, freon, waste paint and lacquer #inpatteries, solvents, lubricants, degreasing
agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordinglyaveesubject to regulation by federal, state, andllauthorities establishing requirements for
the use, management, handling, and disposal o theserials and health and environmental qualégddrds, and liability related thereto,
providing penalties for violations of those starttalWe are also subject to laws, ordinances, andatons governing investigation and
remediation of contamination at facilities we oper® which we send hazardous or toxic substancesstes for treatment, recycling, or
disposal.

We do not believe we have any material emvirental liabilities or that compliance with envimantal laws, ordinances, and regulations
will, individually or in the aggregate, have a makadverse effect on our business, financial @ or results of operations. However, soil
and groundwater contamination has been known &t aekicertain properties owned or leased by ush&ve also been required and may in
the future be required to remove aboveground adeéngnound storage tanks containing hazardous sutesar wastes. As to certain of our
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in aecure with state and federal guidelines.
are monitoring the soil and groundwater as requiedpplicable state and federal guidelines. Irtad the shareholders of the acquired
dealers have indemnified us for specific environtakissues identified on environmental site assesssrperformed by us as part of the
acquisitions. We maintain insurance for pollutdetoup and removal. The coverage pays for the egseio extract pollutants from land or
water at the insured property, if the dischargspeliisal, seepage, migration, release or escape pbtlutants is caused by or results from a
covered cause of loss. We may also have additginedge tank liability insurance and “Superfundvemge where applicable. In addition,
certain of our retail locations are located on wa#y's that are subject to federal or state lawslegigpg navigable waters (including oil
pollution prevention), fish and wildlife, and othmatters.

Two of the properties we own were historigaled as gasoline service stations. Remedialragtith respect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completaddordance with federal and state law. Also,ar@ur properties is within the boundaries
of a Superfund site, although our property has
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not been and is not expected to be identified @né&ibutor to the contamination in the area. Wayéver, do not believe that these
environmental issues will result in any materiabilities to us.

Additionally, certain states have requirec considering requiring a license in order terafe a recreational boat. While such licensing
requirements are not expected to be unduly resgiategulations may discourage potential firsteibuyers, thereby limiting future sales,
which could adversely affect our business, findnmadition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose pstential liabilities for personal injury orqperty damage claims relating to the use of
those products. Historically, the resolution ofgurot liability claims has not materially affectedrdusiness. Our manufacturers generally
maintain product liability insurance, and we maimtdird-party product liability insurance, whichevbelieve to be adequate. However, there
can be no assurance that we will not experienca tggims in excess of our insurance coverageairdlaims will be covered by insurance.
Furthermore, any significant claims against us @d@dversely affect our business, financial condjtand results of operations and result in
negative publicity.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environtmém addition to facing competition generally framcreation businesses seeking to attract
consumers’ leisure time and discretionary spendwoiars, the recreational boat industry itselfighty fragmented, resulting in intense
competition for customers, quality products, bdetve space, and suitable retail locations. We rely tertain extent on boat shows to
generate sales. Our inability to participate intlebeows in our existing or targeted markets coatdeha material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.

We compete primarily with singleeation boat dealers and, with respect to salesasfne equipment, parts, and accessories, witbna
specialty marine stores, catalog retailers, sppigimods stores, and mass merchants. Dealer coiopetiintinues to increase based on the
quality of available products, the price and vadfithe products, and attention to customer senvibere is significant competition both witl
markets we currently serve and in new marketswvileatnay enter. We compete in each of our markets mgtailers of brands of boats and
engines we do not sell in that market. In addite®yeral of our competitors, especially thosersgllioating accessories, are large national or
regional chains that have substantial financiakkeigng, and other resources. However, we belibaedur integrated corporate infrastructure
and marketing and sales capabilities, our costttre, and our nationwide presence enable us tpetneffectively against these companies.
Private sales of used boats is an additional sagmif source of competition.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth informationno@rning each of our executive officers:

Name Age Position
William H. McGill Jr. 57 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, ddicector
Richard R. Basse 48 President and Directt
David L. Cochrar 55 Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Offi
Michael H. McLamk 36 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretaygd Treasure
Paul Graham Stovs 63 Senior Vice President and Direc

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Maviag since January 23, 1998 and as the ChairmamedBoard
and as a director of our company since March 68188. McGill served as the President of our compfiom January 1988 until
September 8, 2000. Mr. McGill was the principal
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owner and president of Gulfwind USA, Inc., onelwd bperating subsidiaries, from 1973 until its neengith us.

Richard R. Basseltas served as President of our company since Sketé&n2000 and a director of our company sinceciar 1998.
Mr. Bassett served as Executive Vice Presidenuotompany from October 1, 1998 until Septemb@080 and as Senior Vice President of
our company from March 6, 1998 until October 1,8.99r. Bassett was the owner and president of BaBsat Company of Florida, one of
the operating subsidiaries, from 1979 until its gegmwith us.

David L. Cochrarhas served as a Senior Vice President of our coyngiane October 1, 1998 and as Chief Operatingc&ffof our
company since September 8, 2000. Mr. Cochran vpaiseipal owner and president of Cochran’s Marine, and C&N Marine, Inc.
(together “Cochran’s”), one of the operating sulasids, from 1977 until its merger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Vice President, Chief Financial &ffiand Treasurer of MarineMax since January 283 ¥hd as
Secretary of our company since April 5, 1998. Mclldmb, a certified public accountant, was emplaygdrthur Andersen LLP from
December 1987 to December 1997, serving most rigcestr senior manager.

Paul Graham Stovalhas served as a Senior Vice President and direttmrr company since May 1, 1998. Mr. Stovall wasiacipal
owner and president of Stovall Marine, Inc., on¢hef operating subsidiaries, from 1960 until itsgee with us.

Special Considerations
We must integrate the operations of the dealers wecently acquired.

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. Ond¥idr, 1998, MarineMax acquired five independentaational boat dealers that operated
under their principal owners for an average of ntbem 21 years. MarineMax itself, however, conddicte operations and generated no sales
or revenue until its acquisition of the five dealen March 1, 1998. Since March 1, 1998, we hageieed 11 additional recreational boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and aéullice yacht repair facility. The acquired deatgysrated independently prior to their
acquisition by us. The consolidated financial ressaf MarineMax cover periods when MarineMax anel dlequired dealers were not under
common management or control and are not necessatitative of the results that would have beemieceed if MarineMax and the acquired
dealers had been operated on an integrated batkis prsults that may be realized on a consolidadsts in the future.

Our success depends, in part, on our alidifptegrate the operations of the acquired dealedsother dealers we acquire in the future,
including centralizing certain functions to achiexest savings and pursuing programs and procesaepromote cooperation and the sharing
of opportunities and resources among our dealess@ipr senior executives operated independentlyeimecreational boat industry prior to
our formation and have been assembled only recastlymanagement team. Management may not beoailernsee the combined entity
efficiently or to implement effectively our growtind operating strategies. To the extent that weesstully implement our acquisition
strategy, our resulting growth will place signifitadditional demands on our management and infictste. Our failure to implement
successfully our strategies or operate effectitledycombined entity could have a material adveffeeteon our business, financial condition,
and results of operations. These effects couldidelower revenue, higher cost of sales, increashitig, general, and administrative
expenses, and reduced margins on a consolidated bas

We rely on Brunswick and other key manufacturers.

Our success depends to a significant extetih@® continued popularity and reputation for gyadif the boating products of our
manufacturers, particularly BrunswickSea Ray boat lines. Approximately 58% of our mereein fiscal 2001 resulted from sales of new b
manufactured by Brunswick, including 57% from Brwitk’'s Sea Ray division. Approximately 12% of olawboat revenue in fiscal 2001
resulted from sales of new boats manufactured hitekées Yachts. Brunswick acquired Hatteras Yaahtsavember 2001. The
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remainder of our fiscal 2001 revenue from new Ilsadds resulted from sales of products from a lidhitember of other manufacturers, none
of which accounted for a significant portion of savenue. Any adverse change in the financial dadiproduction efficiency, product
development, and management and marketing capeditif our manufacturers, particularly Brunswickegi our reliance on Sea Ray and
Hatteras, would have a substantial impact on osmass.

To ensure adequate inventory levels to supporexpansion, it may be necessary for Brunswaiutk other manufacturers to increase
production levels or allocate a greater percentdidleeir production to us. The interruption or dietinuance of the operations of Brunswick
or other manufacturers could cause us to experigimagfalls, disruptions, or delays with respeahéeded inventory. Although we believe
that adequate alternate sources would be availabteould replace any manufacturer other than 8sick as a product source, there can be
no assurance that such alternate sources will digable at the time of any such interruption ott thiéernative products will be available at
comparable quality and prices.

Through our principal operating subsidiari@e,maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick dogeBea Ray products. Each dealer
agreement has a ten-year term and provides fdowest product prices charged by the Sea Ray divisf Brunswick from time to time to
other domestic Sea Ray dealers. These terms gexstb

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditof Sea Ray’s applicable programs, and
« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge kessprices to other dealers,

« to meet existing competitive circumstances,

« for unusual and non-ordinary business circumstarares

« for limited duration promotional programs.

The agreements do not give us the exclusive righell Sea Ray product lines within any partictéaritory or restrict us from selling
competing products.

As is typical in the industry, we deal withrananufacturers, other than the Sea Ray divisi@dranswick, under renewable annual dealer
agreements. These agreements do not contain atmactal provisions concerning product pricing @guired purchasing levels. Pricing is
generally established on a model year basis, muthgct to change at the manufacturer’s sole eliser. Any change or termination of these
arrangements for any reason, including changesritpetitive, regulatory, or marketing practices,ldadversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operationsatfdition, the timing, structure, and amount of nfaoturer sales incentives and rebates could
impact the timing and profitability of our sales.

General economic conditions, discretionary consumespending, and changes in tax laws affect our busss.

Our operations depend upon a number of factlating to or affecting consumer spending fauhly goods, such as recreational boats.
Unfavorable local, regional, or national economewelopments or uncertainties regarding future egoa@rospects could reduce consumer
spending in the markets we serve and adverselgtafter business. Consumer spending on luxury gatsgsmay decline as a result of lower
consumer confidence levels, even if prevailing emic conditions are favorable. In an economic dammtconsumer discretionary spending
levels generally decline, at times resulting irpdiportionately large reductions in the sale oliyxgoods. Similarly, rising interest rates
could have a negative impact on the ability orimghess of consumers to finance boat purchaseshveioiuld also adversely affect our ability
to sell our products. Local influences, such apamate downsizing and military base closings, atsad adversely affect our operations in
certain markets. We may be unable to maintain oofitpbility during any period of adverse econoraamditions or low consumer
confidence. Changes in federal and state tax lsmed) as an imposition of luxury taxes on new boatipases, and stock market performance
also could influence consumers’ decisions to pwet@oducts we offer and could have a negative®die our sales. For example, during
1991 and 1992 the federal government imposed ayusx on new recreational boats with
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sales prices in excess of $100,000, which coincidéda sharp decline in boating industry salesifr@high of more than $17.9 billion in the
late 1980s to a low of $10.3 billion in 1992.

The boating industry has been stagnant during recdryears.

The recreational boating industry is cycliaatl has experienced relatively stagnant overalltir over the last ten-year period. General
economic conditions, consumer spending patteradgrét tax policies, and the cost and availabilitjuel can impact overall boat purchases.
We believe that the lack of increase in overallthmachases has resulted from increased compefitiom other recreational activities,
perceived hassles of boat ownership, and relatipety customer service and education throughoutettadl boat industry. Although our
strategy addresses many of these industry factalsve have achieved significant growth during thaqu of stagnant industry growth, the
cyclical nature of the recreational boating indystr the lack of industry growth could adverselfeaf our business, financial condition, or
results of operations in the future.

Our acquisition strategy involves significant risks

Our growth strategy of acquiring additionetneational boat dealers involves significant ridkss strategy entails reviewing and
potentially reorganizing acquired business openaticorporate infrastructure and systems, and diaaoontrols. Unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, and delays frequently encounteredamnection with rapid expansion through acquisgioauld inhibit our growth and negative
impact our profitability. We may be unable to idgnsuitable acquisition candidates or to comptéee acquisitions of candidates that we
identify. Increased competition for acquisition datates may increase purchase prices for acquisitolevels beyond our financial
capability or to levels that would not result i tfeturns required by our acquisition criteriaatfdition, we may encounter difficulties in
integrating the operations of acquired dealers withown operations or managing acquired dealastgbly without substantial costs,
delays, or other operational or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock aodrisubstantial indebtedness in making future aitipims. The size, timing, and
integration of any future acquisitions may caudestantial fluctuations in operating results fronadar to quarter. Consequently, operating
results for any quarter may not be indicative ef tbsults that may be achieved for any subsequemtey or for a full fiscal year. These
fluctuations could adversely affect the market @€ our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through thegaisition of additional dealers will depend upanrigus factors, including the following:
« the availability of suitable acquisition candidassttractive purchase prices,

« the ability to compete effectively for availablegadsition opportunities,

« the availability of funds or common stock with dfient market price to complete the acquisitions,

« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approvals, and

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attemtatimgpose unsatisfactory restrictions on us inngmtion with their approval of
acquisitions

As a part of our acquisition strategy, wejfrently engage in discussions with various reaveatiboat dealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these distrss we and each potential acquisition candidatba@nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence indgesy, and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agids discuss a potential acquisition with arfyeotparty for a specific period of time,
grants us an option to purchase the prospectiierdies a designated price during a specific tiared agrees to take other actions designed to
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, suchraparing audited financial information and cotivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussiveguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managerneo¢ssion and related matters. As a result
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of these and other factors, a number of potentiqligitions that from time to time appear likelyaccur do not result in binding legal
agreements and are not consummated.

We may need manufacturers’ consent to dealer acquimns and market expansions.

We may be required to obtain the consentrahBwick and various other manufacturers prioh®adcquisition of other dealers. In
determining whether to approve acquisitions, mactufars may consider many factors, including owaficial condition and ownership
structure. Manufacturers also may impose condit@mmgranting their approvals for acquisitions, irtthg a limitation on the number of their
dealers that we may acquire. Our ability to meetufiacturers’ requirements for approving future asigjons will have a direct bearing on
our ability to complete acquisitions and effect guwwth strategy. There can be no assurance timatnaifacturer will not terminate its dealer
agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agreeméunserto approve future acquisitions, or take o#tation that could have a material adverse
effect on our acquisition program.

We and Brunswick have entered into an agreementding for Brunswick to cooperate in good faith amat to unreasonably withhold
consent to the acquisitions each year by us ofRagaboat dealers with aggregate total revenuexuaesling 20% of our revenue in our prior
fiscal year. Any acquisitions in excess of the 2@8achmark will be at Brunswick’s discretion. In #nent that our sales of Sea Ray boats
exceed 49% of the sales of Sea Ray boats by alR8gdoat dealers, including us, in any fiscal yafaBrunswick, the agreement provides
that we and Brunswick will negotiate in good fditie standards for acquisitions of Sea Ray boaedealy us during Brunswick’s next
succeeding fiscal year, but that Brunswick may geamwithhold its consent to any such acquisitiorits sole discretion for as long as our Sea
Ray boat sales exceed the 49% benchmark.

Our growth strategy also entails expandingpraduct lines and geographic scope by obtainddijtenal distribution rights from our
existing and new manufacturers. We may not be takdecure additional distribution rights or obtatntable alternative sources of supply if
we are unable to obtain such distribution rightse Thability to expand our product lines and gepbr@scope by obtaining additional
distribution rights could have a material adverect on our business, financial condition, andifessof operations.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control owveour business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Throegleidagreements, boat manufacturers, including$vick, exercise significant control
over their dealers, restrict them to specified fimees, and retain approval rights over changesanagement and ownership. The continuation
of our dealer agreements with most manufacturectyding Brunswick, depends upon, among other #ingr achieving stated goals for
customer satisfaction ratings and market sharetgiom in the market served by the applicable elsalip. Failure to meet the customer
satisfaction, market share goals, and other camditset forth in any dealer agreement could hakieuwsconsequences including the
following:

« the termination of the dealer agreement,

« the imposition of additional conditions in subsetjLeealer agreements,

« limitations on boat inventory allocations,

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty wamkormed by the dealer, or
« denial of approval of future acquisitions.

Our dealer agreements with manufacturergydireg Brunswick, generally do not give us the esole right to sell those manufacturers’
products within a given geographical area. Accaglyina manufacturer, including Brunswick, couldtarize another dealer to start a new
dealership in proximity to one or more of our léoas, or an existing dealer could move a dealerghglocation that would be directly
competitive with us. These events could have a mahtedverse effect on us and our operations.
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We may have significant capital needs.

Our growth strategy may require us to sesigrificant additional capital. Our future capitafjuirements will depend upon the size,
timing, and structure of future acquisitions and warking capital and general corporate needs elfiwance future acquisitions in whole o
part through the issuance of common stock or séesiconvertible into or exercisable for commorckt@xisting stockholders will
experience a dilution in the voting power of thesmmon stock and earnings per share could be nefjaimpacted. The extent to which we
will be able or willing to use our common stock arquisitions will depend on the market value af @mmon stock from time to time and
the willingness of potential sellers to accept cmmmon stock as full or partial consideration. @ability to use our common stock as
consideration, to generate cash from operation® obtain additional funding through debt or egdihancings in order to pursue our
acquisition program could materially limit our gribw

Any borrowings made to finance future acdigas or for operations could make us more vulnlerédoa downturn in our operating
results, a downturn in economic conditions, oréases in interest rates on borrowings that aresuty interest rate fluctuations. If our cash
flow from operations is insufficient to meet outtlservice requirements, we could be required tadditional equity securities, refinance
our obligations, or dispose of assets in order éetour debt service requirements. In addition,coedit arrangements contain financial and
operational covenants and other restrictions witictvwe must comply, including limitations on capbiexpenditures and the incurrence of
additional indebtedness. Adequate financing mayoeatvailable if and when we need it or may noaveslable on terms acceptable to us.
The failure to obtain sufficient financing on faabie terms and conditions could have a materiatiesdveffect on our growth prospects and
our business, financial condition, and resultspdrations.

Our current credit facilities provide for bowings of up to approximately $235 million, sulijez a borrowing base formula. We believe
these credit facilities will be sufficient for oaurrently anticipated needs and reflect competitarens and conditions. We have pledged
certain of our assets, principally boat inventgrtessecure our credit facilities. While we believe will continue to obtain adequate financ
from lenders, such financing may not be availablest.

Our internal growth and operating strategies invole risk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiringglb dealers, we intend to continue to pursue &esfyaof growth through opening new retail
locations and offering new products in our existamgl new territories. Accomplishing these goalssipansion will depend upon a numbe
factors, including the following:

« our ability to identify new markets in which we cabtain distribution rights to sell our existingamtditional product lines;

« our ability to lease or construct suitable fa@litiat a reasonable cost in existing or new markets;

* our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

« the timely integration of new retail locations irgristing operations;

« our ability to achieve adequate market penetraidavorable operating margins without the acqaisiof existing dealers; and
« our financial resources.

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick regBimenswick’s consent to open, close, or changelretzations that sell Sea Ray products,
and other dealer agreements generally containaimibvisions. We may not be able to open and ¢@@ew retail locations or introduce n
product lines on a timely or profitable basis. Murer, the costs associated with opening new reéltions or introducing new product lines
may adversely affect our profitability.

As a result of these growth strategies, weeekthat management will expend significant timd affort in opening and acquiring new
retail locations and introducing new products. &stems, procedures, controls, and financial ressumay not be adequate to support our
expanding operations. The inability to manage our
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growth effectively could have a material adverdeafon our business, financial condition, and itesaf operations.

Our planned growth also will impose signifitadded responsibilities on members of senior @ment and require us to identify,
recruit, and integrate additional senior level nggera. We may not be able to identify, hire, ontrauitable additions to management.

Seasonality and weather conditions impact our opetins.

Our business, as well as the entire recnealtiboating industry, is highly seasonal, with seadity varying in different geographic
markets. During the thregear period ended September 30, 2001, the averstgales for the quarterly periods ended Decembewviarch 31
June 30, and September 30 represented 17%, 26%,28@PR24%, respectively, of our average annuatales. With the exception of Florida,
we generally realize significantly lower saleshe fuarterly period ending December 31 with boketssgenerally improving in January with
the onset of the public boat and recreation sh@us.business could become substantially more sehasrwe acquire dealers that operate in
colder regions of the United States.

Weather conditions may adversely impact our opagatesults. For example, drought conditions, reduainfall levels, and excessive r
may force boating areas to close or render boakmgerous or inconvenient, thereby curtailing ausiodemand for our products. In
addition, unseasonably cool weather and prolongatewconditions may lead to shorter selling seasnrecertain locations. Hurricanes and
other storms could result in the disruption of operations or damage to our boat inventories acititias. Many of our dealerships sell boats
to customers for use on reservoirs, thereby subgeour business to the continued viability of #aesservoirs for boating use. Although our
geographic diversity and our future geographic espm will reduce the overall impact on us of adeaweather conditions in any one market
area, weather conditions will continue to repregenéntial material adverse risks to us and owr@ubperating performance. As a result of
the foregoing and other factors, our operatingltesn some future quarters could be below the etgtimns of stock market analysts and
investors.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmém addition to facing competition generally fraran-boating recreation businesses
seeking to attract discretionary spending dolldrs recreational boat industry itself is highlygnaented, resulting in intense competition for
customers, product distribution rights, and su#abtail locations, particularly on or near wateysiaCompetition increases during periods of
stagnant industry growth, such as currently exists.

We compete primarily with singleeation boat dealers and, with respect to salesasfne parts, accessories, and equipment, witbna
specialty marine parts and accessories storespgattailers, sporting goods stores, and masshmats. Competition among boat dealers is
based on the quality of available products, thegpaind value of the products, and attention tooooet service. There is significant
competition both within markets we currently seavel in new markets that we may enter. We competach of our markets with retailers
brands of boats and engines we do not sell inntaaket. In addition, several of our competitorpeesally those selling marine equipment
accessories, are large national or regional chhatshave substantial financial, marketing, an@otkesources. Private sales of used boats
represent an additional source of competition.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, anextended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referfeds derived from the placement of various F&lduets, consisting of customer financing,
insurance products, and extended service contithetsnost significant component of which is thetipgration and other fees resulting from
our sale of customer financing contracts. Durisgdl 2001, F&I products accounted for approximage#o of our revenue.

The availability of financing for our boatnghasers and the level of participation and othesfwe receive in connection with such
financing depend on the particular agreement betwseand the lender.
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Lenders may impose terms in their boat financimgrayements with us that may be unfavorable to wsipcustomers, resulting in reduced
demand for our customer financing programs and i@aeticipation and other fees.

The reduction of profit margins on sales &f products or the lack of demand for or the unéalality of these products could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial conditio results of operations.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, upoonahgnuing efforts and abilities of our executiiiaers. Although we have an employment
agreement with each of our executive officers, aenot assure that these individuals will remairhwig throughout the term of the
agreements, or thereafter. As a result of our degiered operating strategy, we also rely on theage@ment teams of our operating
subsidiaries. In addition, we likely will depend the senior management of any significant busireesgeacquire in the future. The loss of
services of one or more of these key employeegéeie are able to attract and retain qualifiedaepinent personnel could adversely affect
our business.

We face product and service liability risks.

The products we sell or service may expoge petential liability for personal injury or prefty damage claims relating to the use of
those products. Manufacturers of the products Weyeaerally maintain product liability insurand&'e also maintain third-party product
liability insurance that we believe to be adequée.may experience claims that are not covered lilyat are in excess of our insurance
coverage. The institution of any significant claiagminst us could adversely affect our businesanfiial condition, and results of operations
as well as our business reputation with potentiatamers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impaicour operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulatiopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and local statutes, ordinances,
regulations. The failure to satisfy those and otkgulatory requirements could have a material esdveffect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatoggncies, including the Occupational Safety andthi@aministration, or OSHA, the United
States Environmental Protection Agency, or the Bl similar federal and local agencies, havedigi®n over the operation of our
dealerships, repair facilities, and other operatiavith respect to matters such as consumer piateetorkers’ safety, and laws regarding
protection of the environment, including air, watemd soil. The EPA recently promulgated emissiegsilations for outboard marine engines
that impose stricter emissions standards for twaegygasoline outboard marine engines. Emissiars Buch engines must be reduced by
approximately 75% over a nine-year period beginmiity the 1998 model year. Costs of comparable eegines, if materially more
expensive than previous engines, or the inabifityus manufacturers to comply with EPA requirementsild have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and resultsperations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate emglound storage tanks, or USTSs, for the storageabdus petroleum products. USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local land regulations that require testing and upgradiigSTs and remediation of contaminated
soils and groundwater resulting from leaking USmsaddition, we may be subject to civil liability third parties for remediation costs or
other damages if leakage from our owned or operdt&tis migrates onto the property of others.

Our business involves the use, handlingag®mrand contracting for recycling or disposalafdrdous or toxic substances or wastes,
including environmentally sensitive materials, sastmotor oil, waste motor oil and filters, transsion fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paint
and lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubrgastgreasing agents, gasoline, and diesel fuetordingly, we are subject to regulation by
federal, state, and local authorities establisimrgstigation and health and environmental qualigndards, and liability related thereto, and
providing penalties for violations of those staritar
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We also are subject to laws, ordinances ragdlations governing investigation and remediatibonontamination at facilities we operate
or to which we send hazardous or toxic substancesstes for treatment, recycling, or disposaparticular, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liaitty or CERCLA or Superfund, imposes joint, strad several liability on (i) owners
or operators of facilities at, from, or to whichedease of hazardous substances has occurregiitiigs who generated hazardous substances
that were released at such facilities; and (iifXipa who transported or arranged for the transgpiort of hazardous substances to such
facilities. A majority of states have adopted Sfyed statutes comparable to and, in some caseg, stringent than CERCLA. If we were to
be found to be a responsible party under CERCLA similar state statute, we could be held liabteafbinvestigative and remedial costs
associated with addressing such contaminationddiitian, claims alleging personal injury or progetamage may be brought against us as a
result of alleged exposure to hazardous substaesaling from our operations. In addition, certafrour retail locations are located on
waterways that are subject to federal or state tagslating navigable waters (including oil polartiprevention), fish and wildlife, and other
matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has bewwk to exist at certain properties owned or ledgeds. We have also been required and
may in the future be required to remove abovegramitiunderground storage tanks containing hazasltastances or wastes. As to certain
of our properties, specific releases of petrole@velbeen or are in the process of being remediatactordance with state and federal
guidelines. We are monitoring the soil and grountéwas required by applicable state and federaldimes. We also may have additional
storage tank liability insurance and “Superfundi@age where applicable. Environmental laws andlatigns are complex and subject to
frequent change. Compliance with amended, new e msimingent laws or regulations, stricter intetatiens of existing laws, or the future
discovery of environmental conditions may requildiional expenditures by us, and such expenditorag be material.

Two of the properties we own were historigalted as gasoline service stations. Remedialragtith respect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completaddordance with federal and state law. Also,afra@ur properties is within the boundaries
of a Superfund site, although our property hasheen identified as a contributor to the contamarain the area.

Additionally, certain states have requirec® considering requiring a license in order terafe a recreational boat. These regulations
could discourage potential buyers, thereby limifimigire sales and adversely affecting our busirfesacial condition, and results of
operations.

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are poed by diesel or gasoline engines. Consequemtlintarruption in the supply, or a significant
increase in the price or tax on the sale, of fiieh@egional or national basis could have a matadizerse effect on our sales and operating
results. At various times in the past, diesel @ojjae fuel has been difficult to obtain. The syppl fuels may be interrupted, rationing may
be imposed, or the price of or tax on fuels mayisicantly increase in the future.

We must evaluate goodwill for impairment.

Goodwill is an intangible asset that represéme difference between the aggregate purchase for the net assets acquired and the
amount of such purchase price allocated to suchsssts for purposes of our balance sheet. Througfiscal year ended September 30,
2001, we were required to amortize the goodwilirfracquisitions accounted for as purchases overiadpef time, with the amount amortiz
in a particular period constituting an expense thdtced our net income for that period. As of 8eliter 30, 2001, our acquisitions that have
been accounted for as purchases have resultedbdwgbof approximately $42.6 million, which we weamortizing over a period of
40 years.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsi@oard issued Statement of Financial Accourfitepdards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142 provides thaidyull and certain intangibles no longer will be emized, but instead will be tested for
impairment at least annually. SFAS 142 is requiceble applied starting with fiscal years beginrafigr December 15, 2001, with early
application
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permitted in certain circumstances. We plan toyeaabpt SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002 and do not expegtimpairment of goodwill upon
adoption. Accumulated amortization of goodwill veasproximately $2.6 million at September 30, 2001.

A reduction in net income resulting from thgairment of goodwill may have an adverse impgaruthe market price of our common
stock. Impairment in the goodwill or regulatoryiantthat changes the impairment testing methodqlogpuires amortization, or a write-off
of goodwill may materially and adversely affect fi@ancial position of our company.

Conflicts exist relating to transactions with affiiates.

We have various arrangements that may invodwilicts of interest. We lease two retail locasdrom an irrevocable trust of which
relatives of Louis R. Del[Homme Jr., a principalcktioolder of our company, are the beneficiaries; fand retail locations from partnerships
which Paul Graham Stovall, a director and executifieer of our company, is an owner. These arramg@s were negotiated in conjunction
with the acquisition of their respective compani@sring fiscal 2000, we purchased from Mr. Basgaiticipal stockholder, a director, and
executive officer of our company, land for the mgp of constructing a retail sales operation. We ph. Bassett $3.0 million for the
property, which was equal to the appraised fairketavalue of the property. The interests of dirextar officers of our company or holders of
more than 5% of our common stock, in their indidtcapacities or capacities with related third-paritities, may conflict with the interests
of these persons in their capacities with our camgpa

Directors, officers, and certain other stockholdersown a significant portion of our stock.

Our directors and executive officers and pessassociated with them own beneficially a totapproximately 38.6% of the issued and
outstanding shares of our common stock, exclusiwptions to acquire 650,267 additional sharesusfammmon stock. As a result of this
ownership, these persons have the power effectteatpntrol our company, including the electiordokctors, the determination of matters
requiring stockholder approval, and other mattersgining to corporate governance. This concewninatf ownership also may have the ef
of delaying or preventing a change in control of company.

We, Brunswick, and various of our senior exee officers are parties to a stockholdeagieement, and we and Brunswick are partie:
governance agreement, each dated April 28, 1998e8&to certain limitations, the stockholders’egment provides various rights of first
refusal on the sale of shares of common stock éy#ities to the agreement, particularly in thenetleat Brunswick does not own its targe
investment percentage of 19% of our common stodikeatime of the proposed sale or in the evenptbposed sale is to a competitor of
Brunswick. The governance agreement provides faous terms and conditions concerning Brunswiclddipipation in the corporate
governance of our company. Among other provisiarssubject to certain conditions, the governanceegent requires Brunswick and our
senior executives to vote their common stock fanimees of the board of directors in the electiodicéctors and to vote their common stock
in favor of all proposals and recommendations apguidy our board of directors and submitted tote wd our stockholders.

As a result, the stockholders’ agreementthadjovernance agreement will have the effect@kiasing the control of our directors,
executive officers, and persons associated wittnthed may have the effect of delaying or prevendimipange in control of our company.

Our stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock could be stiwide fluctuations as a result of many fact@iactors that could affect the trad
price include the following:

« variations in operating results,
* the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store openings,
« variations in same-store sales,
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« the success of dealership integration,
« relationships with manufacturers,
 changes in earnings estimates published by analysts
« general economic, political, and market conditions,
« seasonality and weather conditions,
« governmental policies and regulations,
« the performance of the recreational boat industryeneral, and
« factors relating to suppliers and competitors.

In addition, the relatively few shares hejdthe public, market demand for small- and mid-tjziation stocks, and price and volume
fluctuations in the stock market unrelated to cenfgrmance could result in significant fluctuatiananarket price of our common stock. The
performance of our common stock could adverselgcafbur ability to raise equity in the public maikand adversely affect our acquisition
program.

Stockholders may incur immediate and substantial diution.

The issuance of additional common stock in therfytincluding shares that we may issue pursuaoption grants and future acquisitio
may result in dilution in the net tangible bookuelbper share of our common stock. Our board otttire has the legal power and authority to
determine the terms of an offering of shares ofaayital stock, or securities convertible into rcleangeable for these shares, to the extent of
our shares of authorized and unissued capital stock

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fuire sale.

As of September 30, 2001, there were outatgntb,221,378 shares of our common stock. A poribthese shares are freely tradable
without restriction or further registration undbetsecurities laws, unless held by an “affiliatébor company, as that term is defined in
Rule 144 under the securities laws. Shares hekliffbiates of our company are subject to the reaiéations of Rule 144 described below.
Outstanding shares of common stock issued in caimmewith the acquisition of any acquired dealaws available for resale beginning one
year after the respective dates of the acquisitisusject to compliance with the provisions of Ridigl under the securities lav

As of September 30, 2001, we had issued optio purchase approximately 2,273,209 sharesroframn stock under our 1998 incentive
stock plan and 149,377 of the 500,000 shares ofraamstock reserved for issuance under our 1998@maplstock purchase plan. We have
filed a registration statement under the securities to register the common stock to be issuecutigese plans. As a result, shares issued
under these plans will be freely tradable withastriction unless acquired by affiliates of our gamy, who will be subject to the volume ¢
other limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefepred stock under the securities laws as pahgfacquisition we may complete
the future. Pursuant to Rule 145 under the seeariiws, these shares generally will be freelyaobelafter their issuance by persons not
affiliated with us or the acquired companies.

We rely on our operating subsidiaries.

We are a holding company, the principal ass&tvhich are the shares of the capital stockuofsnibsidiaries, including the operating
subsidiaries. As a holding company without indegenidneans of generating operating revenue, we depeuividends and other payments
from our subsidiaries to fund our obligations anekitnour cash needs. Financial covenants undeeefidan agreements of our subsidiaries
may limit our subsidiaries’ ability to make sufieit dividend or other payments to permit us to fandobligations or meet our cash needs, in
whole or in part.
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We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our comstock and do not anticipate paying cash dividendhe foreseeable future. Moreover,
financial covenants under certain of our creditlittes restrict our ability to pay dividends.

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affecexisting stockholders.

During September 2001, we adopted a StockgldRights Plan that may have the effect of detgridelaying, or preventing a change in
control that might otherwise be in the best interye$ our stockholders. Under the Rights Plan,sgeeéd a dividend of one Preferred Share
Purchase Right for each share of our common steltklhy stockholders of record as of the close afriss on September 7, 2001. Each |
entitles stockholders to purchase, at an exercise pf $50 per share, one-thousandth of a shaoeirofiewly created Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock.

In general, subject to certain limited ex¢mm, the stock purchase rights become exerciselidd® a person or group acquires 15% or
more of our common stock or a tender offer or ergeaoffer for 15% or more of our common stock is@mced or commenced. After any
such event, our other stockholders may purchasgi@uhl shares of our common stock at 50% of thentburrent market price. The rights
will cause substantial dilution to a person or grthat attempts to acquire us on terms not approyeslr board of directors. The rights
should not interfere with any merger or other besincombination approved by our board of direcorse the rights may be redeemed by us
at $0.01 per stock purchase right at any time leedioly person or group acquires 15% or more of atgtanding common stock. The rights
expire on August 28, 2001.

Change in control provisions may adversely affecbeésting stockholders.

Certain provisions of our restated certifécaf incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law make a change in the control of our
company more difficult to complete, even if a chaungcontrol were in the stockholders’ interestroght result in a premium over the market
price for the shares held by the stockholders.d@ttificate of incorporation and bylaws divide theard of directors into three classes of
directors elected for staggered three-year terins.cErtificate of incorporation also provides ttiat board of directors may authorize the
issuance of one or more series of preferred stack fime to time and may determine the rights, gnezices, privileges, and restrictions and
fix the number of shares of any such series ofgpredl stock, without any vote or action by our ktmiders. The board of directors may
authorize the issuance of preferred stock withngptir conversion rights that could adversely affeetvoting power or other rights of the
holders of common stock. The certificate of incogtion also allows our board of directors to fie thumber of directors and to fill vacancies
on the board of directors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover igions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Catfan Law, which prohibits us from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “ieted stockholder” for a period of three yearsrdfte date of the transaction in which the
person became an “interested stockholder,” unlessuisiness combination is approved in a prescrifther. The senior executives of the
five original acquired dealers and Stovall Marilme, were exempted from the application of SecH#08.

Certain of our dealer agreements could alakenit difficult for a third party to attempt toqdre a significant ownership position in our
company. In addition, the stockholders’ agreemadtgovernance agreement will have the effect akiasing the control of our directors,
executive officers, and persons associated witinthied may have the effect of delaying or prevengimpange in control of our company.

Item 2.  Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwdttrida. We also lease 36 of our retail locatiander leases that generally contain multi-year
renewal options and often grant us a first rightedfisal to purchase the property at fair valuallisuch cases, we pay a fixed rent at
negotiated rates. In substantially all of the lease
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locations, we are responsible for taxes, utilitissurance, and routine repairs and maintenanceowviethe property associated with our

17 other retail locations.

The following table reflects the status, apgmate size, and facilities of our various retadations as of the date of this report.

Owned or Square Facilities Operated
Location Leased Footage(1) at Property Since(2) Waettfront
Arizona
Tempe Company
owned 34,00( Retail and servic 1992 —
California
Oakland Third-party Retail and service; 20 wet Alameda Estuary
lease 17,70( slips 198t (San Francisco Ba
Santa Rosa Third-party
lease 8,10( Retail and servic 199( —
Sacramento Company
owned 24.,80( Retail and servic 199t —
Sacramento (River Bend) Third-party Retail and service; 20 wet
(floating facility) lease 50C slips 199¢ Sacramento Rive
Tower Park (near San Francisco) Third-party
lease 40C Retail only 199¢ Sacramento Rive
Delaware
Bear Third-party Retail and service; 15 wet
lease 5,00( slips 199t Chesapeake Bz
Florida
Clearwater Company Retail and service; 16 wet
owned 42,00( slips 197: Tampa Bay
Cocoa Company
owned 15,00( Retail and servic 196¢ —
Dania Company Repair and service; 16 wet
owned 32,00(¢ slips 1991 Port Everglade
Dania Third-party
lease 3,50( Retail only; 8 wet slip: 2001 Port Everglade
Ft. Lauderdale Third-party Retail and service; 15 wet Intracoastal
lease 2,40( slips 1971 Waterway
Fort Myers Third-party Retail and service; 18 wet Caloosahatchee
lease 8,00( slips 198: River
Jacksonville Third-party
lease 1,00C Retail only; 7 wet slip: 199t St. Johns Rive
Miami Company Retail and service; 15 wet Intracoastal
owned 7,20C slips 198( Waterway
Naples Company Retail and service; 13 wet
owned 19,60( slips 1997 Naples Bay
Palm Beach Company Intracoastal
owned 22,80( Retail and service; 8 wet slij| 199¢ Waterway
Pompano Beach Company Retail and service; 16 wet Intracoastal
owned 23,00( slips 199( Waterway
Stuart(3) Company Retail and service; 60 wet Intracoastal
owned 6,70( slips 199/ Waterway
Tampa Company
owned 13,10( Retail and servic 199t —
Georgia
Buford (Atlanta) Third-party
lease 8,50( Retail and servic 2001 —
Forest Park (Atlante Affiliate lease 47,30( Retail and servic 197: —
Lake Lanier Retail and service; 50 wet
Affiliate lease 3,00(¢ slips 1981 Lake Laniet
Minnesota
Bay Port Third-party
lease 45C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢ St. Croix River
Rogers Company
owned 70,00( Retail, service, and stora 1991 —
Walker Company
owned 76,40( Retail, service, and stora 198¢ —
Walker Retail and service; 93 w

Company



Woodbury

Nevada
Las Vegas

New Jersey
Brick

owned
Third-party
lease

Company
owned

Company
owned

6,80(

13,39:

21,60(

20,00(¢

31

slips

Retail and servic

Retail and servic

Retail and service; 225 wet
slips

1971

1997

199(C

1971

Leech Lake

Manasquan Rive
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Owned or Square Facilities Operated
Location Leased Footage(1) at Property Since(2) Waettfront
Brant Beach Third-party Retail and service; 36 wet
lease 3,80( slips 196¢ Barnegat Ba
Delran Third-party Retail, service, and storage;
lease 5,10C 335 slips 199( Delaware Rive
Greenbrook Third-party
lease 18,50( Retail and servic 199t —
Jersey City Third-party
lease 50C Retail only; 6 wet slip: 200( Hudson Rive
Lake Hopatcong Third-party Retail and service; 80 wet
lease 4,60( slips 199¢ Lake Hopatcon
Ship Bottom Third-party
lease 19,30( Retail and servic 1972 —
Somers Point Third-party Retail and service; 33 wet Little Egg Harbor
lease 31,00(¢ slips 1987 Bay
North Carolina
Wrightsville Beach Intracoastal
Affiliate lease 34,52 Retall, service, and stora 199¢ Waterway
Ohio
Cleveland (Flats) Third-party
lease 19,00( Retail and servic 199¢ Lake Erie
Port Clinton Retall, service, and storage;
Affiliate lease 63,70( 155 Wet slips 1974 Lake Erie
Port Clinton Affiliate lease 93,25( Retail, service, and stora 1997 Lake Erie
Toledo Affiliate lease 12,24( Retail and servic 198¢ —
South Carolina
Myrtle Beach Third-party
lease 50C Retail only 199¢ Coquina Harbo
Texas
Arlington Third-party
lease 21,00¢( Retail and servic 199¢ —
Houston Affiliate lease 10,00¢( Retail only(4) 1987 —
Houston Affiliate lease 10,00¢( Retail only(4) 1981 —
Houston Third-party
lease 10,00( Service only 199¢ —
League City (floating Facility) Third-party Retail and service; 30 wet
(5) lease 80C slips 198¢ Clear Lake
Lewisville (Dallas) Third-party
lease 10,00( Retail and servic 1992 Lake Lewisville
Lewisville (Dallas) (floating Third-party
facility) lease 50C Retail only; 20 wet slips(€ 199/ Lake Lewisville
Montgomery (floating Facility) Third-party
lease 60C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199t Lake Conroe
Utah
Salt Lake City Third-party
lease 21,20¢ Retail and servic 197¢ —

(1) Square footage does not include outside sales spatmck or marina facilities

(2) Operated since date is the date the facility waneg by us or a company acquired by

(3) The Stuart retail property consists of two parcedssh of which is owned by a separate, wholly owswdakidiary of our compan

(4) Service performed at Houston service center lebgads.

(5) We own the floating facility, however, the relatock and marina space is leased by us from aniliatfd third party

(6) Shares service facility located at the other LeWllesvetail location.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding



We are involved in various legal proceediagsing out of our operations in the ordinary ceun§ business. We do not believe that such
proceedings, even if determined adversely, willhawmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition, or results of operations.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.
PART II
ltem 5. Market for the Registrant’'s Common Equity and Redat Stockholder Matters

Our common stock has been traded on the Nexlkk Stock Exchange under the symbol HZO since witial public offering on June 3,
1998 at $12.50 per share. The following table feth high and low sale prices of the common stiocleach calendar quarter indicated as
reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low
1999
First quartel $12.7¢  $ 8.0C
Second quarte $12.1:  $10.6:
Third quartel $12.0C $ 9.3¢
Fourth quarte $981 $85C
High Low
2000
First quartel $11.0C $9.2¢
Second quarte $9.94  $7.0C
Third quartel $ 8.1  $6.7%
Fourth quarte $ 6.7¢  $4.8¢
High Low
2001
First quartel $8.62 $5.62
Second quarte $9.9¢ $7.3C
Third quarte! $9.41 $6.0C
Fourth quarter (through December 13, 2C $8.1¢ $6.31

On December 13, 2001, the closing sale mricaur common stock was $8.15 per share. On Decetr#)&2001, there were approximately
134 record holders and approximately 2,600 bergftaivners of our common stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table contains certain financial akrating data and is qualified by the more dedailensolidated financial statements
notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. Gdlance sheet data as of September 30, 1997, 1998, 2000, and 2001 and the
statements of operations data for the nine montisa September 30, 1997, and the fiscal years eédejgmber 30, 1998, 1999, 2000, and
2001 were derived from the consolidated finandiaesnents and notes thereto that have been admjitAdhur Andersen LLP, independent
certified public accountants. The statement of afiens data for the nine months ended September9®® has been derived from the
unaudited financial statements of our company, Wwiie believe have been prepared on the same Isasie audited financial statements and
include all adjustments, consisting of normal reiogradjustments, which we consider necessary fairgresentation of the selected
financial data shown. The financial data shown Wwedbould be read in conjunction with the
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consolidated financial statements and the relatéelsrthereto and “ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults
of Operations” included elsewhere in this report.

Nine Months Ended Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, September 30,
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Statement of Operations Date:

Revenue $156,61. $200,41- $ 291,18. $ 450,05¢ $ 550,65 $ 504,07:
Cost of sale: 117,51« 150,47! 220,36« 338,40: 419,08( 383,98
Gross profit 39,09° 49,93 70,81¢ 111,65! 131,57: 120,08
Selling, general, and administrative exper 25,37¢ 30,38¢ 52,47¢ 79,48¢ 92,52( 92,73¢
Non-recurring settlement(’ — — 15,00( — — —
Income from operatior 13,71¢ 19,54° 3,33¢ 32,17: 39,05« 27,35
Interest expense, n 1,45¢ 1,80¢ 2,212 2,04( 4,127 2,39¢
Income before tax provision (benet 12,26¢ 17,74: 1,127 30,13: 34,92% 24,957
Tax provision (benefit 661 59¢ 1,70t 11,97¢ 13,53¢ 9,60¢
Net income (loss $ 11,608 $ 17,14¢ $ (677 $ 18,15 $ 21,39 $  15,34¢
| | | | | |
Net income (loss) per share: Diluted $ 0.05) $ 121 % 141  $ 1.01
.| .| .| .|
Weighted average number of shares: Dilute 11,027,94 14,964,72 15,204,18 15,238,71
| | | |
Other Data:
Number of stores(¢ 23 24 40 51 52 53
Sales per store(: $ 7027 $ 872z $ 11,26¢ $ 1293t $ 14,05¢ $ 12,38
Same-store sales growth( 8% 28% 18% 18% 20% (9)%
September 30,
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $23,55¢ $ 29,08( $ 28,35 $ 40,85 $ 47,44
Total asset 89,59 150,45t 235,75: 231,33( 264,49(
Long-term debt (including current portio 7,414 3,692 7,52( 6,28( 6,42
Total stockholder equity 23,29¢ 66,33: 90,23« 112,34( 127,69:

(1) On March 12, 1998, we and Brunswick enteréa anSettlement Agreement under which Brunswiclkeadmot to challenge the change
in control provisions of the acquired companiedelship agreements and we agreed to pay BrunswlislO$million.

(2) We have elected to present historical peresHata for the fiscal years ended September 3@, 1939, 2000, and 2001 only, as the per
share data for the other periods is not meanirdyialto changes in the historical equity structume @mpensation paid to stockholder
employees

(3) Includes only those stores open at period
(4) Includes only those stores open for the entireqaigg) 1:- or nine-month period, respectivel
(5) New and acquired stores are included in the corbpaimse at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of operatior
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ltem 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionnd Results of Operation

We are the largest recreational boat retailéine United States with fiscal 2001 revenue eglaey $504 million. Through 53 retail
locations in 13 states, we sell new and used riéored boats and related marine products, inclugingines, trailers, parts, and accessories.
We also arrange related boat financing, insurasee extended warranty contracts; provide boat repal maintenance services; and offer
yacht or boat brokerage servic

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998.Nslve significantly expanded our operations thinathg acquisition of 16 recreational
boat dealers, two boat brokerage operations, aadulrservice yacht repair facility since our faation. As a part of our acquisition strategy,
we frequently engage in discussions with variogsa@tional boat dealers regarding their potentiglasition by us. Potential acquisition
discussions frequently take place over a long pesfdime and involve difficult business integratiand other issues, including in some ce
management succession and related matters. Asllaotthese and other factors, a number of paaéatquisitions that from time to time
appear likely to occur do not result in bindingdeggreements and are not consummated.

During the fiscal year ended September 3012@e completed the acquisition of one fdirvice yacht repair facility. We acquired the
assets, including the assumption of certain liakgdiand related property and buildings, for appmately $5.6 million in cash, including
acquisition costs. The acquisition was accountedifiaer the purchase method of accounting.

During the fiscal year ended September 3002@e completed the acquisition of two recreatidmoat dealers. We acquired the net assets
and assumed or retired certain liabilities, inchgdihe outstanding floor plan obligations relatedéw boat inventories, for approximately
$4.8 million in cash, including acquisition costhiese acquisitions were accounted for under thehaise method of accounting.

During the fiscal year ended September 3091%e completed the acquisition of three recreafiboat dealers and one boat brokerage
operation. We acquired the net assets and assunmetired certain liabilities, including the outsthng floor plan obligations related to new
boat inventories, for approximately $4.6 milliondash, including acquisition costs, 597,090 shafesir common stock, valued at
approximately $6.2 million, and $3.5 million in pnissory notes.

Each of the Acquired Companies historicafigiated with a calendar year-end, but adopted epéegber 30 year-end of MarineMax on
or before the completion of its acquisition. Th@®eber 30 year-end more closely conforms to therabbusiness cycle of our company.
The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our consolidated financial statements|uding the related notes thereto,
appearing elsewhere in this report.

We derive our revenue from selling new aneblugcreational boats and related marine prodanisnging third-party financing,
insurance, and extended warranty products; progidivat repair and maintenance services; and offériat and yacht brokerage services.
Revenue from boat or related marine product shalest repair and maintenance services, and boatabit yprokerage services is recognized at
the time the product is delivered to the custonmehe service is completed. Revenue earned byrumfanging financing, insurance, and
extended warranty products is recognized at thee tftcustomer acceptance of the service conteagtst as evidenced by contract execution,
or when the related boat sale is recognized.

Cost of sales generally includes the coshefrecreational boat or other marine product, plusadditional labor, parts or consumables
used in providing maintenance, repair, and riggiexyices.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain fin@l@ata as a percentage of revenue for the peinalisated:

1999
2000
Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2001
Revenue $450,05¢ 100.(% $550,65: 100.(% $504,07: 100.(%
Cost of sale: 338,40: 75.2%  419,08( 76.1% 383,98« 76.2%
Gross profit 111,65! 24.8%  131,57: 23.9% 120,08 23.8%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 79,48¢ 17.7% 92,52( 16.£% 92,73¢ 18.4%
Income from operatior 32,171 7.2% 39,05« 7.1% 27,35 5.4%
Interest expense, n 2,04( 0.5% 4,127 0.8% 2,39¢ 0.4%
Income before tax provisic 30,13! 6.7% 34,927 6.3% 24,957 5.C%
Income tax provisiol 11,97¢ 2.€% 13,53¢ 2.5% 9,60¢ 1.%%
Net Income $ 18,15: 4C% $ 21,39! 3.9% $ 15,34¢ 3.C%
| | | | | |

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2001 Compared sz&li Year Ended September 30, 2(

RevenueRevenue decreased $46.6 million, or 8.5%, to $504llion for the fiscal year ended September 3@2Grom $550.7 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2000. Beeedise was attributable to a decline in the ecanenvironment in the current year and
adverse weather conditions in certain of our ofpggaegions. These factors resulted in a 9% dedfirsamestore sales, or a revenue decr¢
of $49.8 million, partially offset by, $3.2 milliorelated to stores not eligible for inclusion i ttomparable-store base.

Gross Profit.Gross profit decreased $11.5 million, or 8.7%,1@Ck1 million for the fiscal year ended Septemtr2D01 from
$131.6 million for the fiscal year ended Septen:r2000. Gross profit margin as a percentagewafmee decreased from 23.9% to 23.8%
from fiscal 2000 to 2001. The slight decrease wsgmprofit margin was attributable to an increasthé sale of larger products, which
historically yield lower gross profits per unit addwnward pressure on the sales price of our pitsdiie to the generally worse economic
environment. The decrease in gross profit margis paatially offset by an increase in service andiice and insurance income. These
products historically yield higher gross profits.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expen$sdling, general, and administrative expenses asge approximately $200,000, or 0.2%,
to $92.7 million for the fiscal year ended Septengik 2001 from $92.5 million for the fiscal yearded September 30, 2000. Selling,
general, and administrative expenses as a pereeafagvenue increased to 18.4% in fiscal 2001 fi@n8% in fiscal 2000. The increase in
selling, general, and administrative expensesms@ntage of revenue is attributable to a weakaraging of the operating expense
structure, due to the decrease in revenue. Additipnwhile our service operations yield higher ggqrofits they also carry a higher selling,
general and administrative expense structure.

Interest Expense, Néhterest expense, net decreased approximatelyn§illian, or 41.5%, to $2.4 million for the fiscabgr ended
September 30, 2001 from $4.1 million for the fisgaar ended September 30, 2000. Interest expeesasma percentage of revenue, decre
to 0.4% in 2001 from 0.8% in 2000. The decreadetal interest charges was the result of a morerthle interest rate environment during
the year ended September 2001 versus 2000 andeshangur product mix.

Income Tax Provisiorincome taxes decreased $3.9 million, or 29.0%9t6 #illion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZm1, from
$13.5 million for the fiscal year ended Septemtzr2)00. Our effective income tax rate remainedtigtly constant at 38.5% in 2001 and
38.7% in 2000.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2000 Compared Wwitltal Year Ended September 30, 1999

RevenueRevenue increased $100.6 million, or 22.4%, to $b5tlllion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZmO0 from $450.1 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1999. Bfiticrease, $84.0 million was attributable to 2§fdwth in comparable store sales in 2000
and $16.6 million was attributable to stores naikle for inclusion in the comparable store ba&w®e increase in comparable store sales in
fiscal 2000 resulted primarily from the continuegining of employees through MarineMax UniversityMiMU. MMU teaches our core
retailing values, which focus among other thingsostomer service. We believe our training hasltedin an increased closing rate on sales
and a more effective utilization of the prospectiustomer tracking feature of the integrated comipsystem. In addition, we have
experienced an increase in larger boat sales,asisport yacht and yachts.

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $19.9 million, or 17.8%$131.6 million for the fiscal year ended Septen@@&r2000 from
$111.7 million for the fiscal year ended Septen:r1999. Gross profit margin as a percentagewafmee decreased from 24.8% to 23.9%
from fiscal 1999 to 2000. The decrease was dua fo@ease in our larger boat sales which histtiyicasult in lower gross profits. Excludi
our larger boat sales, gross profit was up modestly

Selling, General, and Administrative Expensdlling, general, and administrative expenses asme approximately $13.0 million, or
16.4%, to $92.5 million for the fiscal year endexp@mber 30, 2000 from $79.5 million for the fisgahr ended September 30, 1999. Selling,
general, and administrative expenses as a pereeafagvenue decreased to 16.8% in fiscal 2000 f@17% in fiscal 1999. The decrease in
selling, general and administrative expenses as@eptage of revenue is attributable to our abitithetter leverage our infrastructure,
including leverage associated with an increasesimarger boat business.

Interest Expense, Néhterest expense, net increased approximatelyéfllibn, or 102.3%, to $4.1 million for the fiscpéar ended
September 30, 2000 from $2.0 million for the fisga&r ended September 30, 1999. Interest expeesasma percentage of revenue increased
to 0.8% in fiscal 2000 from 0.5% in fiscal 1999.€Tihcrease in total interest charges was the resiritreased interest rates associated with
our inventory financing facilities.

Income Tax Provisiorincome taxes increased $1.5 million, or 13.0%,18.9% million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZfO0, from
$12.0 million for the fiscal year ended Septemt&ri®99. Our effective income tax rate decreasé@B1d% in 2000, from 39.8% in 1999.
The decrease in the effective income tax rate éstda implementation of certain tax planning styte during 2000.

Quarterly Data and Seasonality

The following table sets forth certain unaudite@derly financial data for each of our last eighaigers. The information has been der
from unaudited financial statements that we beli@flect all adjustments,
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consisting only of normal recurring adjustmentgassary for the fair presentation of such quartémgncial information.

The operating results for any quarter arengoessarily indicative of the results to be exgeéor any future period.

December 31, March 31, June 30, September 30, Dedman 31, March 31, June 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2000 2000 2000 2001 2001 2001
Revenue $ 93,51 $ 155,24($ 174,54 $ 127,35( $ 84,77 $ 143,22: $ 165,69« $ 110,37t
Cost of sales 72,77 122,46: 131,92 91,92( 64,44( 112,71¢ 127,30: 79,52¢
Gross profit 20,74: 32,77¢ 42,62: 35,43( 20,337 30,50¢ 38,39: 30,85:
Selling, general, and
administrative expenst 18,73¢ 25,41: 24,94¢ 23,427 21,067 24,77¢ 24,39( 22,50:
Income (loss) from Operations 2,00¢ 7,361 17,67¢ 12,00: (730 5,73( 14,00: 8,35(
Interest expense (income), net 1,18( 1,37¢ 1,01¢ 55C 28¢ 57¢ 732 79¢€
Income (loss) before tax
provision 828 5,98¢ 16,657 11,45 (1,019 5,151 13,27 7,55¢
Tax provision (benefit) 351 2,367 6,35( 4,46¢ (373 2,01t 5,05¢ 2,90¢
Net income (loss $ 477 $ 3,62 $ 10,300 $ 6,981 $ (64¢) $ 3,13¢ $ 8,21¢ $ 4,64¢
— I — — I —
Net income (loss) per shal
Diluted $ 0.0z $ 024 $ 0.6¢ $ 0.4¢€ $ (0.04) $ 021% 0.54 $ 0.3C
— I — — I —
Weighted average number of
shares:
Diluted 15,180,21 15,192,73 15,218,62 15,221,78 15,250,022 15,195,81 15,231,29 15,255,30
— I — — I —

In order to maintain consistency and compétabetween periods, certain amounts have beelassified from the previously reported
financial statements to conform with the finangttements of the current period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working talfb support operations, including new and useat bnd related parts inventories, off-
season liquidity, and growth through acquisitiond aew store openings. These cash needs haveidasiiobeen financed with cash from
operations and borrowings under credit facilit& depend upon dividends and other payments franogerating subsidiaries to fund our
obligations and meet our cash needs. Currentlagneements exist that restrict this flow of funds.

For the fiscal years ended September 30,,12830, and 2001, we generated cash flows fromatipgractivities of approximately
$15.1 million, $15.8 million, and $9.6 million, y@ectively. In addition to net income, cash provitigdperating activities was due primarily
to inventory management, including the managemgimventory financing.

For the fiscal years ended September 30,1283, and 2001, cash flows used in investing/iiets was approximately $14.4 million,
$10.9 million, and $14.4 million, respectively. Gassed in investing activities was primarily attrtiable to cash used in business acquisitions
in addition to purchases of property and equipnassbciated with opening new or improving existietit facilities.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 4882000, cash flows used in financing activiipproximated $0.2 million and
$0.6 million, respectively. For the fiscal year eddSeptember 30, 2001 cash flows provided by fimgnactivities approximated $2.2 millic
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 1999 @d@d @ash used in financing activities was primaaityibutable to repayments on loteym
debt. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2&h flows provided by financing activities refléfee proceeds from borrowing on long-
term debt, a mortgage, which was partially offsethe repayment of long-term debt.

At September 30, 2000, our indebtednessem@pproximately $106.6 million, of which approxieisg $8.6 million was associated with
our real estate holdings and $98.0 million was @ased with financing our inventory and working &apneeds.
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We have working capital borrowing facilitiegth four separate financial institutions providifagy combined borrowing availability of
$235 million at a weighed average interest rateaktuthe one month LIBOR rate plus 165 basis goiBbrrowings under the facilities are
pursuant to a borrowing base formula and are usethgly for working capital and financing our inm®ry. The facilities have similar terms
and mature on various dates ranging from Decemb@t through December 2002.

We have obtained commitments from four sepdiaancial institutions for a combined revolviagedit facility. The combined facility
will provide for a maximum borrowing availabilityf 220 million and will have a thregear term with renewal provisions. The participan
the combined facility are the same lenders we ldilized historically. Interest will accrue at aeaqual to the one-month LIBOR rate
plus 175 to 260 basis points, which will be deterdi in accordance with a performance pricing goidtained in the agreement. The terms
and conditions of the proposed combined facilit}f & substantially similar to the terms and coiodis of our current facilities.

During the fiscal years ended September 89912000, and 2001 we completed the acquisitiseeén marine retail operations. We
acquired the net assets, related property andibgddand assumed or retired certain liabilitiesluding the outstanding floor plan obligations
related to new boat inventories, for approximagl$.0 million in cash, including acquisition co$i87,090 shares of our common stock,
valued at approximately $6.2 million, and $3.5 moillin promissory notes.

Except as specified in this “Management’schgsion and Analysis of Financial Condition, andutes of Operations” and in the attached
consolidated financial statements, we have no nehtymmitments for capital for the next 12 mont& believe that our existing capital
resources will be sufficient to finance our operasi for at least the next 12 months, except fosiptes significant acquisitions.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

Not applicable.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the financial statemémtsnotes thereto, and the report thereon, coroimgion page F-1 of this report, which
financial statement, notes, and report are incatedrherein by reference.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants orcéganting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
PART IlI
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item relatito our directors is incorporated herein by refeecto the definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé f&c our 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Tihf®rmation required by this Item
relating to our executive officers included in “Busss — Executive Officers.”

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive BrBtatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2002 AahMeeting of Stockholders.
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Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atitnagement

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive Rr8iatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2002 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive Rr8iatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2002 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

PART IV
Item 14.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Repoon Form 8-K
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Sedules
(1) Financial Statements are listed in ttekto Consolidated Financial Statements on pagj@tthis report.

(2) No financial statement schedules areuthetl because such schedules are not applicableotarequired, or because required
information is included in the consolidated finaiatatements or notes thereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 25,1208dicated in Iltem 9 the Company’s outlook foe tfuarter ended September 30, 2001 anc
fiscal year ending September 30, 2002.

Current Report on Form 8-K dated Septemb&08@1, contained in Iltem 5 a press release issydldebCompany announcing the adoption
of its Stockholders’ Rights Plan.

(c) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Exhibit

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to d

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis!

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stoc

Specimen of Stock Certifica

Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweersRagt and American Stock Transfer & Trust Comparsy

PP owwow
N = (DN =

Rights Agent(3’

10.1(a Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgqrissubsidiary and Bassett Boat Company of Floaidd Richard
Bassett(1

10.1(b Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiqrissubsidiary and 11502 Dumas, Inc. d/b/a LousHdmme
Marine and its stockholders(

10.1(c Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgrissubsidiary and Gulfwind USA, Inc. and its &tbolders(1)

10.1(d Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgprissubsidiary and Gulfwind South, Inc. and itscgholders(1

10.1(e Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and Harrison’s Boat Center, Ind ds
stockholders(1

10.1(f) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and HarrisasMarine Centers of Arizona, Inc. ¢

its stockholders(1
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit

10.1(g Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgqrissubsidiary and Stovall Marine, Inc. and itsckholders(1

10.1(h Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among i#\iiax, Inc.,
C & N Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of MarineMdxrgc.), C & N Marine Corporation and the Stockhaklramed
therein(2)

10.1(i) Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iviiax, Inc.,
Cochrans Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of Marireeiinc.), Cochrans Marine, Inc. and the Stockhsldemed
therein(2)

10.1()) Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant argdne Cove Marina, Inc.(

10.2(a Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsat Company and its owner(

10.2(b Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsalty, L.L.C. and its owner(

10.2(c Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Gatiwsouth Realty, L.L.C. and its owners

10.2(d Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Har's Realty, L.L.C. and its owners(

10.2(e Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Har's Realty California, L.L.C. and its owners

10.3(a Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillianMcGill Jr.(1)

10.3(b. Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(1)

10.3(c Employment Agreement between Registrant and RicRaBlassett(1

10.3(d Employment Agreement between Registrant and Paha@n Stovall(1

10.3(e Employment Agreement between Registrant and Daviddchran(4

10.3(f) Employment Agreement between Registrant and Davilretasky(4

10.4 1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeeitb, 200(
10.t 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai
10.€ Settlement Agreement between Brunswick Corporatiwh Registrant(1
10.7 Letter of Intent between Registrant and Stova
10.¢ Restated Agreement Relating to the Purchase ofridistax Common Stock between Registrant and Brunswick
Corporation, dated as of April 28, 1998
10.€ StockholdersAgreement among Registrant, Brunswick Corporatéam Senior Founders of Registrant, dated Apri
1998(1)
10.12(C Governance Agreement between Registrant and Brekg@orporation, dated April 28, 1998(
10.11 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteend Brunswick Corporation, dated April 28, 199¢
10.1z Form of Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreeme
10.1: Loan and Security Agreement between RegistraniNatibnsCredit Distribution Finance, Inc.(
10.1¢ Guaranty and Security Agreement of NationsCreditfiibiution Finance, Inc.(J
10.1¢ Guaranty and Security Agreement of NationsCreditiidiution Finance, Inc. by Stovall Marine, Inc.
10.1¢€ Credit Facility and Security Agreement, Accountd dmventory between the Registrant and Key Bankddat
Association(5
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LL

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterorrform -1 (Registration 3z-47873).

(2) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K dated July 7, 1998, as filed on July 20, 1¢
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®)
(4)
®)
(6)

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K Report dated September 30, 1998, as filed onl&2ctd0, 1998
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1998, as fieDecember 9, 199
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1999, as fieBecember 29 199
Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterapriorm A as filed on September 5, 20(
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of Sleeurities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrastdwdy caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

MARINEMAX;, INC.

/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR.

William H. McGill Jr.,
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 19, 2001

In accordance with the Securities ExchangeofAd934, this report has been signed below byidhewing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dalieated.

Signature Capacity Date

/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR. Chairman of the Board, and December 19, 20(

Chief Executive Officer

William H. McGill Jr.
(Principal Executive Officer

/sl MICHAEL H. MCLAMB Vice President, Chief Financial December 19, 20(

Officer, Treasurer, and Secretary

Michael H. McLamb

(Principal Accounting and
Financial Officer)

/sl RICHARD R. BASSETT President and Director December 19, 20(

Richard R. Basse
/s PAUL GRAHAM STOVALL Senior Vice President and December 19, 20(

Director

Paul Graham Stova

/sl GERALD BENSTOCK Director December 19, 20(

Gerald Benstoc

/s ROBERT S. KANT Director December 19, 20(

Robert S. Kan

/s/ STEWART TURLEY Director December 19, 20(

Stewart Turley

/sl DEAN S. WOODMAN Director December 19, 20(

Dean S. Woodma
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To MarineMax, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidad¢ahce sheets of MarineMax, Inc. (a Delaware arpon) and subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2000 and 2001, and the related ¢datal statements of operations, stockholders’tga@uid cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended September 30, 2001. Timesecial statements are the responsibility of@mnpan’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance witliteng standards generally accepted in the UnitdeS. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablaerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirgd the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements nefd to above present fairly, in all material redpethe financial position of MarineMax, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2000 and 20@1lthe results of their operations and their ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended September 30, 2001, in conformity witbounting principles generally accepted in théddinStates.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Tampa, Florida,
October 18, 2001
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaids and other current as:

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Goodwill and other asse

Total asset

September 30, September 30,
2000 2001

(Amounts in thousands except

share data)
ASSETS

$ 12,58 $ 9,997
18,84t 12,61«
115,03t 147,95¢
2,46¢ 1,68¢
148,92¢ 172,25:
42,207 51,78(
40,19¢ 40,457
$231,33( $264,49(
L] I

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Current deferred tax liabilitie

Total current liabilities

Other liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current maturiti
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDER¢ EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 5,000,000 an@01000 shares
authorized, none issued or outstanding at SepteBthe&x000 and 2001,

respectively

Common stock, $.001 par value; 40,000,000 and 24000 shares
authorized, 15,221,780 and 15,221,378 shares issudutstanding at

September 30, 2000 and 2001, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning

Treasury stock, at cost, 55,745, shares held ae®der 30, 2001

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

$ 5717 $ 4,77¢
15,91¢ 7,18¢
13,56¢ 12,36¢
72,10 98,00(
521 2,211

251 271
108,07 124,80¢
3,79¢ 3,13¢
1,35¢ 2,43(
5,75¢ 6,42:

15 15
63,57 63,93
48,75: 64,09:
(344)

112,34( 127,69:
$231,33( $264,49(
] |

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated balance sheets.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year

For the Year

For the Year

Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
(Amounts in thousands except share
and per share data)
Revenue $ 450,05¢ $ 550,65 $ 504,07:
Cost of sale: 338,40: 419,08( 383,98
Gross profi 111,65! 131,57: 120,08
Selling, general and administrati
Expense! 79,48 92,52( 92,73¢
Income from operation 32,17: 39,05 27,35
Interest expense, n 2,04( 4,127 2,39¢
Income before income tax 30,13: 34,925 24,95
Income tax provisiol 11,97¢ 13,53¢ 9,60¢
Net income $ 18,15! $ 21,39 $  15,34¢
| | |
Basic and diluted net income per common sl $ 1.21 $ 1.41 $ 1.01
| | |
Weighted average number of common shares usedriputing net
income per common shal
Basic 14,958,72 15,201,05 15,220,32
| | |
Diluted 14,964,72 15,204,18 15,238,71
.| .| I

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

BALANCE, September 30, 19¢

Net income

Issuance of common sto

Issuance of common stock in exchange for
businesses acquirt

Issuance of stock warrants in exchange for
business acquire

BALANCE, September 30, 19¢

Net income
Issuance of common sto

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income

Purchase of treasury sto
Issuance of treasury sto
Issuance of common sto

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Common Stock Additional Total
Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Stock Equity
(Amounts in thousands except share data)
14,600,42 $ 14 $57,11« $ 9,207 — $ 66,33
— — — 18,15: — 18,15
38,43( — 292 — 29z
498,10¢ 1 5,18¢ — — 5,18t
— — 26¢ — — 26¢
15,136,96 15 62,85¢ 27,36( — 90,23¢
— — — 21,39 — 21,390
84,81+ — 718 — 712
15,221,78 15 63,57 48,75 — 112,34(
— — — 15,34¢ — 15,34¢
(81,419 — — — (501) (501)
25,66¢ — 5 (12) 157 151
55,34 — 354 — — 354
15,221,37. $ 15 $63,93! $64,09: $(344) $127,69:
— — — — — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated statements.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred income tax provisic
(Gain) loss on sale of property and equipn
Other
(Increase) decrease—
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaids and other ass
Increase (decrease)—
Accounts payabl
Customer deposit
Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Shor-term borrowings
Settlement payabl

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in business acquisitions, net of cadhirad
Purchases of property and equipm
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn

Net cash used in investing activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common sto
Borrowings on lon-term deb
Repayments on loi-term debt
Purchase of treasury sto

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENS:

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Issuance of common stock and stock warrants inangé for property

and equipment and businesses acqt

Assumption of debt (primarily inventory financinig) conjunction with
the purchase of property and equipment and bugsessjuire

For the Year

For the Year

For the Year

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated statements.

Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
(Amounts in thousands)
$ 18,15 $ 21,39: $ 15,34¢
2,58t 3,04: 3,98¢
1,30¢ 243 1,092
98 (31) (30)
95 65 144
4,68¢ (4,009 6,231
(37,239 30,13: (32,879
(4,919 (1,436) 1,80z
5,72¢ (9,100 (945)
71E 5,04¢ (8,821
5,982 3,79: (2,194
32,85¢ (33,34) 25,90(
(15,000 — —
15,06( 15,80¢ 9,63:
(4,319 (4,549 (5,585
(10,127 (7,009 (8,940
41 62€ 86
(14,399 (10,919 (14,439
197 64¢ 361
— — 3,18¢
(422) (1,247 (82€)
— — (501)
(225) (599) 2,22(
43€ 4,28¢ (2,586)
7,861 8,291 12,58
$ 8,29 $12,58: $ 9,997
—— —— ——
$ 25,43 — —
$ 23,72¢ $ 7,297 —
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per shareath)

1. Company Background and Basis of Presentation

MarineMax, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) wasorporated in January 1998 and is the largestdetailer in the United States.
MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries (MarineMax or @@mpany) engage primarily in the retail sale, brage and service of new and used
boats, motors, trailers, marine parts and accessokis of September 30, 2001, the Company opetlatedgh 53 retail locations in 13 states,
consisting of Arizona, California, Delaware, Fl@ajdseorgia, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, Nortblida, Ohio, South Carolina, Texas
and Utah.

MarineMax is the nation’s largest retailerS#fa Ray, Boston Whaler, and Hatteras Yachts. BigksCorporation (Brunswick) is the
world’s largest manufacturer of recreational bomisiuding Sea Ray and Boston Whaler. Sales of Baymswick boats accounted for
approximately 66%, 60%, and 58% of the Companwsmee in fiscal 1999, 2000, and 2001, respectivityg. Company represented
approximately 9% of all Brunswick marine produdesaduring the same periods. The Company’s appécsibsidiaries are party to a 10-
year dealer agreement with Brunswick covering Saaroducts and is the exclusive dealer of SealRays in its geographic mark

The Company’s subsidiary, MarineMax Motor W&s; Inc. (Motor Yachts), is party to a Dealershgreement with Hatteras Yachts, a
division of Genmar Industries, Inc. The agreemévegthe Company the right to sell Hatteras Yatimsughout the state of Florida
(excluding the Florida Panhandle) and the U.Sridigtion rights for Hatteras products over 82 fégiproximately 2%, 8%, and 12% of the
Company’s revenue during fiscal 1999, 2000, andL288spectively was derived from the sale of neatbacquired from Hatteras.

The Company is party to dealer agreements ethier manufacturers, each of which gives the Gomhe right to sell various makes and
models of boats within a given geographic region.

In order to maintain consistency and compénabetween periods presented, certain amountg theen reclassified from the previously
reported consolidated financial statements to aomfwith the financial statement presentation ofdheent period. The consolidated finan
statements include the accounts of the Companytasdbsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned| gignificant intercompany transactions
and accounts have been eliminated.

2. Acquisitions:

The Company has significantly expanded israfions through the acquisition of 16 recreatidelt dealers, two boat brokerage
operations, and one full-service yacht repair figcdlince its formation. As a part of the Compargtgjuisition strategy, it frequently engages
in discussions with various recreational boat dsalegarding their potential acquisition by the @amy. Potential acquisition discussions
frequently take place over a long period of timd arvolve difficult business integration and otlesues, including in some cases,
management succession and related matters. Asllaokthese and other factors, a number of paéatquisitions that from time to time
appear likely to occur do not result in bindingdeggreements and are not consummated. The folipar@ the acquisitions the Company has
completed during the years ending September 3®,24%0 and 2001.

On October 28, 1998, the Company acquiredchét@ssets of Woods & Oviatt, Inc. (Woods & Oyjatprominent yacht brokerage
operation, in exchange for approximately $1.7 willof cash, including acquisition costs. The adtjaishas been accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting, which resultedémréitognition of approximately $1.7 million in gaad.

On February 11, 1999, the Company acquiredét assets of Boating World (Boating World) icleange for approximately $0.5 million
of cash, including acquisition costs and warraaisied at
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

approximately $0.3 million. The warrants provide tiolder the right to buy 40,000 shares of the Gomwjs common stock at $15.00 per
share and were valued using a Black-Scholes madeahaing a 10 year term, a 5.25% risk free ratetofrn, a volatility factor of 44.7% and
an expected dividend yield of 0%. The acquisitias heen accounted for under the purchase methetotinting, which resulted in the
recognition of approximately $0.7 million in goodwi

On March 9, 1999, the Company acquired thessets of Merit Marine (Merit) in exchange fopegximately $1.2 million of cash,
including acquisition costs, 476,000 shares of@bepany’s common stock, valued at approximatel$ $dillion, a $3 million promissory
note, with interest payable at LIBOR plus 125 basimts, and the assumption of certain liabilitiEse assumed liabilities include the
outstanding floor plan obligations primarily reldt® financing Merit Marine’s Sea Ray products. Heguisition has been accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, whichteskin the recognition of approximately $9.2 nafliin goodwill.

On April 5, 1999, the Company acquired the nettassieSuburban Boatworks, Inc. (Suburban) in exgedior approximately $1.0 millic
of cash, including acquisition costs, 121,090 shafe¢he Company’s common stock, valued at appratetg $1.4 million, a $0.5 million
promissory note, with interest payable at LIBORspl25 basis points, and the assumption of cetigilities. The assumed liabilities include
the outstanding floor plan obligations primarilyated to financing Suburban’s Sea Ray products.adugiisition has been accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, whichteskin the recognition of approximately $3.7 nafliin goodwill.

On July 27, 1999, the Company acquired thessets of Hansen Marine, Inc. (Hansen) in exahémgapproximately $0.2 million of
cash, including acquisition costs. The acquisitias been accounted for under the purchase methaxxtotinting, which resulted in the
recognition of approximately $0.2 million in goodwi

On December 31, 1999, the Company acquired thagsets of Duce Marine, Inc. (Duce) for approxima$dl.2 million of cash, includir
acquisition costs. The Company assumed certaiitified, including the outstanding floor plan oldiipns related to new boat inventories.
The acquisition has been accounted for under thehpse method of accounting, which resulted irréicegnition of approximately
$1.0 million in goodwiill.

On April 18, 2000, the Company acquired theassets of Clark’s Landing at Greenbrook, IntarkCs Landing at Lake Hopatcong, Inc.,
and Clark’s Landing at Dredge Harbor, Inc. (Clayktr approximately $3.6 million of cash, includiagquisition costs. The Company
assumed or retired certain liabilities, includihg butstanding floor plan obligations related taim®at inventories. The acquisition has been
accounted for under the purchase method of acamyniihich resulted in the recognition of approxiehats4.4 million in goodwiill.

On January 8, 2001, the Company acquireti¢h@ssets of Associated Marine Technologies,(fk&sociated), including the assumption
of certain liabilities and related property andlthimgs, for approximately $5.6 million in cash, limding acquisition costs. Associated operates
a full-service yacht repair facility near Ft. Laudale, Florida. The acquisition has been accouftednder the purchase method of
accounting, which resulted in the recognition gbragimately $2.3 million in goodwill.

Woods & Oviatt, Boating World, Merit, Suburhddansen, Duce, Clark’s, and Associated (colletfivthe Purchased Companies) have
been reflected in the Company’s consolidated fir@rstatements subsequent to their respective sitigni dates. For purchase price
allocation purposes, the Company’s common stoalesn conjunction with the acquisition of the fhased Companies has been valued at
approximately the current market price on eachheirtrespective measurement dates. The goodwilkcésed with the acquisition of the
Purchased Companies represents the excess ofritteapa price over the estimated fair value of #ieassets acquired and is being amort
over forty years on a straight-line basis (See 8yte
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The Company’s unaudited pro forma consolidlaésults of operations assuming all significamfuasitions accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting had occurred atebambing of each period presented are as followthi®year ended September 30:

1999
Revenue $465,22:
Net income 17,88
Basic and diluted earnings per sh $ 113

The fiscal 2000 and 2001 acquisitions weresignificant to the Company’s consolidated resofteperations. Accordingly, pro forma
results of operations, assuming the acquisitionlsdtaurred at the beginning of the period, haven leitted.

The unaudited pro forma results of operatenespresented for informational purposes only. dieudited pro forma results of operations
include an adjustment to record income taxes tisignificant acquisitions were taxed as C cafions from the beginning of the period
presented until their respective acquisition datée unaudited pro forma results of operationsatanclude adjustments to remove certain
private company expenses, which will not be inaliirefuture periods. The unaudited pro forma resoftoperations may not necessarily
reflect the future results of operations of the @any or what the results of operations would haenthad the Company owned and opet
these businesses as of the beginning of each pemésented.

3. Significant Accounting Policies:
Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statements offtash, the Company considers all highly liquid @stments with an original maturity
three months or less to be cash equivalents.

The Company made interest payments of apprabely $2.7 million, $4.6 million, and $2.4 millipfor the years ended September 30,
1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively, including irdeom debt which finances the Companseal estate holdings and new boat inventoryof
interest assistance provided by manufacturers Cdmpany made income tax payments of approxima&ly illion, $13.1 million, and
$8.1 million, for the years ended September 30919900 and 2001, respectively.

Inventories

New and used boat inventories are stateluedbtver of cost, determined on a specific-idecdifion basis, or market. Parts and accessorie:
are stated at the lower of cost, determined ofittstein, first-out basis, or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at castlapreciated over their estimated useful livesguhe straight-line method. Useful lives
for purposes of computing depreciation are as ¥ito

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme 5-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 5
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The cost of property and equipment sold tira@ and the related accumulated depreciatiomean®ved from the accounts at the time of
disposition, and any resulting gain or loss isudeld in the consolidated statements of operatMamtenance, repairs and minor
replacements are charged to operations as incunajdy replacements and improvements are capithéinel amortized over their useful liv

Goodwill and Other Assets

Goodwill and other assets consist primarflihe cost of acquired businesses in excess daihgalue of net assets acquired and other
intangible assets. The cost in excess of the &direvof net assets is amortized over 40 yearsstraghtline basis. The Company periodice
evaluates the recoverability of goodwill and intinfg assets and takes into account events or cstamoes that warrant revised estimates of
useful lives or that indicate that an impairmeristesx Goodwill amortization expense was approxifye$6.4 million, $0.9 million, and
$1.0 million, for the years ended September 309192900, and 2001, respectively. Accumulated amatitin of goodwill was approximately
$1.6 million and $2.6 million at September 30, 2@0@ 2001, respectively.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsl®8oard issued Statement of Financial Accouritemdards (SFAS) 141, Business
Combinations, and SFAS 142 Goodwill and Other Igilalle Assets. SFAS 141 requires business combimatigtiated after June 30, 2001 to
be accounted for using the purchase method of atiogu It also specifies the types of acquiredngible assets that are required to be
recognized and reported separately from goodwHAS 142 requires that goodwill and certain intafegno longer be amortized, but instead
tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS B42quired to be applied starting with fiscal yeagginning after December 15, 2001, with
early application permitted in certain circumstacehe Company plans to early adopt SFAS 142 ¢afi2002 and does not expect any
impairment of goodwill upon adoption.

Customer Deposit

Customer deposits primarily include amoueteived from customers toward the purchase of bdatse deposits are recognized as
revenue when the related boats are delivered tomess.

Revenue Recognitio

Revenue from boat, motor and trailer salesparts and service operations is recognized dtrtteethe boat, motor, trailer or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or sefisicempleted. The Company recognizes commissianged from a brokerage sale at the
time the related brokerage transaction closes. Gssioms earned by the Company for placing notels finncial institutions in connection
with customer boat financing is recognized whenréiated boat sale is recognized. Marketing feesesbon credit life, accident and
disability insurance products sold by third-pangurance companies are also recognized when ditedddoat sale is recognized. Pursuant to
negotiated agreements with financial and insuram&tiutions, the Company is charged back for diporof these fees should the customer
terminate or default on the related finance oriiasoe contract before it is outstanding for a $&ifgd minimal period of time. The chargeb
reserve, which was not material to the consolidétexhcial statements taken as a whole as of SdgeB80, 2000 or 2001, is based on the
Company'’s experience for repayments or defaultthemelated finance or insurance contracts.

Commissions earned on extended warranty@eoantracts sold on behalf of thipdrty insurance companies are recognized at thedé
customer acceptance of the service contract tesmsidenced by contract execution, or when thagelboat sale is recognized. The
Company is charged back for a portion of these cizsions should the customer terminate or defautherservice contract prior to its
scheduled maturity. The chargeback reserve, whahwot material to the consolidated financial statats taken as a
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whole as of September 30, 2000 or 2001, is based thg Company’s experience for repayments or dtsfan the service contracts.

Advertising and Promotional Cos!

Advertising and promotional costs are expdraseincurred and are included in selling, geremdl administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiatal advertising and promotional expenses, netlated co-op assistance,
approximated $5.3 million, $4.3 million and $4.9Iran, for the years ended September 30, 1999, 20@02001, respectively.

Supplier and Customer Concentratic

Dealership Agreemen

The Company has entered into dealership agrets with the Sea Ray division of Brunswick Cogtimn and with Boston Whaler, Inc.,
Mercury Marine and Baja Marine Corporation, all sidiries or divisions of Brunswick Corporation l{ectively, Brunswick).
Approximately 58% of the Company’s revenue duriisgdl 2001 was derived from the sale of new boedsiiged from Brunswick. These
agreements allow the Company to purchase, stoltlgrabservice boats and products of Brunswick.seh&greements also allow the
Company to use Brunswick’s names, trade symbolsraatlectual properties. The Company’s applicalbsidiaries are party to a 10-year
dealer agreement with Brunswick covering Sea Raguywets, expiring beginning in 2008.

The Company has entered into a dealershigeaggnt with Hatteras Yachts (Hatteras), a whollpedvsubsidiary of Genmar Industries,
Inc. Approximately 12% of the Company’s revenueimlyifiscal 2001 was derived from the sale of newtb@cquired from Hatteras. The
agreement allows the Company to purchase, stoltlgrabservice boats and products of Hatteras.agteement also allows the Company to
use the Hatteras name, trade symbols and intediiegtaperties.

As is typical in the industry, the Company dealthwnanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray divisi®@ranswick, under renewable anni
dealer agreements. Any change or termination afetlagreements for any reason, including changesnpetitive, regulatory, or marketing
practices, could adversely affect the Company’slte®f operations. Although there are a limitedntner of manufacturers of the type of
boats and products that the Company sells, the @oynpelieves that other suppliers could providdlamboats and products on comparable
terms. A change in suppliers, however, could caugetential loss of revenue, which would affectratiag results adversely.

Concentrations of Credit Ris

Financial instruments, which potentially sdijthe Company to concentrations of credit riskisist principally of cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. Concentratibasedit risk with respect to cash and cash egjaits are limited primarily to financial
institutions. Concentrations of credit risk arisingm receivables are limited primarily to manufaetrs and financial institutions.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Stams Board issued Statement of Financial Accogritandards No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations” (SFAS 143). SFAS &dtablishes accounting standards for recognitiohnaeasurement of a liability for an
asset retirement obligation and the associated extsement cost. SFAS 143 is effective for fin@hstatements relating to fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2002. Management doesexpact SFAS 143 to have a material effect on tha@amy’s financial statements.

F-11




Table of Contents
MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

In September 2001, the Financial Accountitan8ards Board issued Statement of Financial Adoogii$tandards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived AsSHISFAS 144). SFAS 144 addresses the financial auting and reporting for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFA8 ik effective for financial statements issuedfigrzal years beginning after December 15,
2001. Management does not expect SFAS 144 to henatexial effect on the Company’s financial statetsee

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of the Company’s finahitiatruments approximates fair value due eithdeitmth of maturity or existence of
interest rates that approximate prevailing marltts unless otherwise disclosed in these finastaééments.

Use of Estimates and Assumptio

The preparation of financial statements infoomity with generally accepted accounting pritegorequires the Company to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and disclosur@atingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the consolidated financial statements and thented amounts of revenue and expenses during fiteting periods. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

4. Accounts Receivable:

Trade receivables consist of receivables flioancial institutions, which provide funding foustomer boat financing, and amounts due
from financial institutions earned from arrangimgahcing with the Company’s customers. These retéés are normally collected within
30 days of the sale. Trade receivables also incindeunts due from customers on the sale of boatts pnd service. Amounts due from
manufacturers represent receivables for variousufaaturer programs and parts and service work padd pursuant to the manufacturers’
warranties. The accounts receivable balances ¢edsi$ the following as of September 30, 2000 aD@i12

September 30, September 30,
2000 2001
Trade receivable $10,41° $ 7,54:
Amounts due from manufacture 7,95¢€ 4,60:
Other receivable 472 46¢
$18,84¢ $12,61¢
[ | [ |
5. Inventories:
Inventories consisted of the following asSefptember 30, 2000 and 2001:
September 30, September 30,
2000 2001
New boats, motors and traile $ 96,07¢ $123,73:
Used boats, motors and trailt 13,55¢ 19,59¢
Parts, accessories and ot 5,401 4,62¢
$115,03¢ $147,95¢
[ | [ |
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6. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consisted of the fatig as of September 30, 2000 and 2001:

September 30, September 30,
2000 2001

Land $ 14,957 $17,13¢
Buildings and improvemen 21,64¢ 30,57(
Machinery and equipme 7,951 8,49¢
Furniture and fixture 5,97¢ 6,35(
Vehicles 2,52¢ 2,87¢
53,06: 65,43
Less— Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (10,85¢) (13,659
$42,20° $51,78(
L] L]

During the year ended September 30, 2000Ctmpany entered into a contract to acquire undeeel land, for $3.0 million, from a
principal Officer and Director of the Company. TBempany believes the terms of the transaction @msistent with those the Company
could obtain from third parties. During the yeaded September 30, 2001, the Company contractedtwthparty developers to construct a
retail sales facility on the acquired land.

7.  Short-Term Borrowings:

The Company has agreements for working dapitaowing facilities (the “Facilities”) with fouseparate financial institutions providing
for combined borrowing availability of $235 millicat a weighted average interest rate equal torieenwonth London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR") plus 165 basis points. Borrowings undbetFacilities are pursuant to a borrowing base fit@rand are used primarily for working
capital purposes. The Facilities require the Compgammaintain certain financial covenants, inclgdatangible net worth ratio, among other
restrictions. As of September 30, 2001, the Compeay in compliance with all of its financial covert® The Facilities have similar terms
and mature on various dates ranging from Decemb@t through December 2002.

Short-term borrowings as of September 300288d 2001 were approximately $72.1 million an8.89illion, respectively. The
additional available borrowings under the Factiti September 30, 2001 were approximately $62llomiAt September 30, 2001, the
weighted average interest rate on the outstandingWwings was 5.1%. Generally, the Company’s sttty borrowings are collateralized by
certain accounts receivable and inventories.

The Company has obtained commitments from $eparate financial institutions for a combineebleing credit facility (the “Combined
Facility”). The Combined Facility will provide faa maximum borrowing availability of $220 million dmwill have a three-year term (with
renewal provisions). The participants in the Coretifracility are the same lenders the Company lil@edthistorically. Interest accrues at a
rate equal to the one month LIBOR rate plus 1786® basis points, which shall be determined in atamce with a Performance Pricing g
as defined. The terms and conditions of the Contbireility are substantially similar to the terrmelaonditions of the prior Facilities.

The Company receives interest assistancetljifeom boat manufacturers, including Brunswitke interest assistance programs vary by
manufacturer and generally included periods of fi&ncing or reduced interest rate programs. Tikerést assistance may be paid directly to
the Company or the Company’s lender depending emttangements the manufacturer has establishecominuance of these programs
could result in a material increase in interestemse.

F-13




Table of Contents
MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
8. Long-Term Debt:

Long-term debt consisted of the followings$September 30, 2000 and 2001:

September 30, September 30,
2000 2001

Various mortgage notes payable, due in monthhallmsents ranging from $3.5

to $42.3, bearing interest at rates ranging frod6% to 10.25%, maturing

April 2002 through March 2011, collateralized byahimery and equipmel $5,95¢ $ 8,30¢
Various notes payable, due in monthly installmeatsying from $1.0 to $2.2,

bearing interest at rates ranging from 7.90% t8%./maturing June 2006

through March 2010, collateralized by certain vidsi@and machinery and

equipmen 32¢ 331
6.28¢ 8,64¢

Less— Current maturitie: a) E)
$5.75¢ $ 6.42:

— —

The aggregate maturities of long-term delrevess follows at September 30, 2001:

Year Ending
September 30, Amount
2002. $2,215
2003 59¢€
2004 631
2005 682
2006 738
Thereafte 3,781
$8,64(
—

9. Income Taxes:

The components of the Companptovision for income taxes consisted of the feiltg for the years ended September 30, 1999, 266
2001.

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
Current Provisior
Federa $ 8,88¢ $11,72¢ $7,737
State 1,79(C 1,56: 77¢
Total current provisiol 10,67 13,29: 8,51¢
Deferred provisior
Federa 1,147 21¢ 99¢
State 157 24 99
Total deferred provisio 1,304 242 1,092
Total income tax provisio $11,97¢ $13,53¢ $9,60¢
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Below is a reconciliation of the statutorgdéeal income tax rate to the Company’s effectivertde for the years ended September 30,
1999, 2000 and 2001:

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
Federal tax provisio 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State tax provision, net of federal ben 4.4% 3.4% 3.0%
Other 0.4% 0.4% 0.5%
Effective tax rate 39.8% 38.8% 38.5%
| | |

Deferred income taxes reflect the impaceafiporary differences between the amount of asset$iabilities recognized for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts recognizaddome tax purposes. The components of deferrezbtare as follows:

September 30, September 30,
2000 2001
Current deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Inventories $ (429 $ (809
Accrued expense 134 472
Other 43 61
Net current deferred tax liabilitie $ (25)) $ (27))
| |

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilitie
Depreciation and amortizatic $(1,465) $(2,54%)
Other 107 11F
Net lon¢-term deferred tax liabilitie $(1,35¢) $(2,430)
| |

As of September 30, 2001, the Company estithtiitat it is more likely than not that it will imgnize the benefit of its deferred tax assets
and, accordingly, no valuation allowance has beeonded.

10. Stockholders’ Equity:

In November 2000, the Company’s Board of Etives approved a share repurchase plan allowin@timepany to repurchase up to
300,000 shares of its common stock. Under the pfenCompany may buy back common stock from timtinte in the open market or in
privately negotiated blocks, dependant upon varfagrs, including price and availability of theases, and general market conditions. A
September 30, 2001, an aggregate of 81,413 shiacesnonon stock has been repurchased under théqlam aggregate purchase price of
$0.5 million.

On February 27, 2001, the Company’s stockdrslduthorized an amendment to the Company’sicattfof incorporation to reduce the
total number of authorized shares of stock fronf 45illion to 25.0 million, consisting of 24.0 mitih shares of common stock and 1.0 mill
shares of preferred stock, and authorized the Coyipd8oard of Directors, without further action ofatholders, to increase the total nurr
of shares of stock from the reduced amount to mheuat of 45.0 million, consisting of 40.0 milliohares of common stock and 5.0 million

shares of preferred stock.
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11. Stock and Option Plans:

On April 5, 1998 and April 30, 1998, respectivelye Board of Directors adopted and the stockholdppmoved the following stock opti
plans:

1998 Incentive Stock Plan (the Incentive Stock PlaThe Incentive Stock Plan provides for the grarinoéntive and non-qualified
stock options to acquire common stock of the Comiptire direct grant of common stock, the grantto€ls appreciation rights and the grant
of other cash awards to key personnel, directanssultants, independent contractors and othersgingvaluable services to the Company.
A maximum of the lesser of 4,000,000 shares or p&%@mended February 27, 2001) of the then outsigustiares of common stock of the
Company may be issued under the Incentive Stoak Flae Incentive Stock Plan terminates in April 208nd options may be granted at any
time during the life of the Incentive Stock PlameTdate on which options vest and the exercisepo€ options are determined by the Board
of Directors or the Plan Administrator.

The Incentive Stock Plan also includes aroAgtic Grant Program providing for the automatigrgrof options (Automatic Options) to
non-employee directors of the Company.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Stock Purchas® PFThe Stock Purchase Plan provides for up to 500sb@@es of common stock
to be issued, and is available to all regular eygg of the Company who have completed at leasyeaeof continuous service.

The Stock Purchase Plan provides for implaatem of up to 10 annual offerings beginning oa finst day of October in the years 1998
through 2007, with each offering terminating on t8egber 30 of the following year. Each annual offgnmay be divided into two six-month
offerings. For each offering, the purchase pricegbare will be the lower of (i) 85% of the closipdce of the common stock on the first day
of the offering or (ii) 85% of the closing price thie common stock on the last day of the offeriffge purchase price is paid through periodic
payroll deductions not to exceed 10% of the paodict’s earnings during each offering period. Howgere participant may purchase more
than $0.025 million worth of common stock annually.

The Company accounts for its stock-based emsgtion plans under Accounting Principles Boarthidp No. 25 (APB 25), under which
no compensation cost has been recognized. SFA$280:‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFE23), allows companies to
continue following the accounting guidance of APB But requires pro forma disclosure of net inc@me earnings per share for the effects
on compensation expense had the accounting guiddr&eAS 123 been adopted. For SFAS 123 purpdsedair value of each option grant
has been estimated as of the date of grant usinBldtk-Scholes option-pricing model with the faliag weighted average assumptions:

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
Risk-free interest rat 6.0% 6.3% 4.4%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life 8.9 year 8.4 year 7.6 year
Volatility 44.9% 41.6% 43.6%

Using these assumptions, the fair value efstiock options granted as of September 30, 198H), 2nd 2001, is approximately
$7.7 million, $6.3 million, and $7.4 million resgiaely, which would be amortized as compensatiopegise over the vesting period of the
options. Had compensation cost been determined
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consistent with SFAS 123, utilizing the assumptidetailed above, the Company’s net income andneeinne per share, as reported would
have been the following pro forma amounts:

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
Net income;
As reportec $18,15: $21,39: $15,34¢
| | |
Pro forma $17,36¢ $20,47: $13,16:
[ |
Diluted earnings per shar
As reportec $ 1.21 $ 141 $ 1.01
| | |
Pro forma $ 1.1¢ $ 1.3 $ o0.8¢
[ | [ | [ |

A summary of the status of the Company’sisttion plans for the years ended September 3D,18000 and 2001:

1999 2000 2001
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Optits Exercise Price
Outstanding beginning of
year 1,555,92 $12.4¢ 1,579,94. $12.4¢ 2,273,53! $11.0¢
Granted 217,03( $12.3¢ 1,178,07 $ 9.6F 327,77. $ 8.71
Forfeited (193,01 $12.3¢ (484,47Y $12.21 (328,107 $10.9¢
Outstanding end of ye: 1,579,94. $12.4¢ 2,273,53! $11.04 2,273,220 $10.8¢
— — —

The following table summarizes informatioroaboutstanding and exercisable stock options pte®&er 30, 2001

Options Outstanding

Weighted- Options Exercisable
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Range of Contractual Life Average Exercise Average Exercise
Exercise Prices Options in Years Price Options Prie
$ 7.0C¢-9.0C 580,09 9.1 $ 8.0t 6,66¢ $ 8.4z
$ 9.01-11.0C 478,60: 7.8 $ 9.84 52,00! $ 9.9¢
$11.02-13.0C 1,134,50! 6.8 $12.4¢ 278,56 $12.4¢
$13.01-15.0C 80,00( 6.7 $13.7¢ 48,00( $13.7¢
2,273,20! 7.€ $10.8¢ 385,23 $12.2¢
I —

Generally, the options granted have a terfiOofears from the grant date and vest 20% perrarbaginning at the end of year three.
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12. Net Income Per Share:

The following is a reconciliation of the skamsed in the denominator for calculating basitdiluted EPS for the years ended
September 30, 1999, 2000 and 2001:

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
1999 2000 2001
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in
calculating basic earnings per sh 14,958,72. 15,201,05 15,220,32
Effect of dilutive option: 6,00z 3,13( 18,391
Weighted average common and common equivalent Shiges
in calculating diluted earnings per sh 14,964,72 15,204,18 15,238,71
| |

Options to purchase 1,509,944, 1,803,320,1an87,048 shares of common stock were outstaradingf September 30, 1999, 2000 and
2001, respectively, but were not included in thepatation of diluted EPS because the options’ egengrices were greater than the average
market price of the Company’s common stock.

13. Commitments and Contingencies:
Lease Commitments

The Company leases certain land, buildingsshimery, equipment and vehicles related to itdetlslaips under non-cancelable third-party
operating leases. Rental payments, including masinonth rentals, were approximately $4.8 millis,9 million and $6.2 million for the
years ended September 30, 1999, 2000 and 200&ctasly. Rental payments to related parties uibdén cancelable and n-cancelable
operating leases approximated $1.4 million, $1.0ionj and $0.8 million for the years ended Septent0, 1999, 2000 and 2001,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-dabiesoperating leases at September 30, 2001, agf@lows:

Year Ending
September 30, Amount
2002. $ 5,28¢
2003. 4,22¢
2004. 3,01t
2005. 2,19¢
2006. 1,961
Thereafte 3,76¢
Total $20,45¢

[ |
Other Commitments

The Company is party to various legal actiarising in the ordinary course of business. Thienalte liability, if any, associated with these
matters was not determinable at September 30, 20bile it is not feasible to determine the outcamh¢hese actions at this time, the
Company does not believe that these matters wik fllamaterial adverse effect on the Company'’s dfeaged financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
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The Company is subject to federal and stat@@ mental regulations, including rules relattogair and water pollution and the storage
and disposal of gasoline, oil, other chemicals\aadte. The Company believes that it is in compkanith such regulations.

14. Employee 401(k) Profit Sharing Plans:

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company ameéilde MarineMax, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plameg(fPlan). Employees are eligible to
participate in the Plan following their 90-day oductory period starting either April 1 or Octoleprovided that they are 21 years of age.
Under the Plan, the Company matches 50% of paatit§) contributions, subject to a maximum of 5%eath participants’ compensation.
The Company and its subsidiaries contributed, uttgePlan, or pursuant to previous similar plansp@ants ranging from approximately
$0.5 million to approximately $0.7 million for thyears ended September 30, 1999, 2000 and 2001.

15. Preferred Share Purchase Rights:

During September 2001, the Company adopt@ekholders’ Rights Plan that may have the effécteterring, delaying, or preventing a
change in control that might otherwise be in thst literests of the Company’s stockholders. UnldeRights Plan, a dividend of one
Preferred Share Purchase Right was issued forsteake of common stock held by the stockholdersaénd as of the close of business on
September 7, 2001. Each right entitles stockholttepgirchase, at an exercise price of $50 per shasethousandth of a share of a newly
created Series A Junior Participating PreferredlSto

In general, subject to certain limited ex¢mm, the stock purchase rights become exerciselidd® a person or group acquires 15% or
more of our common stock or a tender offer or ergeaoffer for 15% or more of the Company’s commimelsis announced or commenced.
After any such event, other stockholders may plgelalditional shares of our common stock at 50%heothen-current market price. The
rights will cause substantial dilution to a persomroup that attempts to acquire the Company mmgaot approved by our board of
directors. The rights should not interfere with angrger or other business combination approved®ybard of directors since the rights |
be redeemed by the Company at $0.01 per stock pseatight at any time before any person or grogpiaes 15% or more of the outstanc
common stock. The rights expire on August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distittiuis a non-taxable event with no impact on thenBany’s financial results.
16. Subsequent Events:

In October 2001, Brunswick signed a defimtagreement to acquire Hatteras Yachts, Inc. fremn@r Industries. In fiscal 2001,
approximately 58% and 12% of the Company’s revemag derived from the sale of new boats manufactoyeBrunswick and Hatteras
Yachts respectively. No other manufacturer accalifdea significant portion the Company’s revenudiscal 2001.

F-19




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

Index to Exhibits

Exhibit

A wowow
N = (DN =

10.1(a
10.1(b

10.1(c
10.1(d
10.1(e

10.1(f)

10.1(g
10.1(h

10.1(i)

10.1())
10.2(a
10.2(b
10.2(c
10.2(d
10.2(e
10.3(a
10.3(b
10.3(c
10.3(d
10.3(e
10.3(f)

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.€

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Ragist, including all amendments to d

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis!

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stoc

Specimen of Stock Certifica

Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweersRagt and American Stock Transfer & Trust Compaasy
Rights Agent (3

Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgqrissubsidiary and Bassett Boat Company of Floaidd Richard
Bassett(1

Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiqrissubsidiary and 11502 Dumas, Inc. d/b/a LousHdmme
Marine and its stockholders(

Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgrissubsidiary and Gulfwind USA, Inc. and its tbolders(1)
Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgprissubsidiary and Gulfwind South, Inc. and itscgholders(1
Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and Harrison’s Boat Center, Ind ds
stockholders(1

Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and HarrisamMarine Centers of Arizona, Inc. ¢
its stockholders(1

Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiqrissubsidiary and Stovall Marine, Inc. and itsckholders(1
Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iviiax, Inc.,
C & N Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of MarineMdxgc.), C & N Marine Corporation and the Stockheklramed
therein(2)

Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iviiax, Inc.,
Cochrans Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of Marirei/linc.), Cochrans Marine, Inc. and the Stockhsldemed
therein(2)

Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant asddne Cove Marina, Inc.(

Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsat Company and its owner(

Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsmalty, L.L.C. and its owner(:

Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Gatiwsouth Realty, L.L.C. and its owners

Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Har's Realty, L.L.C. and its owners(

Contribution Agreement between Registrant and dar's Realty California, L.L.C. and its owners
Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillianMicGill Jr.(1)

Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(1)

Employment Agreement between Registrant and RicRaRlassett(1

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Paalhi&n Stovall(1

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Daviddchran(4

Employment Agreement between Registrant and Davibretasky(4

1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeertb, 200(

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Settlement Agreement between Brunswick Corporadiwh Registrant(1

Letter of Intent between Registrant and Stova

Restated Agreement Relating to the Purchase ofridistax Common Stock between Registrant and Brunswick
Corporation, dated as of April 28, 1998




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number Exhibit
10.¢ Stockholders’ Agreement among Registrant, Brunswiokporation, and Senior Founders of Registranediapril 28,
1998(1)
10.1(C Governance Agreement between Registrant and Breks®drporation, dated April 28, 1998(
10.11 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteend Brunswick Corporation, dated April 28, 199¢
10.12 Form of Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreeme
10.1: Loan and Security Agreement between RegistrantNaitnsCredit Distribution Finance, Inc.(
10.1¢ Guaranty and Security Agreement of NationsCreditriXiution Finance, Inc.(?
10.1¢ Guaranty and Security Agreement of NationsCreditiidiution Finance, Inc. by Stovall Marine, Inc.
10.1¢€ Credit Facility and Security Agreement, Accountd &mventory between the Registrant and Key Bankdxat
Association(5
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LL

1)
()
(3)
(4)
()
(6)

Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterorriiorm -1 (Registration 33-47873).

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K dated July 7, 1998, as filed on July 20, 1¢

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K Report dated September 30, 1998, as filed onl2ctd0, 1998

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1998, as fieD@cember 9, 199

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1999, as fieBecember 29 199

Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterapriorm A as filed on September 5, 20(

Exhibit 3.1

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MARINEMAX, INC.

1. The name of the corporation (which is hereimatéerred to as the "Corporation”) is MarineMang.|

2. The original Certificate of Incorporation waked@l with the Secretary of State of the State ofald@re on January 23, 1998, under the name

MarineMax, Inc.

3. This Restated Certificate of Incorporation hasrbduly proposed by resolutions adopted and detkuatvisable by the Board of Directors
of the Corporation, by written consent action gitehe stockholders of the Corporation, and dualyed, executed and acknowledged b
officer of the Corporation in accordance with tleyisions of Sections 103, 228(d), 242 and 24%efGeneral Corporation Law of the State
of Delaware and, restates, integrates and amepdgdivisions of the Certificate of Incorporationtleé Corporation and, upon filing with the
Secretary of State in accordance with

Section 103, shall thenceforth supersede the ailigiertificate of Incorporation and shall, as ityntaereafter be amended in accordance with
its terms and applicable law, be the Certificaténobrporation of the Corporation.

4. The text of the original Certificate of Incorption of the Corporation is hereby amended andtesto read in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE |
NAME

The name of the Corporation is: MarineMax, Inc.

ARTICLE II
REGISTERED OFFICE

The address of the registered office of the Cotpmman the State of Delaware is The CorporationstiCenter, 1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19804d she name of the Corporation's registered agehttaddress is The Corporation

Trust Company



ARTICLE Il
BUSINESS

The purposes of the Corporation shall be to engagay lawful act or activity for which corporatismay be organized under the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as tmesaxists or may hereafter be amended (the "GCL").

ARTICLE IV.
AUTHORIZED CAPITAL STOCK

The total number of shares of stock that the Cearjpam shall have the authority to issue is FortygMillion (45,000,000), consisting of Forty
Million (40,000,000) shares of Common Stock, pdugs.001 per share ("Common Stock") and Five bHill{5,000,000) shares of Preferred
Stock, par value $.001 per share ("Preferred Sjock"

The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to tmreme or more series. The Board of DirectorshefCorporation (the "Board”) is hereby
authorized to provide for the issuance of shard2referred Stock in one or more series and, bydfiéi certificate pursuant to the GCL
(hereinafter referred to as "Preferred Stock Deign”), to establish from time to time the numbéshares to be included in each such
series, and to fix the designation, powers, prefags and the relative, participating, optional thieo rights of the shares of each such series
and the qualifications, limitations and restricBdhereof. The authority of the Board with resgeaach series shall include, but not be
limited to, determination of the following:

A. the designation of the series, which may be ibjiryuishing number, letter or title;

B. the number of shares of the series, which nurfi®eBoard may thereafter (except where otherwiseiged in the Preferred Stock
Designation) increase or decrease (but not belewtimber of shares thereof then outstanding);

C. whether dividends, if any, shall be cumulativenoncumulative and the rights with respect todkvids of the series;
D. the redemption rights and price or prices, if,dor shares of the series;
E. the terms and amount of any sinking fund pradifte the purchase or redemption of shares of ¢hies
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F. the amounts payable on, and the preferencasyijfof shares of the series in the event of atyntary or involuntary liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the @oration;

G. whether the shares of the series shall be ctbheinto shares of any other class or seriesngrother security, of the Corporation or any
other corporation, and, if so, the specificatioseth other class or series of such other sectingyconversion price or prices or rate or rates,
any adjustments thereof, the date or dates at vghich shares shall be convertible and all othengeand conditions upon which such
conversion may be made;

H. restrictions on the issuance of shares of theesseries or of any other class or series; and
I. the voting rights, if any, of the holders of sémof the series.

The Common Stock shall be subject to the expressstef the Preferred Stock and any series thefdwf.holders of shares of Common St
shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each suchiesbaon all questions presented generally to ihekhblders.

The number of authorized shares of Common Stoékefierred Stock may be increased or decreasea@iiielow the number of shares
thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vat¢he holders of a majority in voting power of thimck of the Corporation entitled to vote
thereon irrespective of the provisions of Sectid@(®)(2) of the GCL, and no vote of the holdergitiier the Common Stock or the Preferred
Stock voting separately as a class shall be redjtiirerefor.

ARTICLE V
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

A. The business and affairs of the Corporationldfetonducted and managed by, or under the directi, the Board. Subject to any rights
elect directors set forth in any Preferred Stockifeation, the total number of directors constitgtihe entire Board shall be not less than one
(1) nor more than fifteen (15), with the then-desitgd number of directors being fixed from timeitee by or pursuant to a resolution passed
by the Board. Members of the Board shall hold effimtil their successors are elected and qualdiathtil their earlier death, resignation,
disqualification or removal.

B. Unless and except to the extent that the Bylaftke Corporation shall so require, the electibdirectors of the Corporation need not be
by written ballot.

C. Except as otherwise provided for or fixed purgua the provisions of Article IV of this Restat€artificate of Incorporation relating to the
rights of the holders of any



series of Preferred Stock to elect additional de; and subject to the provisions hereof, newdated directorships resulting from any
increase in the authorized number of directors,amdvacancies on the Board resulting from deattignation, disqualification, removal, or
other cause, may be filled only by the affirmatisge of a majority of the remaining directors themffice, even though less than a quorur
the Board. No decrease in the number of directonstituting the Board shall shorten the term of emxymbent director.

D. During any period when the holders of any sesfeBreferred Stock have the right to elect addalalirectors as provided for or fixed
pursuant to the provisions of Article IV of this ®ated Certificate of Incorporation, then upon ca@noement and for the duration of the
period during which such right continues (1) thertlotherwise total designated number of directbtkeCorporation shall automatically be
increased by such specified number of directord,the holders of such series of Preferred Stock kbantitled to elect the additional
directors so provided for or fixed pursuant to gaiovisions, and (2) each such additional direstall serve until such director's successor
shall have been duly elected and qualified, or sotth director's right to hold such office termaspursuant to said provisions, whichever
occurs earlier, subject to the provisions of amgféred Stock Designation and to his or her eadiéth, disqualification, resignation or
removal. Except as otherwise provided by the Baatte resolution or resolutions establishing ssefies, whenever the holders of any s¢
of Preferred Stock having such right to elect addil directors are divested of such right pursuarhe provisions of such stock, the term
office of all such additional directors electedthg holders of such stock, or elected to fill aagancies resulting from the death, resignation,
disqualification or removal of such additional dir@rs, shall forthwith terminate and the total desited number of directors of the
Corporation shall be reduced accordingly.

E. Except for such additional directors, if anyaas elected by the holders of any series of PrerleBtock as provided for or fixed pursuant to
the provisions of Article IV of this Restated Céctate of Incorporation, any director may be renwfr®m office only with cause and only by
the affirmative vote of sixty six and two-thirdsrpent (66 2/3%) or more of the combined voting powfethe then issued and outstanding
shares of capital stock of the Corporation entittedote in the election of directors, voting tdgatas a single class.

ARTICLE VI
MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

A. Meetings of stockholders of the Corporation nbayheld within or without the State of DelawarettasBylaws of the Corporation may
provide. Except as otherwise provided for or fiyeolsuant to the provisions of Article 1V of this fated Certificate of Incorporation relating
to the rights of the holders of any series of Rrefit Stock, special meetings of stockholders ofGbgporation may be called only by the
Chairman of the Board, or by the Board pursuaat tesolution adopted by the Board. Special meetgsockholders may not be called by
any other person or persons or in any other manner.



B. In addition to the powers conferred on the Bdaydhis Restated Certificate of Incorporation éyadhe GCL, and without limiting the
generality thereof, the Board is specifically authed from time to time, by resolution of the Boavidhout additional authorization by the
stockholders of the Corporation, to adopt, amenepeal the Bylaws of the Corporation, in such famd with such terms as the Board may
determine, including, without limiting the genetglof the foregoing, Bylaws relating to: (1) regidga of the procedure for submission by
stockholders of nominations of persons to be eteig¢he Board; (2) regulation of the attendancanaiual or special meetings of the
stockholders of persons other than holders of teootheir proxies; and (3) regulation of the bessthat may properly be brought by a
stockholder of the Corporation before an annualpercial meeting of stockholders of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VII
STOCKHOLDER CONSENT

Except as otherwise provided for or fixed pursuarihe provisions of Article 1V relating to the hits of holders of any series of Preferred
Stock, no action that is required or permittededdken by the stockholders of the Corporatiomgitamanual or special meeting of
stockholders may be effected by written consesta¢kholders in lieu of a meeting of stockholderdess the action to be effected by written
consent of stockholders and the taking of suclbadiy such written consent have expressly beeroapgrin advance by the Board.

ARTICLE VI
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

A director of the Corporation shall not be lialdethie Corporation or its stockholders for monet#aynages for breach of fiduciary duty as a
director, except to the extent such exemption flialility or limitation thereof is not permitted der the GCL.

Any repeal or modification of the foregoing parggrahall not adversely affect any right or protattdf a director of the Corporation exist
hereunder with respect to any act or omission agayprior to such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE IX
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS; FAIR PRICE

A. In addition to any affirmative vote required layv or this Restated Certificate of Incorporatiand except as otherwise expressly provided
in paragraph B of this Article IX:

1. any merger or consolidation of the Corporatioamy Subsidiary (as hereinafter
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defined) with (a) any Interested Stockholder (agimafter defined), or (b) any other corporatioartpership or other entity (whether or not
itself an Interested Stockholder) which is, or afiech merger or consolidation would be, an Affdiéas hereinafter defined) of an Interested
Stockholder, other than a merger enacted in acnosdaith

Section 253 of the GCL; or

2. any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledgeféraor other disposition (in one transaction sedes of transactions) to or with any
Interested Stockholder, including all Affiliatesthie Interested Stockholder, of any assets of tirnp@ation or any Subsidiary having an
aggregate Fair Market Value (as hereinafter dejinéten million dollars ($10,000,000) or more; or

3. the issuance or transfer by the CorporatiomgrZubsidiary (in one transaction or a seriesaridactions) of any securities of the
Corporation or any Subsidiary to any Interested@tolder, including all Affiliates of the Interest&tockholder, in exchange for cash,
securities or other property (or a combinationébérhaving an aggregate Fair Market Value of téllian dollars ($10,000,000) or more
(other than on a pro rata basis to all holdersating Stock, as hereinafter defined, of the saraescbr series of Voting Stock held by the
Interested Stockholder pursuant to a stock sglfiassification, stock dividend or distributionvedirrants or rights and other than in
connection with the exercise or conversion of séiegrexercisable for or convertible into secustaf the Corporation of any of its
Subsidiaries which securities have been distribptecrata to all holders of Voting Stock); or

4. the adoption of any plan or proposal for theiti@tion or dissolution of the Corporation propobsgcr on behalf of an Interested
Stockholder or any Affiliates of an Interested &toalder; or

5. any reclassification of securities (including aaverse stock split), or recapitalization of @@rporation, or any merger or consolidation of
the Corporation with any of its Subsidiaries or atiyer transaction (whether or not an Interestedi®iolder is a party thereto) which has the
effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing theoportionate share by more than one percent (1%)eoissued and outstanding shares of any

class or series of equity or convertible securibiethe Corporation or any Subsidiary which aredily or indirectly owned by any Interested

Stockholder or one or more Affiliates of the Int&exl Stockholder, other than a merger enactedciordance with

Section 253 of the GLC;

shall require the affirmative vote of the holdefsbleast sixty six and two-thirds percent (6692)3f the voting power of the then issued and
outstanding Voting Stock, voting together as alsimgass, and, to the extent not prohibited byptewisions of the GCL, the affirmative
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vote of the holders of at least sixty six and thivets percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of tien issued and outstanding Voting Stock
not Beneficially Owned (as hereinafter definededily or indirectly by an Interested Stockholderaay Affiliate of any Interested
Stockholder. Such affirmative vote shall be reqilimetwithstanding the fact that no vote may be iregiy or that a lesser percentage may be
permitted, by law or in any agreement with anyaradi securities exchange or otherwise.

B. The provisions of Section A of this Article IXall not be applicable to any particular BusinessnBination (as hereinafter defined), and
such Business Combination shall require only sifitmeative vote as is required by law or any otpeosvision of this Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, if the conditions specified in eitlud the following paragraphs 1 or 2 are met:

1. the Business Combination shall have been apgrbya majority of the Continuing Directors (asdirafter defined); or
2. all of the following price and procedural comnatits shall have been met:

(a) the aggregate amount of the cash and the Faiké¥lValue as of the date of the consummatioh®Business Combination of
consideration other than cash, to be receivedhmresy the holders of Common Stock in such Busi®@smbination, shall be at least equal
to the highest of the following:

(i) (if applicable) the highest per share pricecliidiing any brokerage commissions, transfer taréssaliciting dealers' fees) paid by the
Interested Stockholder for any shares of CommonkStequired by it (A) within the three (3) year iperimmediately prior to the first public
announcement of the proposal of such Business Catibn (the "Announcement Date"), or (B) in thengaction in which it became an
Interested Stockholder, whichever is higher;

(i) the Fair Market Value per share of Common &ton the Announcement Date or on the date on witiehnterested Stockholder became
an Interested Stockholder (the "Determination Datghichever is higher; and

(iii) (if applicable) the price per share equathe Fair Market Value per share of Common Stockmeined pursuant to paragraph 2(a)(ii)
above, multiplied by the ratio of (A) the highesicp per share (including any brokerage commissitvassfer taxes and soliciting dealers'
fees) paid by the Interested Stockholder for arayesh



of Common Stock acquired by it within the threey@ar period immediately prior to the Announceni2ate to (B) the Fair Market Value ¢
share of Common Stock on the first day in sucheti83 year period upon which the Interested Stolddraacquired any shares of Common
Stock; and

(b) the aggregate amount of the cash and the Faikéf Value as of the date of the consummatioh@Business Combination of
consideration other than cash to be received medby holders of shares of any other class oesesther than Common Stock or Excluded
Preferred Stock (as hereinafter defined), of isartloutstanding Voting Stock shall be at leasaktuthe highest of the following (it being
intended that the requirements of this paragraph<all be required to be met with respect toesech class or series of issued and
outstanding Voting Stock, whether or not the Irdézd Stockholder has previously acquired any staragarticular class of Voting Stock):

(i) (if applicable) the highest per share pricecliinling any brokerage commissions, transfer taressaliciting dealers' fees) paid by the
Interested Stockholder for any shares of such dassries of Voting Stock acquired by it (A) witlthe three (3) year period immediately
prior to the Announcement Date, or (B) in the teaot®n in which it became an Interested Stockhold@ichever is higher;

(i) (if applicable) the highest preferential amower share to which the holders of shares of slads or series of Voting Stock are entitled in
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidatj dissolution or winding up of the Corporation;

(iii) the Fair Market Value per share of such classeries of Voting Stock on the Announcement Daten the Determination Date,
whichever is higher; and

(iv) (if applicable) the price per share equalhie Fair Market Value per share of such class offgoBtock determined pursuant to paragraph
2(b)(iii) above, multiplied by the ratio of (A) théghest per share price (including any brokeragamissions, transfer taxes and soliciting
dealers' fees) paid by the Interested Stockholwteaiiy shares of such class or series of VotingkSaaquired by it within the three (3) year
period immediately prior to the Announcement Dat¢R) the Fair Market Value per share of such ctdsgoting Stock on the first day in
such three (3) year period upon which the InteceSteckholder acquired any shares of such cla¥®tifig Stock; and
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(c) the consideration to be received by holders pérticular class or series of issued and outstgndoting Stock (including Common Stock
and other than Excluded Preferred Stock) shalhlmmsh or in the same form as the Interested Sobd&hhas previously paid for shares of
such class or series of Voting Stock (if the Insézd Stockholder has paid for shares of any cla¥sting Stock with varying forms of
consideration, the form of consideration for sulass or series of Voting Stock shall be either aasime form used to acquire the largest
number of shares of such class or series of V@iogk previously acquired by it); and

(d) after such Interested Stockholder has becomatarested Stockholder and prior to the consunonati such Business Combination: (i)
there shall have been no failure to declare andapéye regular date therefor any full quarterlyidiends (whether or not cumulative) on any
issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stackpeas approved by a majority of the Continuinge€tors; (ii) there shall have been no
reduction in the annual rate of dividends paidlm@ommon Stock (except as necessary to reflecs@ngivision of the Common Stock),
except as approved by a majority of the Continubirgctors; (iii) there shall have been an incraashe annual rate of dividends as neces
fully to reflect any recapitalization (includingyareverse stock split), reorganization or any samieorganization which has the effect of
reducing the number of issued and outstanding slairdie Common Stock, unless the failure so toeimge such annual rate is approved by a
majority of the Continuing Directors; and (iv) sulcherested Stockholder shall not have become #reeficial Owner of any additional

Voting Stock except as part of the transaction Whesults in such Interested Stockholder becomiminierested Stockholder; and

(e) after such Interested Stockholder has becontetaerested Stockholder, such Interested Stockihaldall not have received the benefit,
directly or indirectly (except proportionately astackholder), of any loans, advances, guaranpesges or other financial assistance or any
tax credits or other tax advantages provided byCthooration, whether in anticipation of or in cewtion with such Business Combination or
otherwise; and

(f) a proxy or information statement describing pneposed Business Combination and complying wi¢hrequirements of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulatibeseunder (or any subsequent provisions replastiey Act, rules or regulations) shall be
mailed to stockholders of the Corporation at I¢aisty (30) days prior to the consummation of s&elsiness Combination (whether or not
such proxy or



information statement is required to be made puntsteasuch Act or subsequent provisions).
C. For purposes of this Article 1X the followinges shall have the following meanings:

1. "Affiliate” or "Associate" shall have the respige meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule 18btBe General Rules and Regulations
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as agtefrom time to time.

2. "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning asxitilo such term in Rule 13d-3 of the General RatesRegulations of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to timeddition, a Person shall be the "Beneficial @'rof any Voting Stock which such
Person or any of its Affiliates or Associates Ha3the right to acquire (whether such right isreisable immediately or only after the pass
of time), pursuant to any agreement, arrangemeunnderstanding or upon the exercise of conversging, exchange rights, warrants or
options, or otherwise; or (b) the right to voteguant to any agreement, arrangement or understa(ialih neither such Person nor any such
Affiliate or Associate shall be deemed to be thaediial Owner of any shares of Voting Stock solejyyreason of a revocable proxy granted
for a particular meeting of the stockholders, parguo a public solicitation of proxies for suchetirg, and with respect to which shares
neither such Person nor any such Affiliate of Assiecis otherwise deemed the Beneficial Owner).

3. "Business Combination” shall mean any transaat&scribed in any one or more of clauses (1) tiird6) of Section A of this Article IX.

4. "Continuing Director" shall mean any memberhef Board who is unaffiliated with and is not théeehested Stockholder and was a member
of the Board prior to the time that the Interesidckholder became an Interested Stockholder, apdisector who is thereafter chosen to
any vacancy on the Board or who is elected and wheither event, is unaffiliated with the Inter$iStockholder and in connection with his
or her initial assumption of office is recommendedappointment or election by a majority of Coniimg Directors then on the Board.

5. "Excluded Preferred Stock" means any seriegefeRed Stock with respect to which a majoritytted Continuing Directors have approved
a Preferred Stock Designation creating such s#rasexpressly provides that the provisions of &riscle IX shall not apply.

6. "Fair Market Value" shall mean: (a) in the cagstock, the highest closing sale price duringtttigy (30) day period immediately
preceding the date in question of a share of stoatk ®n the Composite Tape for New York Stock Exgealisted
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stocks, or, if such stock is not quoted on the ansitp tape, on the New York Stock Exchange, audh stock is not listed on such exchange,
on the principal United States securities exchargestered under the Securities Exchange Act oft I88which such stock is listed, or, if
such stock is not listed on any such exchangehititeest closing bid quotation with respect to arshtd such stock during the thirty (30) day
period preceding the date in question on the Natidssociation of Securities Dealers, Inc. Autordafiotations System or any system then
in use in its stead, or if no such quotations amglable, the fair market value on the date in ¢joesof a share of such stock as determined by
the Board in accordance with Section D of this @etilX; and (b) in the case of property other thash or stock, the fair market value of such
property on the date in question as determinedh&yBbard in accordance with Section D of this Aetikx.

7. "Interested Stockholder" shall mean any Persar wwhich:

(a) itself, or along with its Affiliates, is the Beficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more théifteen percent (15%) of the then issued and
outstanding Voting Stock; or

(b) is an Affiliate of the Corporation and at amypé within the three (3) year period immediateliopto the date in question was itself, or
along with its Affiliates, the Beneficial Owner rdéctly or indirectly, of fifteen percent (15%) owone of the then issued and outstanding
Voting Stock; or

(c) is an assignee of or has otherwise succeedalytyoting Stock which was at any time within these (3) year period immediately prior
to the date in question beneficially owned by aerdested Stockholder, if such assignment or suigeshall have occurred in the course of a
transaction or series of transactions not invohargublic offering within the meaning of the Setias Act of 1933.

For the purpose of determining whether a Persan isiterested Stockholder pursuant to paragragtitisoSection C, the number of share
Voting Stock deemed to be issued and outstandialyjisiclude shares deemed owned through applicatigraragraph 2 of this Section C but
shall not include any other shares of Voting Stihak may be issuable pursuant to any agreemeafgagment or understanding, or upon
exercise of conversion rights, warrants or optionstherwise.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaiirethis Restated Certificate of Incorporation, foarrposes of this Restated Certificate
Incorporation, the term "Interested Stockholdewlshot, for any purpose, include, and the provisiof Article IX(A) hereof shall not apply
to: (a) the Corporation or any Subsidiary; or (by amployee stock ownership plan of the Corporatioany Subsidiary.
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8. In the event of any Business Combination in Whie Corporation survives, the phrase "other c@nation to be received" as used in
paragraphs 2(a) and (b) and paragraph B of thisladiX shall include the shares of Common Stoc#t/anthe shares of any other class of
issued and outstanding Voting Stock retained byhtiiders of such shares.

9. "Person" shall mean any individual, firm, comtion, partnership or other entity.

10. "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation or pthaity of which the Corporation owns, directlyindirectly, securities that enable the
Corporation to elect a majority of the board ofdiors or other persons performing similar funciofsuch corporation or entity or that
otherwise give to the Corporation the power to marguch corporation or entity.

11. "Voting Stock" means all issued and outstandimayes of capital stock of the Corporation thaspant to or in accordance with this
Restated Certificate of Incorporation are entitiedote generally in the election of directorstud ICorporation, and each reference herein,
where appropriate, to a percentage or portion afeshof Voting Stock shall refer to such percentageortion of the voting power of such
shares entitled to vote. The issued and outstaratiages of Voting Stock shall not include any sbarfé/oting Stock that may be issuable
pursuant to any agreement, or upon the exerciserorersion of any rights, warrants or options deolvise.

D. The Continuing Directors of the Corporation $halve the power and duty to determine for the pseg of this Article IX, on the basis of
information known to them after reasonable inquaty facts necessary to determine compliance vhith Article 1X, including, without
limitation: (i) whether a Person is an Interestéatc&holder; (ii) the number of shares of Voting &deneficially owned by any Person; (iii)
whether a Person is an Affiliate or Associate afther; (iv) whether the applicable conditions setH in paragraph 2 of paragraph B of this
Article IX have been met with respect to any Bussn\€ombination; (v) the Fair Market Value of statlother property in accordance with
paragraph 6 of paragraph C of this Article IX; and

(vi) whether the assets which are the subject gpfBarsiness Combination have, or the consideratidretreceived for the issuance or transfer
of securities by the Corporation or any Subsidiargny Business Combination has, an aggregateMraiket Value of ten million dollars
($10,000,000) or more.

E. Nothing contained in this Article IX shall benstrued to relieve any Interested Stockholder femy fiduciary obligation imposed by law.
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ARTICLE X.
AMENDMENT OF CORPORATE DOCUMENTS

A. In addition to any affirmative vote required agplicable law and in addition to any vote of tlodders of any series of Preferred Stock
provided for or fixed pursuant to the provisionsfaficle IV of this Restated Certificate of Incomation, any alteration, amendment, repeal or
rescission (a "Change") of any provision of thistéed Certificate of Incorporation must be appdove at least a majority of the then
serving directors and by the affirmative vote af tiolders of at least a majority of the combinetingppower of the issued and outstanding
shares of Voting Stock, voting together as a sioss; provided, however, that if any such Chaetaes to Articles V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, XI

or XII hereof or to this Article X, such Change makso be approved by the affirmative vote of thidars of at least sixty six and two-thirds
percent (66 2/3%) of the combined voting powerthefissued and outstanding shares of Voting Stamtingy together as a single class.

Subject to the provisions hereof, the Corporateserves the right at any time, and from time teetito amend, alter, repeal or rescind any
provision contained in this Restated Certificaténarporation in the manner now or hereafter pibed by law, and other provisions
authorized by the laws of the State of Delawarthatime in force may be added or inserted, imta@ner now or hereinafter prescribed by
law; and all rights, preferences and privileges/batsoever nature conferred upon stockholdersgtoire or any other persons whomsoeve
and pursuant to this Restated Certificate of Inomafion in its present form or as hereafter ameratedyranted subject to the rights reserved
in this Article X.

B. In addition to any affirmative vote required layv, any Change of the Bylaws of the Corporatiory i@ adopted either: (i) by the Board
(i) by the stockholders by the affirmative votetb& holders of at least sixty six and two-thirésqent (66 2/3%) of the combined voting
power of the issued and outstanding shares of Y@iock, voting together as a single class.

ARTICLE XI.
BOARD CONSIDERATIONS UPON SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

The Board, when evaluating any (A) tender offeineitation for tenders, or proposal to make a teraffer or request or invitation for
tenders, by another party, for any equity secwitihe Corporation, or (B) proposal or offer by #rey party to (1) merge or consolidate the
Corporation or any subsidiary with another corpgorabr other entity, (2) purchase or otherwise &egall or a substantial portion of the
properties or assets of the Corporation or anyidisvg, or sell or otherwise dispose of to the Gwgtion or any subsidiary all or a substantial
portion of the properties or assets of such othetypor (3) liquidate, dissolve, reclassify thewgdties of, declare an extraordinary dividend
of, recapitalize
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or reorganize the Corporation, may take into actalifactors that the Board deems relevant, incgdwithout limitation, to the extent so
deemed relevant, the potential impact on employaegpomers, suppliers, partners, joint venturedsather constituents of the Corporation
and the communities in which the Corporation opesat

ARTICLE Xl
STRUCTURE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A. The Board (other than those directors electethbyholders of any series of Preferred Stock pieifor or fixed pursuant to the provisions
of Article IV hereof ("Preferred Stock Directors'§hall be divided into three classes, as nearlgpldgunumber as possible, designated Cla
Class Il and Class lll. Class | directors shatligliiy serve until the 1999 meeting of stockholdeZtass Il directors shall initially serve until
the 2000 meeting of stockholders; and Class IBaors shall initially serve until the 2001 meetofgstockholders. Commencing with the
annual meeting of stockholders in 1999, directérsach class, the term of which shall then ex@hall be elected to hold office for a three-
year term and until the election and qualificatidriheir respective successors in office. In cdseng increase or decrease, from time to ti

in the number of directors (other than PreferramtEDirectors), the number of directors in eacls€lshall be apportioned as nearly equal as
possible.

B. Any director chosen to fill a vacancy or newhgated directorship shall hold office until the hebection of the class for which such
director shall have been chosen and until his oshecessor shall be elected and qualified or thnil earlier death, resignation,
disqualification or removal.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Restated Certificate afdrporation has been signed this 5th day of MatéBg8.
MARINEMAX, INC.

By: /s/ WlliamH MGII

Wlliam (Bill) H MGII, Jr., President
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF
RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
MARINEMAX, INC.

MarineMax, Inc., a corporation organized and emgstinder and by virtue of the General Corporatiaw lof the State of Delaware (the
"Corporation"), does hereby certify:

FIRST: That the Board of Directors of the Corparatiby the unanimous written consent of its memtsedepted a resolution proposing and
declaring advisable a proposed amendment to thefed<Certificate of Incorporation of the Corpooatiamending Article IV thereof to read
as follows:

"ARTICLE IV
AUTHORIZED CAPITAL STOCK

The total number of shares of stock that the Capmr shall have the authority to issue is TwengeMMillion (25,000,000), consisting of
Twenty+our Million (24,000,000) shares of Common Stodk;, yalue $.001 per share ("Common Stock™) and Oiligol (1,000,000) share
of Preferred Stock, par value $.001 per share féed Stock").

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Bb#is hereby authorized to increase the total bemof authorized shares to any amount
consisting of any greater number of Common StodRreferred Stock so long as such amounts do nedxeerty-Five Million (45,000,000),
consisting of Forty Million (40,000,000) sharesGdmmon Stock and Five Million (5,000,000) sharePrdferred Stock, by filing a
certificate of amendment pursuant to the Genergb@ation Law of the State of Delaware (the "GCL").

The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to timene or more series. The Board is hereby autbdrio provide for the issuance of
shares of Preferred Stock in one or more seriestgnfiling a certificate pursuant to the GCL (hiesdter referred to as "Preferred Stock
Designation"), to establish from time to time thember of shares to be included in each such semgbsto fix the designation, powers,
preferences, and the relative, participating, ayatipor other rights of the shares of each sudesand the



qualifications, limitations, and restrictions thef.eThe authority of the Board with respect to eaehies shall include, but not be limited to,
determination of the following:

A. the designation of the series, which may beibtirdyuishing number, letter or title;

B. the number of shares of the series, which nurtii'eBoard may thereafter (except where otherwiseiged in the Preferred Stock
Designation) increase or decrease (but not belewntimber of shares thereof then outstanding);

C. whether dividends, if any, shall be cumulativenoncumulative and the rights with respect todkwids of the series;
D. the redemption rights and price or prices, if,dor shares of the series;
E. the terms and amount of any sinking fund pradifie the purchase or redemption of shares of ¢hies

F. the amounts payable on, and the preferencasyijfof shares of the series in the event of atyntary or involuntary liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of theroration;

G. whether the shares of the series shall be ctibleinto shares of any other class or seriesngrother security, of the Corporation or any
other corporation, and, if so, the specificatiorseth other class or series of such other sectingyconversion price or prices or rate or rates,
any adjustments thereof, the date or dates at vehich shares shall be convertible and all othengemd conditions upon which such
conversion may be made;

H. restrictions on the issuance of shares of theesseries or of any other class or series; and
I. the voting rights, if any, of the holders of sémof the series.

The Common Stock shall be subject to the expressstef the Preferred Stock and any series thefdwf.holders of shares of Common St
shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each suchiesbaon all questions presented generally to thekhblders.

The number of authorized shares of Common Sto¢keferred Stock may be increased or decreasead@bbielow the
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number of shares thereof then outstanding) by ffirenative vote of the holders of a majority in e power of the stock of the Corporation
entitled to vote thereon irrespective of the primris of Section 242(b)(2) of the GCL of the Stat®elaware, and no vote of the holders of
either the Common Stock or the Preferred Stockhgateparately as a class shall be required thefrefor

SECOND: That the aforesaid amendment to Articlofthe Restated Certificate of Incorporation waly daopted and approved by the
affirmative vote of the stockholders of the Corpimma entitled to vote thereon, in accordance wlitd provisions of the Restated Certificate of

Incorporation.

THIRD: That the aforesaid amendment was duly adbjpteccordance with the applicable provisions eftfon 242 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, MarineMax, Inc. has caused @gstificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténgorporation to be signed by
William H. McGill, its Chief Executive Officer, asf the 28th day of February, 2001.

MARINEMAX, INC.

By: /s/ WlliamH MGII

WlliamH MGII,
Chi ef Executive Oficer
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
BYLAWS
OF
MARINEMAX, INC.
ARTICLE |
STOCKHOLDERS

Section 1.1 Place of Meetings. Meetings of stoolkéid shall be held at the place, either within ihewt the State of Delaware, as may be
designated by resolution of the Board of Direcfoosn time to time.

Section 1.2 Annual Meetings. If required by apdiedaw, an annual meeting of the stockholdersl &lgaheld for the election of directors at
such date, time and place, either with or withbet $tate of Delaware, as may be designated byutesobf the Board of Directors from time
to time. Any other proper business may be trandamt¢he annual meeting.

Section 1.3 Special Meetings. Except as otherwigeiged for or fixed pursuant to the Certificatelo€orporation relating to the rights of the
holders of any series of preferred stock of th@omation, special meetings of stockholders mayated only by the Chairman of the Board
of Directors, or by the Board of Directors pursutané resolution adopted by the Board of Directarg] may not be called by any other
person or persons or in any other manner.

Section 1.4 Notice of Meetings. Whenever stockhsldee required or permitted to take any acticen meeting, a written notice of the
meeting shall be given which shall state the pldaés and hour of the meeting, and, in the casespicial meeting, the purpose or purposes
for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwisgvmled by law, the Certificate of Incorporationtbese Bylaws, the written notice of any
meeting shall be given no less than ten

(10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the dathe meeting to each stockholder entitled to \ateuch meeting. If mailed, such notice
shall be deemed to be given when deposited in Hik postage prepaid, directed to the stockholtlbisaor her address as it appears on the
records of the corporation.

Section 1.5 Adjournments. Any meeting of stockhddannual or special, may adjourn from time tcetitm reconvene at the same or some
other place, and notice need not be given of an adjourned meeting if the time and place theaeefannounced at the meeting at whicl
adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meetingctitporation may transact any business which mighietbeen transacted at the original
meeting. If the adjournment is for more than th{8Q) days, or if after the adjournment a new rdatate is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a
notice of the adjourned meeting shall be givenatthestockholder of record entitled to vote at thetimg.



Section 1.6 Quorum. Except as otherwise providethhy the Certificate of Incorporation or these 8yk, at each meeting of stockholders
presence in person or by proxy of the holders afehof stock having a majority of the votes widohld be cast by the holders of all
outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote ahtketing shall be necessary and sufficient to domsta quorum. In the absence of a quorum,
the stockholders so present may, by majority vad@gurn the meeting from time to time in the marprewided in Section 1.5 of these
Bylaws until a quorum shall attend. Shares of W Gtock belonging to the corporation or to anott@poration, if a majority of the shares
entitled to vote in the election of directors o€kwther corporation is held, directly or indirgectby the corporation, shall neither be entitle:
vote nor be counted for quorum purposes; provitediever, that the foregoing shall not limit thehtigf the corporation to vote stock,
including but not limited to its own stock, held ibyn a fiduciary capacity.

Section 1.7 Organization. Meetings of stockholddrall be presided over by the Chairman of the Baedhy, or in his or her absence by the
Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, or in his or absence by the President, or in his or her alesey@ Vice President, or in the absence of
the foregoing persons by a chairman designatetidBbard of Directors, or in the absence of sudigkation by a chairman chosen at the
meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretaryeafideting, but in his or her absence the chairmhimeaneeting may appoint any person to
act as secretary of the meeting. The date anddfrttee opening and the closing of the polls forteamatter upon which the stockholders will
vote at a meeting shall be announced at the mek¥inige person presiding over the meeting. The @o&Directors may adopt by resolution
such rules and regulations for the conduct of teeting of stockholders as it shall deem appropriateept to the extent inconsistent with
such rules and regulations as adopted by the Bafdbitectors, the person presiding over any meetingtockholders shall have the right and
authority to convene and to adjourn the meetingréscribe such rules, regulations and procedurédcado all such acts as, in the judgment
of such chairman, are appropriate for the propaduoot of the meeting. Such rules, regulations ocedures, whether adopted by the Boa
Directors or prescribed by the presiding officetttd meeting, may include, without limitation, fielowing: (i) the establishment of an
agenda or order of business for the meeting;i8s and procedures for maintaining order at thetimg and the safety of those present; (iii)
limitations on attendance at or participation ia theeting to stockholders of record of the corponatheir duly authorized and constituted
proxies or such other persons as the chairmaneahtteting shall determine; (iv) restrictions ormgtd the meeting after the time fixed for
the commencement thereof; and (v) limitations anttime allotted to questions or comments by pardicts. The presiding officer at any
meeting of stockholders, in addition to making attyer determinations that may be appropriate tatimeluct of the meeting, shall, if the
facts warrant, determine and declare to the meétiaiga matter or business was not properly brobgfdre the meeting and if such presiding
officer should so determine, such person shallesade to the meeting and any such matter or bssinet properly brought before the
meeting shall not be transacted or considered.ddrdad to the extent determined by the Board afdirs or the person presiding over the
meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not beireduo be held in accordance with the rules ofiparentary procedure.

Section 1.8 Voting; Proxies. Except as otherwiswvioled by the Certificate of Incorporation, eaabckholder entitled to vote at any meeting
of stockholders shall be entitled to one vote facteshare of stock held by him which has voting growpon the matter |



guestion. Each stockholder entitled to vote at ating of stockholders may authorize another pessqrersons to act for him by proxy, but
no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon aftertli3) years from its date, unless the proxy plewifor a longer period. A duly executed
proxy shall be irrevocable if it states that itrrevocable and if, and only as long as, it is dedpvith an interest sufficient in law to suppon
irrevocable power. A stockholder may revoke anypnehich is not irrevocable by attending the megtmd voting in person or by filing an
instrument in writing revoking the proxy or anotliely executed proxy bearing a later date withSkeretary of the corporation. Voting at
meetings of stockholders need not be by writtetobahd need not be conducted by inspectors ofieleanless so determined by the holders
of shares of stock having a majority of the votésclv could be cast by the holders of all outstagdinares of stock entitled to vote thereon
which are present in person or by proxy at suchtimgeAt all meetings of stockholders for the eiectof directors a plurality of the votes
cast shall be sufficient to elect. All other eleas and questions shall, unless otherwise provigddw, the Certificate of Incorporation or
these Bylaws, be decided by the vote of the holdeshares of stock having a majority of the vatdsch could be cast by the holders of all
shares of stock entitled to vote thereon whichpaesent in person or represented by proxy at thetinge

Section 1.9 Filing Date for Determination of Stoolders of Record. In order that the Corporation metermine the stockholders entitled to
notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholdarany adjournment thereof, or to express consecrporate action in writing without a
meeting, or entitled to receive payment of anydbwvid or other distribution or allotment of any tiglor entitled to exercise any rights in
respect of any change, conversion or exchangeok sir for the purpose of any other lawful actitirg Board of Directors may fix a record
date, which record date shall not precede theufaie which the resolution fixing the record datadepted by the Board of Directors and
which record date: (1) in the case of determinatibstockholders entitled to vote at any meetingtotkholders or adjournment thereof, st
unless otherwise required by law, not be more #igy (60) nor less than ten (10) days before #ite @f such meeting; (2) in the case of
determination of stockholders entitled to expremssent to corporate action in writing without a tirag, shall not be more than ten (10) days
from the date upon which the resolution fixing theord date is adopted by the Board of Directand; @) in the case of any other action,
shall not be more than sixty

(60) days prior to such other action. If no recdatee is fixed: (1) the record date for determirstgckholders entitled to notice of or to vote at
a meeting of stockholders shall be at the clodausiness on the day next preceding the day on widthe is given, or, if notice is waived, at
the close of business on the day next precedindafien which the meeting is held; (2) the recatbdor determining stockholders entitled
to express consent to corporate action in writiftheut a meeting when no prior action of the Boafr®irectors is required by law, shall be
the first date on which a signed written consettirggforth the action taken or proposed to be makedelivered to the corporation in
accordance with applicable law, or, if prior actlonthe Board of Directors is required by law, sbhal at the close of business on the day on
which the Board of Directors adopts the resoluteking such prior action; and (3) the record datedietermining stockholders for any other
purpose shall be at the close of business on thewavhich the Board of Directors adopts the retsmturelating thereto. A determination of
stockholders of record entitled to notice of ovtde at a meeting of stockholders shall apply tpatjournment of the meeting; provided,
however, that the Board of Directors may fix a meword date for the adjourned meeti



Section 1.10 List of Stockholders Entitled to VOolde Secretary shall prepare and make, at leagt @rdays before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholdetgled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alptiahkorder, and showing the address of each
stockholder and the number of shares registeréitcimame of each stockholder. Such list shall lenap the examination of any stockholder,
for any purpose germane to the meeting, as reqbirexpplicable law. Upon the willful neglect orueél of the directors to produce such list
at any meeting for the election of directors held place, or to open such a list to examinatiom o@asonably accessible electronic network
during any meeting for the election of directorfdhsmlely by means of remote communication, theglldie ineligible for election to any

office at such meeting. The stock ledger shallgeanly evidence as to who are the stockholdeidezhto examine the stock ledger, the list
of stockholders or the books of the corporatiortporote in person or by proxy at any meeting otkholders.

Section 1.11 Action by Consent of Stockholders.gddslotherwise restricted by the Certificate of tpocation, any action required or
permitted to be taken at any annual or special imgef the stockholders may be taken without a mgetvithout prior notice and without a
vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth thdian so taken, shall be signed by the holders tftanding stock having not less than the
minimum number of votes that would be necessaguthorize or take such action at a meeting at wallcbhares entitled to vote thereon
were present and voted. Prompt notice of the ta&frie corporate action without a meeting by kss unanimous written consent shall be
given to those stockholders who have not consentedliting.

Section 1.12 Notice of Stockholder Business and iNations.

(A) Annual Meetings of Stockholders. (1) Nominasasf persons for election to the Board of Directfrthe corporation and the proposal of
business to be considered by the stockholders mawdule at an annual meeting of stockholders oflguesuant to the corporation's notice
meeting (or any supplement thereto), (b) by ohatdirection of the Board of Directors or (c) byatockholder of the corporation who was a
stockholder of record of the corporation at theetitine notice provided for in this

Section 1.12 is delivered to the Secretary of tirparation, who is entitled to vote at the meeting who complies with the notice procedt
set forth in this Section 1.12.

(2) For nominations or other business to be prgdadught before an annual meeting by a stockhgldesuant to clause

(c) of paragraph (A)(1) of this Section 1.12, theckholder must have given timely notice thereafvititing to the Secretary of the corporat
and any such proposed business other than the atiaria of persons for election to the Board of Etioes must constitute a proper matter for
stockholder action. To be timely, a stockholdeogag shall be delivered to the Secretary at tlecjral executive offices of the corporation
not later than the close of business on the nite(@0th) day nor earlier than tl



close of business on the one hundred twentiethtii) 2y prior to the first anniversary of the préiog year's annual meeting (provided,
however, that in the event that the date of theiahmeeting is more than thirty (30) days beforenore than seventy (70) days after such
anniversary date, notice by the stockholder musichéelivered not earlier than the close of busiesthe one hundred twentieth

(120th) day prior to such annual meeting and riet lnan the close of business on the later ohthetieth (90th) day prior to such annual
meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the daywvehich public announcement of the date of suchtimgés first made by the corporation).
In no event shall the public announcement of anwdment or postponement of an annual meeting caroena new time period (or extend
any time period) for the giving of a stockholdertgice as described above. Such stockholder'senstiall set forth:

(a) as to each person whom the stockholder progosssminate for election as a director (i) allorhation relating to such person that is
required to be disclosed in solicitations of prexier election of directors in an election contestis otherwise required, in each case pursuant
to and in accordance with Regulation 14A underSbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeH&nge Act") and (ii) such person's
written consent to being named in the proxy statéras a nominee and to serving as a director dtete (b) as to any other business that the
stockholder proposes to bring before the meetifgied description of the business desired to lmaipht before the meeting, the text of the
proposal or business (including the text of anplgons proposed for consideration and in the etheat such business includes a proposal to
amend the Bylaws of the corporation, the languddgheoproposed amendment), the reasons for comustich business at the meeting and
any material interest in such business of suctkbtmder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whbshkalf the proposal is made; and (c) as to
the stockholder giving the notice and the bendfmiener, if any, on whose behalf the nominatiorpmposal is made (i) the name and adc

of such stockholder, as they appear on the coiipatatbooks, and of such beneficial owner, (ii) ¢hass and number of shares of capital s

of the corporation which are owned beneficially afidecord by such stockholder and such benefwiaier,

(iii) a representation that the stockholder is llpof record of stock of the corporation entitted/ote at such meeting and intends to appear
in person or by proxy at the meeting to proposé sugsiness or nomination, and (iv) a representatiogether the stockholder or the benefi
owner, if any, intends or is part of a group whicetends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/onfaf proxy to holders of at least the
percentage of the corporatio



outstanding capital stock required to approve apathe proposal or elect the nominee and/or (y¢tise to solicit proxies from
stockholders in support of such proposal or norienafl he foregoing notice requirements shall bentegb satisfied by a stockholder if the
stockholder has notified the corporation of hiser intention to present a proposal at an annuatingein compliance with Rule 14a-8 (or
any successor thereof) promulgated under the ExghAont and such stockholder's proposal has bedudied in a proxy statement that has
been prepared by the corporation to solicit profeesuch annual meeting. The corporation may recamy proposed nominee to furnish s
other information as it may reasonably requiredtednine the eligibility of such proposed nominesérve as a director of the corporation.

(3) Notwithstanding anything in the second sentexfqearagraph (A)(2) of this Section 1.12 to thetcary, in the event that the number of
directors to be elected to the Board of Directdrthe corporation at an annual meeting is increasetithere is no public announcement by
the corporation naming the nominees for the aduktialirectorships at least one hundred (100) dags fo the first anniversary of the
preceding year's annual meeting, a stockholdetisenequired by this Section 1.12 shall also besatered timely, but only with respect to
nominees for the additional directorships, if iaklve delivered to the Secretary at the princgacutive offices of the corporation not later
than the close of business on the tenth

(10th) day following the day on which such publimauncement is first made by the corporation.

(B) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only suchitesss shall be conducted at a special meetingpoklsblders as shall have been brought
before the meeting pursuant to the corporatiortie@of meeting. Nominations of persons for elattio the Board of Directors may be made
at a special meeting of stockholders at which timscare to be elected pursuant to the corporatiwstice of meeting (1) by or at the direction
of the Board of Directors or (2) provided that Bward of Directors has determined that directoedl ¢fe elected at such meeting, by any
stockholder of the corporation who is a stockholfenecord at the time the notice provided fortirstSection 1.12 is delivered to the
Secretary of the corporation, who is entitled ttevat the meeting and upon such election and whiplies with the notice procedures set
forth in this Section 1.12. In the event the cogtion calls a special meeting of stockholders lierpurpose of electing one or more directors
to the Board of Directors, any such stockholdeitledtto vote in such election of directors may roate a person or persons (as the case ma
be)



for election to such position(s) as specified & tlorporation’s notice of meeting, if the stockleokinotice required by paragraph (A)(2) of
this Section 1.12 shall be delivered to the Senyettthe principal executive offices of the coguawn not earlier than the close of business on
the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to sscial meeting and not later than the close sin@ss on the later of the ninetieth (90th)
day prior to such special meeting or the tenthi(L8&ay following the day on which public announceiris first made of the date of the
special meeting and of the nominees proposed bRdlaed of Directors to be elected at such meetimgo event shall the public
announcement of an adjournment or postponemenspécial meeting commence a new time period (@mekany time period) for the givi

of a stockholder's notice as described above.

(C) General. (1) Only such persons who are noméhiat@ccordance with the procedures set forthisSection 1.12 shall be eligible to be
elected at an annual or special meeting of stodénslof the corporation to serve as directors amyl suich business shall be conducted at a
meeting of stockholders as shall have been brdugflare the meeting in accordance with the procedseeforth in this

Section 1.12. Except as otherwise provided by theschairman of the meeting shall have the powdrduty (a) to determine whether a
nomination or any business proposed to be brougfioreé the meeting was made or proposed, as thextagée, in accordance with the
procedures set forth in this

Section 1.12 (including whether the stockholdebemeficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the naation or proposal is made solicited (o
part of a group which solicited) or did not so sitlias the case may be, proxies in support of stmtkholder's nominee or proposal in
compliance with such stockholder's representatiorequired by clause (A)(2)(c)(iv) of this SectibA2) and (b) if any proposed nomination
or business was not made or proposed in compliartbethis Section 1.12, to declare that such notmnashall be disregarded or that such
proposed business shall not be transacted. Notaittsg the foregoing provisions of this

Section 1.12, if the stockholder (or a qualifiedressentative of the stockholder) does not appeidweannual or special meeting of
stockholders of the corporation to present a notiuinar business, such nomination shall be diskgghand such proposed business shall nof
be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies ineespf such vote may have been received by theocatipn.

(2) For purposes of this Section 1.12, "public amreement"” shall include disclosure in a press seleaported by the Dow Jones News
Service, Associated Press or comparable nat



news service or in a document publicly filed by teporation with the Securities and Exchange Casioin pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15
(d) of the Exchange Act.

(3) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions ofstifiection 1.12, a stockholder shall also comply wik applicable requirements of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations therunith respect to the matters set forth in this

Section 1.12. Nothing in this Section 1.12 shaltlbemed to affect any rights (a) of stockholdengtuest inclusion of proposals in the
corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule&84dader the Exchange Act or (b) of the holdersnyf series of preferred stock to elect
directors pursuant to any applicable provisionthefCertificate of Incorporation.

Section 1.13 Inspectors of Election. The corporatimy, and shall if required by law, in advanceamy meeting of stockholders, appoint one
or more inspectors of election, who may be emplsy#e¢he corporation, to act at the meeting or agjpurnment thereof and to make a
written report thereof. The corporation may desigrame or more persons as alternate inspectoeptace any inspector who fails to act. In
the event that no inspector so appointed or detddria able to act at a meeting of stockholdeesperson presiding at the meeting shall
appoint one or more inspectors to act at the mgefiach inspector, before entering upon the digghaf his or her duties, shall take and sign
an oath to execute faithfully the duties of inspeetith strict impartiality and according to thesbef his or her ability. The inspector or
inspectors so appointed or designated shall (Bré&io the number of shares of capital stock oftthiporation outstanding and the voting
power of each such share, (ii) determine the shafreapital stock of the corporation representeth@atmeeting and the validity of proxies and
ballots, (iii) count all votes and ballots, (iv)tdemine and retain for a reasonable period a regbtide disposition of any challenges made to
any determination by the inspectors, and (v) getligir determination of the number of shares gitehstock of the corporation represented
at the meeting and such inspectors' count of ais/and ballots. Such certification and reportlsggecify such other information as may be
required by law. In determining the validity anduating of proxies and ballots cast at any meetingtackholders of the corporation, the
inspectors may consider such information as is fitthby applicable law. No person who is a candidar an office at an election may se
as an inspector at such election.

ARTICLE II
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 2.1 Number; Qualifications. The Board ofdotors shall consist of not less than one (1)more than fifteen (15) members, the
number thereof to be determined from time to timedsolution of the Board of Directors. The numbgdirectors which shall comprise the
initial Board of Directors shall be that number fagth in the Certificate of Incorporation. Direcsoneed not be stockholde



Section 2.2 Election; Resignation; Removal; VacasnoDther than those directors elected by the holafeany series of preferred stock of the
corporation provided for or fixed pursuant to theri@icate of Incorporation, the Board of Directatsall be divided into three classes, as
nearly equal in number as possible, designatedass € Class Il and Class lll. Class | directdralkinitially serve until the 1999 meeting of
stockholders; Class Il directors shall initiallynge until the 2000 meeting of stockholders; ands€ldl directors shall initially serve until the
2001 meeting of stockholders. Commencing with tieual meeting of stockholders in 1999, directorsaxth class, the term of which shall
then expire, shall be elected to hold office fohr@e-year term and until the election and qualtfan of their respective successors in office.
In case of any increase or decrease, form timient, in the number of directors (other than thasectbrs elected by the holders of any series
of preferred stock of the corporation provideddofixed pursuant to the Certificate of Incorpooad), the number of directors in each class
shall be apportioned as nearly equal as possilvig.ditector chosen to fill a vacancy or newly ceshdirectorship shall hold office until the
next election of the class for which such directaall have been chosen and until his or her suocebsll be elected and qualified or until
their earlier death, resignation, disqualificat@mremoval. Any director may resign at any time mpoitten notice to the corporation. Unless
otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incogaan and except as otherwise provided for or figatsuant to the Certificate of
Incorporation relating to the rights of the holdefsany series of preferred stock of the Corporatamy newly created directorships resulting
from any increase in the authorized number of dims¢ and any vacancies on the Board of Direciesslting from death, resignation,
disqualification, removal or other cause, may Bedionly by the affirmative vote of a majority tife remaining directors then in office, even
though less than a quorum, and each director steeleshall hold office until the expiration of ttegm of office of the director whom he has
replaced or until his or her successor is electetcpalified.

Section 2.3 Regular Meetings. Regular meetingh®Board of Directors may be held at such placésinvor without the State of Delaware
and at such times as the Board of Directors may time to time determine, and if so determinedicestthereof need not be given.

Section 2.4 Special Meetings. Special meetingh®Board of Directors may be held at any time acelwithin or without the State of
Delaware whenever called by the President, any Fresident, the Secretary, or by any member oBterd of Directors. Notice of a special
meeting of the Board of Directors shall be giverthy person or persons calling the meeting at tegeity-four (24) hours before the special
meeting.

Section 2.5 Telephonic Meetings Permitted. Membéthe Board of Directors, or any committee desigday the Board of Directors, may
participate in a meeting thereof by means of canfee telephone or similar communications equiprbgmheans of which all persons
participating in the meeting can hear each othet,garticipation in a meeting pursuant to this fyhall constitute presence in person at
meeting.

Section 2.6 Quorum; Vote Required for Action. Atraketings of the Board of Directors a majoritytleé whole Board of Directors shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of businEgsept in cases in which the Certificate of Iqmation or these Bylaws otherwi



provide, the vote of a majority of the directoregent at a meeting at which a quorum is presefiti@hthe act of the Board of Directors.

Section 2.7 Organization. Meetings of the Boar®wéctors shall be presided over by the ChairmathefBoard, if any, or in his or her
absence by the Vice Chairman of the Board, if @anyn his or her absence by the President, oreir tihsence by a chairman chosen at the
meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretaryeafideting, but in his or her absence the chairmhimeaneeting may appoint any person to
act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 2.8 Informal Action by Directors. Unleska@twise restricted by the Certificate of Incorpamator these Bylaws, any action required
or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the BaduDirectors, or of any committee thereof, maytdideen without a meeting if all members
of the Board of Directors or such committee, asciige may be, consent thereto in writing, and ttiggng or writings are filed with the
minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directorsuezh committee.

ARTICLE Il
COMMITTEES

Section 3.1 Committees. The Board of Directors a@signate one or more committees, each committeertsist of one or more of the
directors of the corporation. The Board of Direstoray designate one or more directors as altematebers of any committee, who may
replace any absent or disqualified member at arstinge of the committee. In the absence or disqaatibn of a member of the committee,
the member or members thereof present at any ngeatich not disqualified from voting, whether or hetor they constitute a quorum, may
unanimously appoint another member of the Boardiadctors to act at the meeting in place of anyhsalgsent or disqualified member. Any
such committee, to the extent permitted by lawtanthe extent provided in the resolution of the i8ioaf Directors, shall have and may
exercise all the powers and authority of the Badrirectors in the management of the businessadifiaits of the corporation, and may
authorize the seal of the corporation to be affitedll pages which may require it.

Section 3.2 Committee Rules. Unless the Board céddors otherwise provides, each committee desgnay the Board of Directors may
make, alter and repeal rules for the conduct diutsiness. In the absence of such rules each coeensiall conduct its business in the same
manner as the Board of Directors conducts its mssipursuant to Article Il of these Bylaws.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS

Section 4.1 Executive Officers; Election; Qualifioas; Term of Office; Resignation; Removal; Vadasc The Board of Directors shall elect
a President and Secretary, and it may, if it serdg@ines, choose a Chairman of the Board and a®l@érman of the Board from among its
members. The Board of Directors may also electasmaore Vice Presidents, one or m



Assistant Secretaries, a Treasurer, one or moristaes Treasurers, and such other officers as tdadof Directors deems necessary. Each
such officer shall hold office until the first mewg of the Board of Directors after the annual rimepbf stockholders next succeeding his or
her election, and until his or her successor istettand qualified or until his or her earlier gesition or removal. Any officer may resign at
any time upon written notice to the corporatione Board of Directors may remove any officer withagthout cause at any time, but such
removal shall be without prejudice to the contrattights of such officer, if any, with the corpticen. Any number of offices may be held by
the same person. Any vacancy occurring in any efficthe corporation by death, resignation, removaltherwise may be filled for the
unexpired portion of the term by the Board of Dices at any regular or special meeting.

Section 4.2 Powers and Duties of Executive Officéle officers of the corporation shall have suotvgrs and duties in the management of
the corporation as may be prescribed by the BoBRdrectors and, to the extent not so providedgeserally pertain to their respective
officers, subject to the control of the Board ofdaitors. The Board of Directors may require anyceff agent or employee to give security
the faithful performance of his or her duties.

ARTICLE V
STOCK

Section 5.1 Certificates. Every holder of stocklldba entitled to have a certificate signed byrothe name of the corporation by the
Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directdrany, or the President or a Vice President, lapthe Treasurer or an Assistant
Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Segraththe corporation, certifying the number oasts owned by him in the corporation. Any
of or all the signatures on the certificate mayalfacsimile. In case any officer, transfer agentegistrar who has signed or whose facsimile
signature has been placed upon a certificate ha# ceased to be such officer, transfer agemggistrar before such certificate is issued, it
may be issued by the corporation with the sameceffe if he were such officer, transfer agentgegistrar at the date of issue.

Section 5.2 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Stock Cedtés; Issuance of New Certificates. The corpanatiay issue a new certificate of stock in
the place of any certificate theretofore issuedt,glleged to have been lost, stolen or destrogad,the corporation may require the owner of
the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or hiber legal representative, to give the corporasidiond sufficient to indemnify it against any
claim that may be made against it on account oatleged loss, theft or destruction of any suchifizate or the issuance of such new
certificate.

ARTICLE VI
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 6.1 Right to Indemnification. The corpasatshall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fulegent permitted by applicable law as it
presently exists or may hereafter be amended, arspp who was or is made or is threatened to be mairty or is otherwis



involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whettigil, criminal, administrative or investigativa (proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he
or she or a person for whom he or she is the legabsentative, is or was a director or officethef corporation or is or was serving at the
request of the corporation as a director, offieenployee or agent of another corporation or ofrengaship, joint venture, trust, enterprise or
nonprofit entity, including service with respectamployee benefit plans (an "indemnitee"), agaafidiability and loss suffered and expenses
(including attorneys' fees) reasonably incurregibgh indemnitee. The corporation shall be requinaddemnify an indemnitee in connection
with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated bglsindemnitee only if the initiation of such prodewy (or part thereof) by the indemnitee was
authorized by the Board of Directors of the corgiora

Section 6.2 Prepayment of Expenses. The corporakiat pay the expenses (including attorneys' fimesirred by an indemnitee in defend
any proceeding in advance of its final dispositijpmvided, however, that the payment of expensasgiad by a director or officer in advance
of the final disposition of the proceeding shallbade only upon receipt of an undertaking by theatior or officer to repay all amounts
advanced if it should be ultimately determined thatdirector or officer is not entitled to be ina@fied under this Article or otherwise.

Section 6.3 Claims. If a claim for indemnificationpayment of expenses under this Article is nad pafull within sixty (60) days after a
written claim therefor by the indemnitee has bemgeived by the corporation, the indemnitee maysiili¢ to recover the unpaid amount of
such claim and, if successful in whole or in psinall be entitled to be paid the expenses of puisggrsuch claim. In any such action the
corporation shall have the burden of proving thatindemnitee was not entitled to the requesteenmmification or payment of expenses
under applicable law.

Section 6.4 Nonexclusivity of Rights. The rightsif@red on any person by this Article VI shall hetexclusive of any other rights which
such person may have or hereafter acquire undestatyte, provision of the Certificate of Incorpwa, these By-laws, agreement, vote of
stockholders or disinterested directors or othexwis

Section 6.5 Other Indemnification. The corporasasbligation, if any, to indemnify any person whasnor is serving at its request as a
director, officer, employee or agent of anothempeoation, partnership, joint venture, trust, entisgy or nonprofit entity shall be reduced by
any amount such person may collect as indemnifindtiom such other corporation, partnership, jegnture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit
enterprise.

Section 6.6 Amendment or Repeal. Any repeal or fizadion of the foregoing provisions of this ArcVI shall not adversely affect any ri
or protection hereunder of any person in respeangfact or omission occurring prior to the timeso€h repeal or modificatio



ARTICLE VII
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 7.1 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of thepooation shall be determined by resolution of tleaigl of Directors.

Section 7.2 Seal. The corporate seal shall haveah® of the corporation inscribed thereon and leah such form as may be approved
from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Section 7.3 Waiver of Notice of Meetings of Stocklass, Directors and Committees. Any written waigénotice, sighed by the person
entitled to notice, whether before or after theetistated therein, shall be deemed equivalent foedittendance of a person at a meeting
shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meetmgept when the person attends a meeting faextheess purpose of objecting, at the
beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of bmginess because the meeting is not lawfully dafeconvened. Neither the business to be
transacted at, nor the purpose of any regular eciapmeeting of the stockholders, directors, oners of a committee of directors need be
specified in any written waiver of notice.

Section 7.4 Interested Directors; Quorum. No camtoa transaction between the corporation and omeave of its directors or officers, or
between the corporation and any other corporagiartnership, association, or other organizatiowtiich one or more of its directors or
officers are directors or officers, or have a ficiahinterest, shall be void or voidable solely fois reason, or solely because the director or
officer is present at or participates in the magtihthe Board of Directors or committee thereofahhauthorizes the contract or transactiol
solely because his, her or their votes are couioteslich purpose, if: (1) the material facts akitoor her relationship or interest and as to the
contract or transaction are disclosed or are knimahe Board of Directors or the committee, andBbard of Directors or committee in good
faith authorizes the contract or transaction byaffiemative votes of a majority of the disinterdtdirectors, even though the disinterested
directors be less than a quorum; or (2) the matixias as to his or her relationship or interast as to the contract or transaction are
disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitbegbte thereon, and the contract or transact@pecifically approved in good faith by v
of the stockholders; or (3) the contract or tratieads fair as to the corporation as of the tinis iauthorized, approved or ratified by the
Board of Directors, a committee thereof, or thekhwlders. Common or interested directors may lbisa in determining the presence of a
guorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors oa a@bmmittee which authorizes the contract or @atien.

Section 7.5 Form of Records. Any records maintalmethe corporation in the regular course of itsibess, including its stock ledger, books
of account, and minute books, may be kept on, dn tiee form of, punch cards, magnetic tape, phatolgs, microphotographs, or any other
information storage device, provided that the rds@o kept can be converted into clearly legibienfwithin a reasonable time. The
corporation shall so convert any records so kephupe request of any person entitled to inspexstme



Section 7.6 Amendment of Bylaws. Unless otherwestricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, th@&ylaws may be altered or repealed,
and new Bylaws made by the Board of Directors,thatstockholders may make additional bylaws and altey and repeal any bylaws
whether adopted by them or otherwise.

Section 7.7 Manner of Notice. Except as otherwiseigded herein or permitted by applicable law, oesi to directors and stockholders shall
be in writing and delivered personally or mailedte directors or stockholders at their addresppsaring on the books of the corporation.
Notice to directors may be given by telegram, tebser, telephone or other means of electronic trasson.



Exhibit 3.3
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION
of
SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK
of
MARINEMAX, INC.
Pursuant to Section 151 of the General Corporataw of the State of Delaware

MarineMax;, Inc., a corporation organized and emgstinder the General Corporation Law of the Staf@etaware (the "Corporation”), in
accordance with the provisions of Section 103 thief@OES HEREBY CERTIFY:

That pursuant to the authority vested in the Badiidirectors in accordance with the provisionstaf Certificate of Incorporation of the said
Corporation, the said Board of Directors on July2®01 adopted the following resolution creatirgpdes of 50,000 shares of Preferred S
designated as "Series A Junior Participating PredeBtock":

RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority vestethenBoard of Directors of this Corporation in actanmce with the provisions of the
Certificate of Incorporation, a series of Prefergdck, par value $.001 per share, of the Corpmrdie and hereby is created, and that the
designation and number of shares thereof and ttiegvand other powers, preferences, and relatiagigipating, optional, or other rights of
the shares of such series and the qualificatioamgakions, and restrictions thereof are as follows

SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK

1. Designation and Amount. There shall be a sefi€eferred Stock that shall be designated as€'Sér Junior Participating Preferred
Stock," and the number of shares constituting secies shall be 50,000. Such number of shares maychkeased or decreased by resolution
of the Board of Directors; provided, however, thatdecrease shall reduce the number of sharegiesJeJunior Participating Preferred
Stock to less than the number of shares then issn@dutstanding plus the number of shares issuggale exercise of outstanding rights,
options, or warrants or upon conversion of outstamdecurities issued by the Corporation.

2. Dividends and Distribution.

(A) Subiject to the prior and superior rights of ttéders of any shares of any class or seriesooksif the Corporation ranking prior and
superior to the shares of Series A Junior PartiitipePreferred Stock with respect to dividends,Hbklers of shares of Series A Junior

Participating Preferred Stock, in preference tohtbielers of shares of any class or series of stbthe Corporation ranking junior to the
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stoc



respect thereof, shall be entitled to receive, whsrand if declared by the Board of Directorsajudtinds legally available for the purpose,
quarterly dividends payable in cash on the lastafaylarch, June, September, and December, in eeah(gach such date being referred to
herein as a "Quarterly Dividend Payment Date"), m@mcing on the first Quarterly Dividend PaymenteDatfter the first issuance of a share
or fraction of a share of Series A Junior PartitigaPreferred Stock, in an amount per share (redrid the nearest cent) equal to the greater
of (a) $1.00 or (b) the Adjustment Number (as dedibbelow) times the aggregate per share amoutitcdsh dividends, and the Adjustment
Number times the aggregate per share amount (mayakind) of all no-cash dividends or other distributions other thalivedend payable

in shares of Common Stock or a subdivision of thistanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassificair otherwise), declared on the
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, of the&@ation (the "Common Stock") since the immediatglceding Quarterly Dividend
Payment Date, or, with respect to the first QuirtBividend Payment Date, since the first issuaoicany share or fraction of a share of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. Thdjustment Number" shall initially be 1,000. Iretievent the Corporation shall at any time
after August 28, 2001 (i) declare and pay any @raion Common Stock payable in shares of CommarkStio) subdivide the outstanding
Common Stock, or (iii) combine the outstanding Cammstock into a smaller number of shares, thermahesuch case the Adjustment
Number in effect immediately prior to such everdlshe adjusted by multiplying such Adjustment Nwnby a fraction the numerator

which is the number of shares of Common Stock antihg immediately after such event and the denatoirof which is the number of
shares of Common Stock that were outstanding imatelgli prior to such event.

(B) The Corporation shall declare a dividend otriisition on the Series A Junior Participating Bredd Stock as provided in paragraph (a)
above immediately after it declares a dividendistridhution on the Common Stock (other than a divid payable in shares of Common
Stock).

(C) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumaatin outstanding shares of Series A Junior Ppdiitig Preferred Stock from the
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next precedingddue of issue of such shares of Series A JunidiciReating Preferred Stock, unless the
date of issue of such shares is prior to the redatd for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Datewhich case dividends on such shares
shall begin to accrue from the date of issue oh&lares, or unless the date of issue is a QuaRardend Payment Date or is a date aftel
record date for the determination of holders ofeb@f Series A Junior Participating Preferred Sttitled to receive a quarterly dividend
and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Dateijthrer of which events such dividends shall beégiaccrue and be cumulative from such
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date. Accrued but ungiiiiends shall not bear interest. Dividends paidhe shares of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock in an amount lesa tha total amount of such dividends at the timn@wed and payable on such shares shall be
allocated pro rata on a share-by-share basis aalbagch shares at the time outstanding. The BogRirectors may fix a record date for the
determination of holders of shares of Series AduRarticipating Preferred Stock entitled to reegiayment of a dividend or distribution
declared thereon, which record date shall be nert@n 60 days prior to the date fixed for the payhthereof.
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3. Voting Rights. The holders of shares of SeriekiAior Participating Preferred Stock shall haweftilowing voting rights:

(A) Each share of Series A Junior Participating@red Stock shall entitle the holder thereof muanber of votes equal to the Adjustment
Number on all matters submitted to a vote of tleeldtolders of the Corporatio

(B) Except as required by law, by Section 3(C) Bpdbection 10 hereof, holders of Series A Junioti€pating Preferred Stock shall have
special voting rights and their consent shall rotdxjuired (except to the extent they are entittegbte with holders of Common Stock as set
forth herein) for taking any corporate action.

(C) If, at the time of any annual meeting of staalklers for the election of directors, the equivalgisix quarterly dividends (whether or not
consecutive) payable on any share or shares afSarjdunior Participating Preferred Stock are ifadk, the number of directors constituting
the Board of Directors of the Corporation shalit&eased by two. In addition to voting togethethwhe holders of Common Stock for the
election of other directors of the Corporation, timéders of record of the Series A Junior PartitigaPreferred Stock, voting separately as a
class to the exclusion of the holders of Commorti§tshall be entitled at said meeting of stockhadand at each subsequent annual me

of stockholders), unless all dividends in arrearsh® Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stueke been paid or declared and set apa
payment prior thereto, to vote for the electiorved directors of the Corporation, the holders of &eries A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock being entitled to cast a number of votesspare of Series A Junior Participating PreferrextiSas is specified in paragraph (a) of this
Section

3. Each such additional director shall not be a bwmof Class I, Class Il, or Class Il of the BoafdDirectors of the Corporation, but shall
serve until the next annual meeting of stockhold@rshe election of directors, or until his sucamsshall be elected and shall qualify, or until
his right to hold such office terminates pursuarthie provisions of this Section 3(C). Until thdaidt in payments of all dividends which
permitted the election of said directors shall egasexist, any director who shall have been satetepursuant to the provisions of this
Section 3(C) may be removed at any time, withouseaonly by the affirmative vote of the holdergted shares of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock at the time entittedast a majority of the votes entitled to be éaisthe election of any such director at a
special meeting of such holders called for thappse, and any vacancy thereby created may be fijfate vote of such holders. If and when
such default shall cease to exist, the holdere@Beries A Junior Participating Preferred Stoclldie divested of the foregoing special
voting rights, subject to revesting in the evenéath and every subsequent like default in paynardividends. Upon the termination of the
foregoing special voting rights, the terms of ddfiaf all persons who may have been elected diregiarsuant to said special voting rights
shall forthwith terminate, and the number of dioestconstituting the Board of Directors shall béueed by two. The voting rights granted by
this Section 3(C) shall be in addition to any otheting rights granted to the holders of the Sefiekinior Participating Preferred Stock in 1
Section 3.



4. Certain Restrictions.

(A) Whenever quarterly dividends or other divideodslistributions payable on the Series A Juniati€ipating Preferred Stock as provided
in

Section 2 are in arrears, thereafter and untd@drued and unpaid dividends and distributions thdreor not declared, on shares of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock outstandirgldtave been paid in full, the Corporation shali:n

(i) declare or pay dividends on, make any othetriligtions on, or redeem or purchase or otherwésgiiae for consideration any shares of
stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or mifiquidation, dissolution or winding up) to theri®s A Junior Participating Preferred Stock;

(i) declare or pay dividends on or make any ottistributions on any shares of stock ranking orudty (either as to dividends or upon
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up) with the$es A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, excypdends paid ratably on the Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock and all suatity stock on which dividends are payable or irears in proportion to the total amounts to
which the holders of all such shares are thenledtior

(iii) purchase or otherwise acquire for consideratiny shares of Series A Junior Participatingd?redl Stock, or any shares of stock ranking
on a parity with the Series A Junior Participatifrgferred Stock, except in accordance with a pgecloffer made in writing or by publication
(as determined by the Board of Directors) to altkecs of Series A Junior Participating Preferreakc®} or to such holders and holders of any
such shares ranking on a parity therewith, upoh selens as the Board of Directors, after considtamaif the respective annual dividend re
and other relative rights and preferences of tepeetive series and classes, shall determine id gt will result in fair and equitable
treatment among the respective series or classes.

(B) The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiafyhe Corporation to purchase or otherwise aegfar consideration any shares of stock
of the Corporation unless the Corporation couldiasrparagraph (a) of this Section 4, purchaseh®ratise acquire such shares at such time
and in such manner.

5. Reacquired Shares. Any shares of Series A JBaidicipating Preferred Stock purchased or otheaicquired by the Corporation in any
manner whatsoever shall be retired promptly afteracquisition thereof. All such shares shall uihair retirement become authorized but
unissued shares of Preferred Stock and may beiegiss part of a new series of Preferred Stock tréated by resolution or resolutions of
the Board of Directors, subject to any conditiond eestrictions on issuance set forth herein.

6. Liquidation, Dissolution, or Winding Up. (A) Upany liguidation, dissolution, or winding up o&t&orporation, voluntary or otherwise,
no distribution shall be made to the holders ofeb@f stock ranking junior (either as to dividedsipon liquidation, dissolution, or winding
up) to the Series A Junior Participating Prefei$éack unless, prior thereto, the holders of shaf&eries A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock shall have received an amount



per share (the "Series A Liquidation Preferencgiat to the greater of (i) $1.00 plus an amoungétpuaccrued and unpaid dividends and
distributions thereon, whether or not declaredh&date of such payment, or (ii) the Adjustmentier times the per share amount of all
cash and other property to be distributed in retspethe Common Stock upon such liquidation, diggoh, or winding up of the Corporation.

(B) In the event, however, that there are not sigffit assets available to permit payment in fubhef Series A Liquidation Preference and the
liquidation preferences of all other classes amiggs®f stock of the Corporation, if any, that ramka parity with the Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock in respect therdadfntthe assets available for such distributionl &leatlistributed ratably to the holders of the
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock dmedhiolders of such parity shares in proportiorh@rtrespective liquidation preferences.

(C) Neither the merger or consolidation of the @ogpion into or with another corporation nor therges or consolidation of any other
corporation into or with the Corporation shall eethed to be a liquidation, dissolution, or windipmof the Corporation within the meaning
of this Section 6.

7. Consolidation, Merger, Etc. In case the Corponashall enter into any consolidation, merger, boration, or other transaction in which
outstanding shares of Common Stock are exchangexd fthanged into other stock or securities, casticx any other property, then in any
such case each share of Series A Junior PartiegpRiieferred Stock shall at the same time be gilpigxchanged or changed in an amount
per share equal to the Adjustment Number timesfjggegate amount of stock, securities, cash, aadipother property (payable in kind),
the case may be, into which or for which each sb&feommon Stock is changed or exchanged.

8. No Redemption. Shares of Series A Junior Pp#titig Preferred Stock shall not be subject tomgation by the Corporation.

9. Ranking. The Series A Junior Participating Rref Stock shall rank junior to all other serieshsf Preferred Stock as to the payment of
dividends and as to the distribution of assets ujgmidation, dissolution, or winding up, unlesg tflerms of any such series shall provide
otherwise, and shall rank senior to the CommonkSasdo such matters.

10. Amendment. At any time that any shares of Sekidunior Participating Preferred Stock are outitag, the Certificate of Incorporation

of the Corporation shall not be amended in any raanich would materially alter or change the paw@references, or special rights of the
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock stoafect them adversely without the affirmativater of the holders of two-thirds of the
outstanding shares of Series A Junior Participafreferred Stock, voting separately as a class.

11. Fractional Shares. Series A Junior Particigafireferred Stock may be issued in fractions dfaaesthat shall entitle the holder, in
proportion to such holder's fractional sharesx&rese voting rights, receive dividends, partitépia distributions, and to have the benefit of
all other rights of holders of Series A Junior R#pating Preferred Stock.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executsdQhrtificate this 6th day of September, 2001.
MARINEMAX, INC.

By: /s/ WlliamH MGII, Jr.

Name: WlliamH MGII, Jr.
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chi ef
Executive Oficer
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Exhibit 4.1
056281 071201
NUMBER SHARES

INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF C OMMON STOCK
THE STATE OF DELAWARE

[MARINE MAX LOGO]

THIS CERTIFICATE IS TRANSFERABLE IN CuU SIP 567908 10 8
NEW YORK, NY SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

MARINEMAX, INC.
THIS CERTIFIES THAT
IS THE OWNER OF

fully paid and non-assessable Shares of the paey&l001 per share of the
COMMON STOCK of

MarineMax, Inc. (hereinafter called the "Corporatiptransferable on the books of the Corporatiorsdéigl holder in person or by duly
authorized attorney upon surrender of this ceatéqroperly endorsed. This certificate and theesheepresented hereby are issued and shall
be held subject to all the provisions of the Cidiie of Incorporation and all Amendments theretgpies of which are on file at the office of
the Transfer Agent, and the holder hereof, by aecee of this certificate, consents to and agred® tbound by all of said provisions. This
certificate is not valid until countersigned by finsfer Agent and registered by the Registrar.

In Witness Whereof, the Corporation has causedcthisficate to be signed by the facsimile signesunf its duly authorized officers.
DATED

COUNTERSIGNED AND REGISTERED:
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY

(NEW YORK, NY)

TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

BY

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE
[illegible signature] [illegible signature]

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD,

SECRETARY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRESIDENT



THE CORPORATION WILL FURNISH WITHOUT CHARGE TO EACISTOCKHOLDER WHO SO REQUESTS THE POWERS,
DESIGNATIONS, PREFERENCES, AND RELATIVE, PARTICIPANG, OPTIONAL OR OTHER SPECIAL RIGHTS OF EACH CLASS
OF STOCK OR SERIES THEREOF OF THE CORPORATION ANBETQUALIFICATIONS, LIMITATIONS OR RESTRICTIONS OF
SUCH PREFERENCES AND/OR RIGHTS. SUCH REQUEST MAY BRRDE TO THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION OR TO
THE TRANSFER AGENT.

The following abbreviations, when used in the ii@n on the face of this certificate, shall bexstued as though they were written out in
full according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -- as tenants in common

TEN ENT -- as tenants by the entireties

JT TEN -- as joint tenants with right of survivoigland not as tenants in common
UNIF GIFT MIN ACT -- Custodian

(Cust) (Minor)

under Uniform Gifts to Minors Act

(State)
Additional abbreviations may also be used thougtimthe above list.

For value received, herebyasdign and transfer unto

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

[]

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUBG ZIP CODE, OF ASSIGNEE)

sha

of the capital stock represented by the within ieate and do hereby irrevocably constitute anplcapt

Attorne

to transfer the said stock on the books of theiwittamed Corporation with full power of substitutim the premises.
Dated

X

NOTICE: THE SIGNATURE TO THIS ASSIGNMENT MUST CORRE SPOND WITH THE NAME AS
WRITTEN UPON THE FACE OF THE CERTIFICATE IN EVERY P ARTICULAR,
WITHOUT ALTERATION OR ENLARGEMENT OR ANY CHANGE WHA TEVER.

THIS CERTIFICATE ALSO EVIDENCES AND ENTITLES THE HODER HEREOF TO CERTAIN RIGHTS AS SET FORTH IN A
RIGHTS AGREEMENT BETWEEN MARINEMAX, INC. (THE "COMRNY") AND AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST
COMPANY, AS RIGHTS AGENT, DATED AS OF AUGUST 28, 20 AND AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME (THE "RIGHTS
AGREEMENT"). THE TERMS OF WHICH ARE HEREBY INCORP@HRED HEREIN BY REFERENCE AND A COPY OF WHICH IS
ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES OF THE@MPANY. UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES, AS SET FORTH
IN THE RIGHTS AGREEMENT, SUCH RIGHTS WILL BE EVIDEGED BY SEPARATE CERTIFICATES AND WILL NO LONGER
BE EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE. THE COMPANY WILIMAIL TO THE HOLDER OF THIS CERTIFICATE A COPY OF TE
RIGHTS AGREEMENT WITHOUT CHARGE AFTER RECEIPT OFWRITTEN REQUEST THEREFOR. UNDER CERTAIN
CIRCUMSTANCES, AS SET FORTH IN THE RIGHTS AGREEMENRIGHTS OWNED BY OR TRANSFERRED TO ANY PERSON
WHO IS OR BECOMES AN ACQUIRING PERSON (AS DEFINEN THE RIGHTS AGREEMENT) AND CERTAIN TRANSFEREES
THEREOF WILL BECOME NULL AND VOID AND WILL NO LONGER BE TRANSFERABLE.



Exhibit 10.4

MARINEMAX, INC. 1998 INCENTIVE STOCK PLAN
(AS AMENDED THROUGH NOVEMBER 15, 2000)

1. PURPOSE. The purpose of this 1998 IncentivekS®ban (the "Plan”) is to attract, retain and maté&/employees, directors and
independent contractors by providing them withdpportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in RINEMAX, INC. (the "Company") and
to link their interests and efforts to the longatenterests of the Company's stockholders.

2. PLAN ADMINISTRATION

2.1 IN GENERAL. The Plan shall be administered iy Company's Board of Directors (the "Board"). ptder the power to amend the P
as provided in Section 12, the Board, in its siderétion, may delegate its authority and dutiedenrthe Plan to a committee appointed by
Board, under such conditions and limitations asBtbard may from time to time establish. The Board/ar any committee that has been
delegated the authority to administer the Planl &leateferred to as the "Plan Administrator”. Excapotherwise explicitly set forth in the
Plan, the Plan Administrator shall have the autipim its discretion, to determine all mattersatilg to awards under the Plan, including the
selection of the individuals to be granted awatius type of awards, the number of shares of thegamyls common stock ("Common Stoc
subject to an award, vesting conditions, and amlyadinother terms, conditions, restrictions andtiétions, if any, of an award. All decisions
made by the Plan Administrator pursuant to the Blahrelated orders and resolutions shall be &ndlconclusive.

2.2 RULE 16b-3 AND CODE SECTION 162(m). Notwithstiémg any provision of this Plan to the contrarylyahe Board or a committee
composed of two or more "Non-Employee Directorsymmake determinations regarding grants of awaradficers, directors and 10%
stockholders of the Company. (The term "Non-EmpéoRérectors” shall have the meaning set forth ileRibb-3 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (t884'Act")). The Plan Administrator shall have thehmrity and discretion to determine
the extent to which awards will conform to the riegonents of Section

162(m) Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amentied'@ode"), and to take such action, establish puobedures, and impose such
restrictions as the Plan Administrator determirmelse necessary or appropriate to conform to suphinements.

2.3 OTHER PLANS. The Plan Administrator shall dtewe authority to grant awards as an alternativa ts the form of payment for grants
or rights earned or due under other compensatamspdr arrangements of the Company, including ke @f any entity acquired by the
Company.

3. ELIGIBILITY. Any employee of the Company shat keligible to receive any award under the Plane®ars who are not employees,
proposed directors, proposed employees and indepéndntractors shall be eligible to receive awattier than Incentive Stock Options (as
defined in Section 5.2). For purposes of this $ec8, the "Company," with respect to all awardsairtie Plan other than Incentive Stock
Options, includes any entity that is directly adimectly controlled by the Company or any entitynhich the Company has a significant
equity interest, as determined by the Plan Adnmatst. With respect to Incentive Stock Options, t@empany" includes any parent or
subsidiary of the Company as defined in Sectionefatie Code.

4. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

4.1 NUMBER AND SOURCE. The shares offered undeRtzn shall be shares of Common Stock and may issued shares or shares now
held or subsequently acquired by the Company asurg shares, as the Plan Administrator may frome tio time determine. Subject to
adjustment as provided in Section 4.3, the aggeegamber of shares that may be issued under thesR&l not exceed the lesser of
4,000,000 shares or 20% of the then outstandingeshprovided, however that awards shall not batgthunder the Plan if, at the time of
such grant, the aggregate number of shares of $tatkave been or may be issued under previouahted awards or options under the F
equal or exceed 20% of the total number of outstanshares at such time. T



aggregate number of shares that may be coveredidnga granted to any one individual in any yealfl stta exceed 50% of the total number
of shares that may be issued under the Plan.

4.2 SHARES AVAILABLE. Any shares subject to an adigranted under the Plan that is forfeited, terteidar canceled, or any shares that
do not vest, shall again be available for the gngnmdf awards under the Plan. If a stock appremmatight is settled in cash, the shares covered
by such award shall remain available for the grantf other awards. The payment of cash dividendsdividend equivalents paid in cash in
conjunction with outstanding awards shall not bented against the shares available for issuance.

4.3 ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES AVAILABLE. The aggregatember and type of shares available for awards uth@elPlan, the maximum
number and type of shares that may be subject &odsno any individual under the Plan, the numipertgpe of shares covered by each
outstanding award, and the exercise price per ghatenot the total price) for stock options, stagpreciation rights or similar awards
outstanding under the Plan shall all be proportielgeadjusted for any increase or decrease in tineber of issued shares of Common Stock
resulting from any split-up, combination or excharg shares, consolidation, spin-off or recapitglon of shares or any like capital
adjustment or the payment of any stock dividend.

4.4 TRANSFER OF CONTROL. In the event of a Transfie€ontrol, the surviving, continuing, successoporchasing corporation or pare
corporation thereof, as the case may be (the "AcguCorporation) shall either assume the Comgarights and obligations under
outstanding awards or substitute for outstandingrda/substantially equivalent awards for the AdggicCorporation's stock. In the event the
Acquiring Corporation elects not to assume or stuistfor such outstanding awards in connectiomthie Transfer of Control, the Board
may, in its discretion, provide that any unexetgisand/or unvested portion of the outstanding de/ahall be immediately exercisable and
vested in full on or before the date of the TransfeControl. The exercise and/or vesting of anyaaithat was permissible solely by reasc
this

Section 4.4 shall be conditioned upon the consumomatf the Transfer of Control. Any awards that aeither assumed or substituted for by
the Acquiring Corporation in connection with theaiisfer of Control nor exercised on or before the d&the Transfer of Control shall
terminate and cease to be outstanding effectivé tiee date of the Transfer of Control. Unless otlige determined by the Board, a "Tran:
of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred inethent of any of the following: (a) the direct adirect sale or exchange by the stockhol
of the Company of all or substantially all of theck of the Company if the stockholders of the Campbefore such sale or exchange do not
retain, directly or indirectly, at least a majordf/the beneficial interest in the voting stockleé Company after such sale or exchange; (b) a
merger or consolidation if the stockholders of @@mmpany before such merger or consolidation daetatn, directly or indirectly, at least a
majority of the beneficial interest in the votingek of the Company after such merger or consabdategardless of whether the Compan
the surviving corporation); (c) the sale, exchaog&ansfer of all or substantially all of the assef the Company; or (d) a liquidation or
dissolution of the Company.

5. AWARDS

5.1 TYPES OF AWARDS. Subject to the Plan, the Fddministrator shall have the authority, in its sdiscretion, to determine the type or
types of awards to be granted to employees, direetod independent contractors under the Plan. 8nahds may include, but are not limi
to, Incentive Stock Options, Nonqualified Stock iOps$ (as defined in Section 5.2), stock appreaiatights or restricted stock awards. Such
awards may be granted either alone, in additiar ia tandem with any other type of award grantedar the Plan.

5.2 STOCK OPTIONS. The Plan Administrator may gigtntk options, designated as "Incentive Stockd@dgtl' which comply with the
provisions of

Section 422 of the Code or any successor statptonision, or "Nonqualified Stock Options." Thegwifor which shares may be purchased
upon exercise of a particular option shall be aeteed by the Plan Administrator; however, the eiserprice of an Incentive Stock Option
shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market ¥alfisuch shares on the date such option is grdbi€¥s if options are intended to be
Incentive Stock Options and are granted to a stlden who at the time the option is granted ownss aleemed to own stock possessing r
than 10% of the total combined voting power ofcédisses of stock of the Company or of any paresubsidiary of the Company). For
purposes of the Plan, "Fair Marl



Value" as to a particular day equals the per stlasing price for the Common Stock as reportedtierprior trading day in the Wall Street
Journal or in such other source as the Plan Adinénes deems reliable. The Plan Administrator sketlthe term of each stock option, but no
Incentive Stock Option shall be exercisable moaesthO years after the date such option is gramtddta the extent the aggregate Fair Ma
Value (determined as of the date the option istgddrof Common Stock with respect to which IncemtBtock Options granted to a particular
individual become exercisable for the first timeidg any calendar year (under the Plan and allrattoek option plans of the Company)
exceeds $100,000 (or such corresponding amounagdbmset by the Code) such options shall be desedNonqualified Stock Options. An
optionholder and the Plan Administrator can agtesng time to convert an Incentive Stock Optiomtdonqualified Stock Option.

5.3 STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS. The Plan Administmiatay grant stock appreciation rights, eitherimdem with a stock option
granted under the Plan or with respect to a nurabshares for which an option is not granted. Aktappreciation right shall entitle the
holder to receive, with respect to each shareawksas to which the right is exercised, paymermnrmamount equal to the excess of the share's
Fair Market Value on the date the right is exetigeer its Fair Market Value on the date the righs granted. Such payment may be ma
cash or in shares of Common Stock valued at Faikéid/alue as of the date of the surrender, olypartcash and partly in shares of
Common Stock, as determined by the Plan Admintstiatits sole discretion. The Plan Administrataaynestablish a maximum appreciation
value payable for stock appreciation rights.

5.4 RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS. The Plan Administratoay grant restricted stock awards under the PI&@oimmon Stock or
denominated in units of Common Stock. The Plan Adfsiviator, in its discretion, may make such awatdgect to conditions and restrictio
as set forth in the instrument evidencing the ayatdch may be based on continuous service wittCihiapany or the attainment of certain
performance goals related to profits, profit growttofit-related return ratios, cash flow or shareholdarrnst, where such goals may be st
in absolute terms or relative to comparison comgmor indices to be achieved during a period oétilthe Plan Administrator may choose
the time of granting an award or at any time thigeeap to the time of payment of the award, tdude as part of such award an entitlement
to receive dividends or dividend equivalents, scitfje such terms as the Plan Administrator maybdista All dividends or dividend
equivalents that are not paid currently may, inRken Administrator's sole discretion, accrue iegéand be paid to the participant if, when
and to the extent such award is paid.

5.5 PAYMENT; DEFERRAL. Awards granted under therPtaay be settled through cash payments, the dglafe€ommon Stock (valued
Fair Market Value) or the granting of awards or bamations thereof as the Plan Administrator shetedmine. Any award settlement,
including payment deferrals, may be subject to sumiditions, restrictions and contingencies adflam Administrator shall determine. The
Plan Administrator may permit or require the dedbof any award payment, subject to such rulespaindedures as it may establish, which
may include provisions for the payment or creditirignterest, or dividend equivalents, includingieerting such credits to deferred stock
equivalents.

5.6 INDIVIDUAL AWARD AGREEMENTS. Stock Options shHadnd other awards may be evidenced by agreemetts&bn the Company
and the recipient in such form and content as the Rdministrator from time to time approves, whadreements shall substantially comply
with and be subject to the terms of the Plan. Sadividual agreements may contain such provisiansoaditions as the Plan Administrator
deems necessary or appropriate to effectuate tise sd purpose of the Plan and may be amendedifrento time in accordance with the
terms thereof.

6. AWARD EXERCISE

6.1 PRECONDITION TO STOCK ISSUANCE. No shares shalldelivered pursuant to the exercise of any stption or stock appreciation
right, in whole or in part, until qualified for deéry under such securities laws and regulationmnag be deemed by the Plan Administrator to
be applicable thereto and until, in the case oftkercise of an option, payment in full of the optprice thereof (in cash or stock as provided
in Section 6.3) is received by the Company. No éotif an option or stock appreciation right, or tagal representative, legatee



distributee shall be or be deemed to be a holdangfshares subject to such option or right urd@skuntil such shares are issued.

6.2 NO FRACTIONAL SHARES. No stock option may aydime be exercised with respect to a fractionakrehNo fractional share shall be
issued with respect to a stock appreciation rigbtyever, a fractional stock appreciation right rbayexercised for cash.

6.3 FORM OF PAYMENT. An optionee may exercise a&ktoption using as the form of payment (a) castash equivalent, (b) stock-for-
stock payment (as described below), (c) any contioinaf the above, or (d) such other means as ldoe Rdministrator may approve. Any
optionee who owns Common Stock may use such sharagorm of payment to exercise stock optionstgrchander the Plan. The Plan
Administrator, in its discretion, may restrict @scind this right by notice to optionees. A stopkian may be exercised in such manner only
by tendering (actually or by attestation) to then@any whole shares of Common Stock having a Faik&ta/alue equal to or less than the
exercise price. If an option is exercised by sutezrof shares having a Fair Market Value less tharexercise price, the optionholder must
pay the difference in cash.

7. AUTOMATIC GRANT PROGRAM

7.1 AMOUNT AND DATE OF GRANT. During the term oféhPlan, the Company shall make automatic grantgtidns ("Automatic
Options") in the form of Nonqualified Stock Optiottseach Board member (“Eligible Director") (or posed Board member pursuant to
Section 7.1.3) who is not employed by the Compamgther or not such person is a Non-Employee Direas referred to in

Section 2.2 as follows:

7.1.1 ANNUAL GRANTS. Each year on the Annual GrBatte, an Automatic Option to acquire 2,500 shaf€3ommon Stock shall be
granted to each Eligible Director for so long aarsls of Common Stock are available under

Section 4.1 hereof. The "Annual Grant Date" shalthe date of the Company's annual stockholdersimyeommencing as of the first ann
meeting occurring after the date (the "Effectivaddthe Plan is approved by the stockholders ef@ompany. Any Eligible Director that
was granted an Automatic Option under

Section 7.1.2 or Section 7.1.3 within 90 days oAanual Grant Date shall be ineligible to receimefaitomatic Option pursuant to this
Section 7.1.1 on such Annual Grant Date.

7.1.2 INITIAL NEW DIRECTOR GRANTS. On the Initial @nt Date, every new member of the Board, who iElagible Director and has
not previously received an Automatic Option undhés Section 7.1.2 shall be granted an Automatidddpb acquire 5,000 shares of
Common Stock for so long as shares of Common Sicelavailable under Section 4.1 hereof. The "In@Gieant Date" shall be the date tha
Eligible Director is first appointed or electedth® Board. Any Eligible Director who previously e#eed an Automatic Option pursuant to
Section 7.1.3 shall be ineligible to receive anckodtic Option pursuant to this Section 7.1.2.

7.1.3 INITIAL PROPOSED DIRECTOR GRANTS. On the d#tat shares of Common Stock first become regidteneler Section 12 of the
1934 Act, the Company shall grant an Automatic @pto acquire 10,000 shares of Common Stock to rankemployee whose election to
the Board is proposed as of such date.

7.2 EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price per shatomimon Stock subject to each Automatic Option g@wminder Section 7.1.1 or
Section 7.1.2 shall be equal to 100 percent oftieMarket Value per share of the Common Stockherdate such Automatic Option was
granted as determined in accordance with the vialugtovisions of Section 5.2 hereof granted. Tkerese price per share of Common
Stock subject to each Automatic Option granted udetion 7.1.3 shall be equal to the initial paldifering price per share of Common
Stock.

7.3 VESTING. Each Automatic Option granted pursuar$ection 7.1.1 shall vest and become exercisgblaonths after the date of grant.
Each Automatic Option granted pursuant to Sectidr2/hall vest and become exercisable in a sefidtgee equal and successive
installments with the first installment vested be tlate of grant and the next two installments daths and 24 months after the date of gi
Each Automatic Option granted pursuant to Secti@r8/shall vest and become exercisable in a sefigsee equal and success



installments with the first installment vested be tlate of the recipient's election to the Boamithe next two installments 12 months and 24
months after the date of grant. Each Automatic @pshall vest and become exercisable only if th®opolder has not ceased serving as a
Board member as of such vesting date.

7.4 TERM OF AUTOMATIC OPTIONS. Each Automatic Optishall expire on the tenth anniversary (the "Exgpin Date") of the date on
which such Automatic Option was granted. Excepdetermined by the Plan Administrator, should agiBle Director's service as a Board
member cease prior to the Expiration Date for aason while an Automatic Option remains outstandimgj unexercised, the Automatic
Option term shall immediately be modified and the@matic Option shall terminate and cease to bstamdling in accordance with the
following provisions:

7.4.1 The Automatic Option shall immediately teratmand cease to be outstanding with respect telzamgs that were not vested at the time
of the optionholder's cessation of Board serviceyioled, however, that a proposed director whoivesea grant pursuant to Section 7.1.3
shall not be treated as ceasing to serve as a Boamtber for purposes of this Section 7 prior tdhsndividual's election to the Board.

7.4.2 Should an optionholder cease, for any reatioer than death, to serve as a member of the Bthaad the optionholder shall have 90
days measured from the date of such cessationafiBervice in which to exercise his or her Autoam@ptions that vested prior to the time
of such cessation of Board service. In no evenygwer, may any Automatic Option be exercised afterExpiration Date of such Automatic
Option.

7.4.3 Should an optionholder die while serving &oard member or within 90 days after cessatioBazrd service, then the personal
representative of the optionholder's estate (op#eon or persons to whom the Automatic Optidraissferred pursuant to the optionholder's
will or in accordance with the laws of the descamd distribution) shall have a 90-day period meadiirom the date of the optionholder's
cessation of Board service in which to exerciseAbhmmatic Options that vested prior to the timesofh cessation of Board service. In no
event, however, may any Automatic Option be exettifter the Expiration Date of such Automatic Opti

7.5 OTHER TERMS. Except as expressly provided etfser in this
Section 7, an Automatic Option shall be subjecltof the terms and conditions of the Plan. EligiDirectors shall be entitled to receive
other awards under the Plan or other plans of ttragany in accordance with the terms and conditibeseof.

8. TRANSFERABILITY. Any Incentive Stock Option greed under the Plan shall, during the recipierfigiine, be exercisable only by such
recipient, and shall not be assignable or tranbferay such recipient other than by will or the $a@f descent and distribution. Except as
specifically allowed by the Plan Administrator, asther award under the Plan and any of the rightispaiivileges conferred thereby shall not
be assignable or transferable by the recipientrdti@a by will or the laws of descent and distribatand such award shall be exercisable
during the recipient's lifetime only by the reciptie

9. WITHHOLDING TAXES; OTHER DEDUCTIONS. The Compasfall have the right to deduct from any settlensdéran award granted
under the Plan, including the delivery or vestifigltares, (a) an amount sufficient to cover witkdived as required by law for any federal,
state or local taxes, and (b) any amounts due fhamecipient of such award to the Company or togarent or subsidiary of the Compan)
to take such other action as may be necessaryisfysany such withholding or other obligations¢luding withholding from any other cash
amounts due or to become due from the Companydio eipient an amount equal to such taxes or atitigs.

10. TERMINATION OF SERVICES. The terms and condiSainder which an award may be exercised followagngnination of a recipient's
employment, directorship or independent contracttationship with the Company shall be determingdhle Plan Administrator; provided,
however, that Incentive Stock Options shall noekercisable at any time after the earliest of te ¢hat is (a) three months after termination
of employment, unless due to death or Disabiliydefined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code); (b) pear after termination of employment «

to Disability; or (c) ten years after the date cdrg.



11. TERM OF THE PLAN. The Plan shall become effextis of the date of adoption by the Board, andl s#raain in full force and effect
through the date that is ten years thereaftersardeoner terminated by the Board. After the PFdd@arminated, no future awards may be

granted, but awards previously granted shall remaatatanding in accordance with their applicabteneand conditions and the Plan's terms
and conditions.

12. PLAN AMENDMENT. The Board may amend, suspentkominate the Plan at any time; provided thatuchsamendment shall be made
without the approval of the Company's stockholdajshat would increase the number of shares @laifar issuance under the Plan (other
than in accordance with Section 4), or (b) if sapproval is required (i) to comply with Section 4#¥Zhe Code with respect to Incentive
Stock Options, or (i) for purposes of Section 1626f the Code.

13. PLAN NOT EXCLUSIVE. This Plan is not intendexllie the exclusive means by which the Company s®yei awards to acquire its
Common Stock.

14. BIFURCATION OF THE PLAN. Notwithstanding anygwision of this Plan to the contrary, the Boarditénsole discretion, may bifurce
the Plan so as to restrict, limit or condition thee of any provision of the Plan to participant®wlbe officers or directors subject to Section
16 of the 1934 Act without so restricting, limitimg conditioning the Plan with respect to othettipgrants.



LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

EXHIBIT 21

MARINEMAX, INC.

(AS OF DECEMBER 20, 2001)

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

11502 Dumas, Inc.

Bassett Boat Company

Bassett Realty, L.L.C.

C & N Marine Realty, L.L.C.
Dumas GP, Inc.

Dumas GP, L.L.C. (1)

Gulfwind South Realty, L.L.C.
Harrison's Realty California, L.L.C.
Harrison's Realty, L.L.C.

Marina Drive Realty I, L.L.C.
Marina Drive Realty Il, L.L.C.
MarineMax MidAtlantic, LP (2)
MarineMax Motor Yachts, LLC (3)
MarineMax New Jersey GP, Inc. (4)
MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. (4)
MarineMax of Arizona, Inc.
MarineMax of California, Inc.
MarineMax of Central Florida, LLC (3)
MarineMax of Georgia, Inc.
MarineMax of Las Vegas, Inc.
MarineMax of Minnesota, Inc.

MarineMax of New Jersey Holdings, Inc.

MarineMax of North Carolina, Inc.
MarineMax of Ohio, Inc.
MarineMax of Sarasota, LLC (3)

STATE OF INCORPORATION
OR ORGANIZATION
Nevada
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Arizona
California
Delaware
Georgia
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
North Carolina
Delaware
Delaware



STATE OF INCORPORATION

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY OR ORGANIZATION
MarineMax of Southeast Florida, LLC (3) Delaware
MarineMax of Southwest Florida, LLC (3) Delaware
MarineMax of Utah, Inc. Delaware
MarineMax Services, Inc. (5) Delaware
MarineMax TX, L.P. (6) Texas
MarineMax U.S.A,, Inc. Nevada
MMX GP, LLC (7) Delaware
MMX Holdings, LLC (8) Delaware
MMX Interests, LLC (9) Delaware
MMX Member, Inc. (10) Delaware
MMX Partners, Inc. Delaware
MMX Ventures, LP (11) Delaware
Newcoast Financial Services, Inc. Delaware
Walker Marina Realty, L.L.C. Delaware

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of 11502 Dumas, Inc.

(2) 99% owned by MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. astéichpartner and 1% owned by MarineMax New JersByIGc., as general partner.
(3) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Holdings, LLC.

(4) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax of New ey Holdings, Inc.

(5) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Partners, Inc.

(6) 99% owned by 11502 Dumas, Inc. as limited maremd 1% owned by Dumas GP, L.L.C. as generah@art
(7) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. and 1% ownedviifX Member, Inc.

(8) 99% owned by MMX Interests, LLC and 1% ownedWwyX GP, LLC.

(9) 99% owned by MMX Ventures, LP and 1% owned bYIXIGP, LLC.

(10) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Partners, Inc.

(11) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. as limitedtpar and 1% owned by MMX GP, LLC as general partner
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

As independent certified public accountawes hereby consent to the incorporation of our rejpetuded in this Form 10-K, into the
Company’s previously filed Registration Statemeite Ros. 333-30094, 333-63307 and 333-85835.

/s/ Arthur Anersen LLP

Tampa, Florida
December 19, 2001
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